## ENVIRONMENTAL TOXICITY OF COMPLEX CHEMICAL MIXTURES

A Dissertation

by

### ANNIKA MARGARET GILLESPIE

Submitted to the Office of Graduate Studies of Texas A&M University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

## DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

May 2006

Major Subject: Toxicology

### ENVIRONMENTAL TOXICITY OF COMPLEX CHEMICAL MIXTURES

A Dissertation

by

### ANNIKA MARGARET GILLESPIE

### Submitted to the Office of Graduate Studies of Texas A&M University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

## DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Approved by:

Chair of Committee,	K.C. Donnelly
Committee Members,	John W. Bickham
	Robin L. Autenrieth
	Thomas J. McDonald
	Bruce Duncan
Chair of Toxicology Faculty,	Robert C. Burghardt

May 2006

Major Subject: Toxicology

#### ABSTRACT

Environmental Toxicity of Complex Chemical Mixtures. (May 2006) Annika Margaret Gillespie, B.S., Salisbury University; M.S., University of Delaware Chair of Advisory Committee: Dr. K.C. Donnelly

Complex chemical mixtures may be released into the environment from a variety of sources including hazardous waste sites. Components of chemical mixtures and their metabolites may be genotoxic leading to cancer and heritable gene mutations. Chemical analysis alone does not always provide the most accurate information from which to estimate the risk of adverse effects associated with exposure to mixtures. Current methods to estimate the human health risk for complex mixtures assume additive effects of the components. Although it is assumed that this approach is protective of human and ecological health, it is also recognized that chemical mixtures may induce a variety of interactions including potentiation, synergism, and antagonism. A combined testing protocol, using chemical analysis coupled with a battery of in vitro, in vivo, and in situ bioassays, provides the most accurate information from which to estimate risk. Such a combined testing protocol provides information to describe the major organic and inorganic constituents, as well as the pharmacokinetics and potential interactions of chemical mixtures. This research was conducted to investigate the potential genotoxic effects of complex chemical mixtures of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and polychlorinated aromatics (PCA) using microbial bioassays (Salmonella/microsome assay and the *E. coli* prophage induction assay), the <sup>32</sup>P-postlabeling assay in mice, and in situ measurements of genotoxicity using flow cytometry. Samples of environmental media and wildlife tissues were collected from four National Priority List Superfund sites within the United States. In general, chemical analysis was not always predictive of mixture toxicity. Although biodegradation reduced the concentration of total and carcinogenic PAHs in soils and groundwater, the genotoxicity of extracts from

environmental media did not display a corresponding reduction. Mixtures of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) extracted from sediments were found to inhibit the genotoxicity of PAH mixtures when administered dermally to rodents. This inhibition exhibited a dose-response relationship, with the adduct frequency reduced at increasing doses of sediment extract. Finally, PAH concentrations in environmental media and tissues were found to correlate with DNA damage in wildlife receptors. An integrated approach, combining *in vitro* and *in vivo* methods to characterize genotoxicity provides more accurate information from which to estimate uptake and risk associated with exposure to complex mixtures and should be considered in both the human and ecological risk assessment process.

To the animals who gave their lives for this research

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research would not have been accomplished without numerous collaborators and supporters. I would first like to thank my dissertation committee: Dr. K.C. Donnelly, Dr. Robin Autenrieth, Dr. Bruce Duncan, Dr. John Bickham and Dr. Tom McDonald. Dr. Donnelly was the mastermind behind each project, was always available when I had questions (there were many!), and was dedicated to helping in the field. Dr. Autenrieth taught me what I know about human health risk assessment and encouraged me to do my best. Dr. Duncan brought a unique perspective to the research with his background as a senior ecologist for the U.S. EPA Region 10. His refreshing and enthusiastic attitude motivated me to learn more about ecological risk assessment-he more than deserved all the cookies we brought him! Dr. Bickham's research in evolutionary toxicology is both fascinating and inspiring. Not only did Dr. Bickham help me with the flow cytometry method, his research allowed me to bridge the gap between my training as a behavioral ecologist and my new pathway in environmental toxicology. I could not have accomplished the chemical analysis without the help of Dr. Tom McDonald. Dr. McDonald is one of the most warm-hearted people I have met science. He is a humble and gifted analytical chemist, a devoted professor, and an asset to any graduate student committee.

In addition to my committee, there were several people within the Donnelly lab who were with me from the beginning. Annamarie Bokelmann was the first person to show me the ropes in the lab. She taught me how to work the equipment and run the bioassays. Her sense of humor made me feel welcome and comfortable in my new surroundings. Carolyn Kotzot was one of our star student workers. She had a very positive attitude and helped me juggle my technician duties and student responsibilities by keeping the lab clean and organized. She is one of the most introspective and caring people that I know. Dr. Ling-Yu He kept me company in the field lab and spent many of her own hours helping to extract my field samples. She cooked the best Chinese food and was always eager to send me home with leftovers for my husband and me to enjoy. Dr. Leslie Cizmas was my role model in the lab. Leslie is a highly motivated and hardworking woman with a realistic attitude. There were often times when she helped me work through equations while also giving me the tools to work independently. Rebecca Lingenfelter loves animals as much as I do and treated my cat and iguana with great care whenever I had to work in the field or went home for the holidays. When the science got tough, it was always easy to talk literature or politics with Rebecca. Another person who shared my love for nature is Christine Naspinski. I treasure our talks about bird watching and scientific theory. Tracie Phillips was my other half in the lab. We often joked that we shared a brain because we worked so well together and seemed to always know what the other was thinking! I could not have kept my sanity without her and the long hours we spent postlabeling in Houston and packing for Montana. Nancy White is a dear friend and truly made me feel like I was at home in Texas. She offered emotional support and always helped me keep a positive perspective on life. I never tired of coming into work at 7am every morning because I knew Nancy would be there to share morning tea with me. The Donnelly lab in general and all of the students and staff I had the pleasure of working with made my job and research worthwhile.

There were also other labs that played key roles in this research. Dr. Guo-Dong Zhou's lab at the Institute of Biosciences and Technology in Houston was <sup>32</sup>P-postlabeling-central. We progressed from postlabeling 36 samples a week in 2003 to doing 80 samples a week by 2005! This could not have been done without the enthusiastic guidance from Dr. Zhou, or without the assistance of Molly Smith who prepared the lab each time for our visits. During our weeks in Houston, Dr. Safe and Lorna Safe offered their hospitality and gave us a roof over our heads while we were away from home. Dr. Phillips' lab was where I received support and benchtop space to extract field samples and perform DNA extractions. Henry Heubner was always willing to answer my questions, and Melinda Wiles taught me how to do a solid phase extraction method for my water samples. In addition to the Phillips' lab, I also received valuable instruction on how to perform tissue extractions from the staff at B& B Laboratories. Dr. Tom McDonald, Dr. Sue McDonald, Juan Ramirez, Eduardo Nieto, and Rebecca

Price were central to helping with sample extractions and chemical analysis at B&B Laboratories. In Dr. Bickham's lab, Cole Matson proved invaluable both in the field and in the lab. Cole went on every sampling trip to Jasper, TX. He guided the research and sampling design at both field sites and also helped to generate and analyze the flow cytometry data. With statistical analysis, I also obtained assistance from Adarsh Joshi, a graduate student in the Statistics Department. In terms of ordering supplies, taking care of degree requirements, shipping equipment, and attending professional meetings, I could not have been as successful without the Veterinary Integrative Biosciences office staff or Kim Daniel and Ben Morpurgo.

Outside the University network, I had several collaborators. For the research in Libby, MT, Tom Ross with International Paper Company granted us permission to work at the Libby site. David Cosgriff and Randy Cummings with Arrowhead Engineering offered us field support when we were on-site. The staff at Glacier National Park and the National Park Service permitted us to collect background samples within the park territory.

In Seattle, WA, the U.S. EPA Region 10 has been a huge benefactor of our Superfund research. They have generously donated research boats and trained personnel to assist us with environmental sampling and other pilot projects. Among these personnel are the boat captains, Doc Thompson, Andy Hess, Jed Januch, Bill Chamberlain, Curt Black; and the dive team, Keven McDermott, Rob Pedersen, Bruce Duncan, Sean Sheldrake, Dave Terpening, Chad Schultz, Lisa Macchio, and Joe Goulet. Permission to work at the Seattle site was also granted by the Port of Seattle (Doug Hotchkiss) and Boeing (Mike Gleason). Allison Hiltner with EPA Region 10 is the project manager for the site where we worked and she offered guidance as needed. John Barich with Region 10 has been an important supporter of our research efforts in the Seattle area for a number of years. As part of our pilot project, I want to acknowledge James Meador and Frank Sommers with NOAA, Charlie Eaton with Bio-Marine Enterprises, and Anna Schmidt, Terri Mielke, Joan Thomas and John Kerwin with the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife. These people were key to launching our new *in-situ* project which will hopefully be continued this summer.

The Jasper work was accomplished with collaboration from the U.S. EPA Region 6. Bob Sullivan was my first contact with Region 6. He extended an invitation for us to work with EPA at the two sites in Jasper, TX. Shortly after, I began working with EPA's contractor, CH2M Hill. Within CH2M Hill, Chris McCarthy was my primary contact and he has been an asset to our work by integrating our genotoxicity testing into the ecological risk assessment framework. The field work was also supported with collecting permits from the Texas Department of Fish and Wildlife, and with help from Ron Brinkley and Brian Cain of the U.S. Department of Fish and Wildlife.

At the center of my life through all of this were family, friends, and my husband Joseph Gillespie. Joe and I tackled the ups and downs of graduate school and dissertation writing together and made it through with barely a scratch! Joe, you are a brilliant, motivated scientist and loving, devoted husband. Had we not moved to Texas, I might not have followed this fulfilling path.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABSTRACT	iii
DEDICATION	v
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	vi
TABLE OF CONTENTS	x
LIST OF FIGURES	.xiii
LIST OF TABLES	. xvi
NOMENCLATURE	xvii
CHAPTER	
I INTRODUCTION	1
	1
1.1 Overview	1 1
1 1 2 Environmental Toxicology	1
1 1 3 Sources of Environmental Contamination	2
1.2 Risk Assessment Guidelines for Superfund	7
1.2.1 Human Health Risk Assessment	9
1.2.2 Ecological Risk Assessment.	15
1.3 Contaminants of Concern	26
1.3.1 Complex Mixtures	26
1.3.2 Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs)	29
1.3.3 Polychlorinated Aromatics (PCAs)	34
1.3.3.1 Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCBs)	34
1.3.3.2 Pentachlorophenol (PCP)	40
1.4 Toxicity Test Methods	40
1.4.1 In Vitro Bioassays	41
1.4.1.2 E will Drawlage Induction A start	42
1.4.1.2 E. coll Prophage Induction Assay	40
1.4.2 In Vivo P-Postabelling of DNA Adducts	40
1.4.5 In Suu rechniques	49
1.5 Objectives and Specific Aims	53
II GENOTOXICITY OF COMPLEX CHEMICAL MIXTURES IN SOIL AFTER BIOREMEDIATION	55
2.1 Introduction	55
2.2 Materials and Methods	56

xi

	2.2.1 Site History	56
	2.2.2 Soil Collection	61
	2.2.3 Soil Extraction	61
	2.2.4 Ground Water Collection	61
	2.2.5 Ground Water Extraction	62
	2.2.6 Salmonella/Microsome Assay	62
	2.2.7 E. coli Prophage Induction Assay	63
	2.2.8 Chemical Analysis	65
	2.3 Results	66
	2.3.1 X-19 Surface Soils	66
	2.3.2 Water Samples	75
	2.4 Discussion	81
III	GENOTOXICITY OF SEDIMENTS CONTAINING MIXTURES OF PCBS AND PAHS	88
	3.1 Introduction	88
	3.2 Materials and Methods	90
	3.2.1 Site History	90
	3.2.2 Sample Collection, Extraction and Chemical Analysis.	
	3.2.3 In Vitro Bioassays	91
	3.2.3.1 Salmonella/Microsome Assay	91
	3.2.3.2 E. coli Prophage Induction Assay	92
	3.2.4 In Vivo Bioassays	94
	3.2.4.1 Animal Treatment	94
	3.2.4.2 <sup>32</sup> P-Postlabeling Assay	95
	3.2.4.3 Statistics	96
	3.3 Results	96
	3.3.1 Chemical Analysis and <i>In Vitro</i> Bioassays	96
	3.3.2 In Vivo Bioassays	99
	3.4 Discussion	105
IV	GENOTOXICITY STUDIES ON ECOLOGICAL RECEPTORS AT HAZARDOUS WASTE SITES	109
	4.1 Introduction	. 109
	4.1.1 Site Histories	
	4.2 Materials and Methods	114
	4.2.1 Research Organisms	114
	4.2.2 Site-1 Sample Collection	119
	4.2.3 Site-2 Sample Collection	. 120
	4.2.4 Flow Cytometry	. 120
	4.2.5 Statistics	121
	4.2.6 Chemical Extraction	121

Page
------

4.2.6.1 Tissues	121
4.2.6.2 Surface Waters	122
4.2.6.3 Sediments	122
4.2.7 Chemical Analysis	122
4.3 Results	123
4.3.1 Mosquitofish (Gambusia affinis)	123
4.3.2 Redear Sunfish (Lepomis microlophus)	132
4.3.3 Cricket Frogs (Acris crepitans)	135
4.3.4 Gulf Coast Toads (Bufo valiceps) and Site-2 Media	140
4.3.5 Sediment Site-1	143
4.4 Discussion	144
V SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	150
5.1 Summary	150
5.1.1 Genotoxicity of Complex Chemical Mixtures in Soil	
After Bioremediation	150
5.1.2 Genotoxicity of Sediments Containing Mixtures of	
PCBs and PAHs	152
5.1.3 Genotoxicity Studies on Ecological Receptors at	
Hazardous Waste Sites	153
5.2 Conclusions	154
REFERENCES	156
VITA	177

## LIST OF FIGURES

	Ι	Page
Fig. 1	Four primary steps included in the quantitative evaluation of human health risk for chemically contaminated sites	9
Fig. 2	Model used to identify information required to develop a qualitative estimate of risk	e 11
Fig. 3	The basic ecological risk assessment framework	16
Fig. 4	Representative PAHs	31
Fig. 5	Representative polychlorinated aromatics	35
Fig. 6	Site map of land treatment units and bioreactor facility	58
Fig. 7	Bioreactor treatment system schematic	59
Fig. 8	Microbial mutagenicity as measured in <i>S. typhimurium</i> strain TA98 with metabolic activation, of extracts of X-19 surface soils over two years	72
Fig. 9	Mean concentration of carcinogenic PAHs (cPAHs) and PCP in X-19 surface soil samples collected over three years	73
Fig. 10	Weighted activity of X-19 surface soil samples collected from 2001-2003	74
Fig. 11	Microbial mutagenicity as measured in the <i>E. coli</i> prophage induction assay with metabolic activation, of X-19 surface soil extracts over three years	75
Fig. 12	Microbial mutagenicity as measured in <i>S. typhimurium</i> strain TA98 with metabolic activation, of extracts of groundwater collected from a contaminated aquifer over a three year period	77
Fig. 13	Mean concentration of carcinogenic PAHs (cPAHs) and PCP in groundwater samples collected from a contaminated aquifer over three years	78
Fig. 14	Weighted activity of groundwater samples collected from 2001-2003	79
Fig. 15	Microbial mutagenicity as measured in the <i>E. coli</i> prophage induction assay with metabolic activation, of extracts of groundwater collected from a contaminated aquifer over a three year period	80
Fig. 16	Mean concentration of carcinogenic PAHs (cPAHs) and PCP in bioreactor effluent water samples collected over three years	82
Fig. 17	Microbial mutagenicity as measured in <i>S. typhimurium</i> strain TA98 with metabolic activation, of extracts of bioreactor effluent collected from the bioreactor facility over a three year period	83

Fig. 18	Weighted activity of bioreactor effluent samples collected from 2001-2003	. 84
Fig. 19	Microbial mutagenicity as measured in the <i>E. coli</i> prophage induction assay with metabolic activation, of extracts of bioreactor effluent collected from the bioreactor facility over three years	85
Fig. 20	Average concentration of selected PCB congeners in sediment extracts	. 98
Fig. 21	Microbial mutagenicity, as measured in <i>S. typhimurium</i> strain TA98 with metabolic activation, of extracts of sediment samples collected from five stations in an industrialized area and a reference station	100
Fig. 22	Skin DNA adducts in female ICR (CD-1) mice after topical treatment with a methylene chloride control, an extract of background sediment, and extracts of contaminated sediment	102
Fig. 23	Skin DNA adducts in female ICR (CD-1) mice after topical treatment with sediment extract sample # 4 at varying doses	103
Fig. 24	Representative DNA adduct profiles from skin tissue of female ICR mice treated for 24hrs with topical applications of methylene chloride solvent control and sediment extracts (Experiment 1) and sediment 3B extract + BaP (Experiment 2)	104
Fig. 25	Skin DNA adducts in female ICR (CD-1) mice after topical treatment with methylene chloride solvent control, extracts of contaminated sediment sample # 3B and BaP	106
Fig. 26	Aerial view of Site-1 showing sampling locations for sunfish, mosquitofish, cricket frogs, and surface water and sediment samples (map not drawn to scale)	115
Fig. 27	Aerial view of Site-2 showing sampling locations for toad, mosquitofish and surface water samples (map not drawn to scale)	116
Fig. 28	PAHs detected in extracts of <i>Gambusia affinis</i> (mosquitofish) collected from a reference location, and 2 contaminated sites in May 2004	125
Fig. 29	Total PAH tissue concentrations (ng/wet g) detected in whole body composite samples of mosquitofish collected from Site-1 creek (Site-1a) and corresponding references	126
Fig. 30	Total precipitation associated with each mosquitofish ( <i>Gambusia affinis</i> ) sampling event from Site-1a including the days in which samples were collected plus 7 days (1 week) prior to sample collection	127

xiv

Fig. 31	HPCV flow cytometry data from mosquitofish collected from Site-1a and corresponding references.	130
Fig. 32	Total PAH concentrations in mosquitofish tissues grouped according to low, medium and high HPCV values for Site-1a and two corresponding references sampled in May 2005	131
Fig. 33	HPCV flow cytometry data from juvenile sunfish ( <i>Lepomis microlophus</i> ) collected from Site-1b and corresponding reference in May 2005	133
Fig. 34	HPCV flow cytometry data from cricket frogs ( <i>Acris crepitans</i> ) collected from Site-1 and corresponding references	136
Fig. 35	HPCV flow cytometry data from cricket frogs ( <i>Acris crepitans</i> ) collected from Site-1 and corresponding references	137
Fig. 36	FPCV flow cytometry data from juvenile Gulf Coast toads ( <i>Bufo valiceps</i> ) and Ref4	140
Fig. 37	Total PAH concentrations in juvenile Gulf Coast toad ( <i>Bufo valiceps</i> ) tissues grouped according to low, medium and high FPCV values for Site-2 and Ref4 sampled in August 2004	141

## LIST OF TABLES

	J	Page
Table 1	List of total target PAH analytes screened in the X-19 surface soil and groundwater chemical analysis	67
Table 2	Summary of X-19 data from 2001-2003 including microbial bioassay results and chemical analysis	69
Table 3	Summary of contaminated water data from 2001-2003 including microbial bioassay results and chemical analysis	76
Table 4	Summary of <i>in vitro</i> bioassay and chemical analysis data	97
Table 5	List of total target PAH analytes screened in the media and biota chemical analysis	. 111
Table 6	Location codes for the seven reference sites sampled for biota and media	. 117
Table 7	Priority pollutant chemicals (PAHs and PCP) in surface water and corresponding screening level criteria for fish at Site-1a	. 128
Table 8	Summary chemical analysis of co-located surface water samples collected from Site-1a (creek) and corresponding references during August 2004 and May 2005 mosquitofish sampling events	. 129
Table 9	Priority pollutant chemicals (PAHs and PCP) in surface water and corresponding screening level criteria for fish at Site-1b	. 134
Table 10	) Summary chemical analysis of co-located surface water samples collected from Site-1b (pond) and corresponding references during May 2005 redear sunfish sampling events	. 135
Table 11	Priority pollutant chemicals (PAHs and PCP) in surface water and corresponding LOEC HQ values for amphibians at Site-1a & Site-1b	. 138
Table 12	2 Summary chemical analysis of co-located surface water samples collected from Site-1a (creek) and corresponding references during August 2004 cricket frog sampling events	. 139
Table 13	Summary chemical analysis of co-located surface water samples collected from Site-2 and corresponding reference during August 2004 Gulf coast toad sampling events	. 142
Table 14	Priority pollutant chemicals (PAHs and PCP) in sediments collected in May 2005 and corresponding screening level criteria for benthic communities at Site-1a and Site-1b.	. 145
Table 15	5 Summary chemical analysis of co-located sediment samples collected from Site-1a (creek), Site-1b (pond) and corresponding references during May 2005 sampling events	. 146

#### NOMENCLATURE

- ATSDR = Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry
- BaP = benzo[a]pyrene
- CDC = Center for Disease Control
- CDI = cumulative daily intake
- COC = contaminant of concern
- COPC = contaminant of potential concern
- CSF = cancer slope factor
- ERA = ecological risk assessment
- HHRA = human health risk assessment
- IRIS = Integrated Risk Information System
- NPL = National Priority List
- PAH = polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon
- PCA = polychlorinated aromatic
- PCB = polychlorinated biphenyl
- PCP = pentachlorophenol
- QSAR = quantitative structure activity relationship
- QSTR = quantitative structure toxicity relationship
- RBC = risk-based concentration
- RfD = reference dose
- RI = remedial investigation
- TEF = toxicity equivalence factor
- USEPA or U.S. EPA = United States Environmental Protection Agency

# CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Overview

Complex chemical mixtures are present in environmental media, food and drinking water. Two of the most common classes of chemical mixtures in the environment are polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and polychlorinated aromatic compounds (PCAs). These compounds are common contaminants of surface waters and sediments. The research described in this dissertation was conducted to investigate novel methods for assessing the ecological risk of chemical mixtures. A battery of biological test methods has been coupled with chemical analysis to provide an improved understanding of the potential for exposure and adverse effects of chemical mixtures on ecological receptors. The introductory chapter of this dissertation will review sources and adverse effects associated with mixtures of PAHs and PCAs; and, discuss the current state of knowledge with regards to ecological risk assessment.

#### **1.1.1 Environmental Mixtures**

The toxicity of complex environmental mixtures including smoke and soot was recognized as early as the Middle Ages by Paracelsus (Gallo, 2001). A few centuries later, the industrial revolution became associated with a number of occupational diseases, many of which were attributable to complex mixture exposures. In 1775, Percival Pott observed a relationship between scrotal cancer and exposure by chimney sweeps to PAH mixtures. Since World War II and the marked increase in drug, munitions, pesticide, synthetic fiber, and industrial chemical production, the discipline of toxicology has grown exponentially (Gallo, 2001).

This dissertation follows the style of Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis.

#### **1.1.2 Environmental Toxicology**

Environmental toxicology is a discipline which assimilates knowledge from several areas of science. Ecology, chemistry, molecular biology, genetics and mathematics are all important in understanding the potential impact that chemicals may have on biological systems (Landis and Yu, 1995). Ecology is the study of species interactions within ecosystems and provides information to understand how toxins affect the structure and function of ecosystems. Chemistry is an important component of ecotoxicology to provide information about the composition and concentration of contaminants in environmental media and tissues. Molecular biology may be used to examine the effects of toxins on organisms at the molecular level. Molecular genetics and microbiology also examine effects at the microscopic level and may help to elucidate the environmental fate and transformation of environmental contaminants. Through genetics and microbiology also comes the tools for helping to cleanup and restore ecosystems (i.e. bioremediation). The adaptation of species to environmental change can be measured using evolutionary biology concepts. Statistics may be employed to interpret data and test hypotheses (this can be achieved through mathematical and computer modeling). Risk assessment is an essential part of environmental toxicology and helps to guide research and to formulate testable hypotheses (Landis and Yu, 1995).

The science of environmental toxicology grew from the use of testing pesticides in the late 1940s to the cleanup of wildlife kills, polluted lakes, and burning rivers of the 1960s (Landis and Yu, 1995). After the establishment of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) and the National Environmental Policy Act, the field of environmental toxicology began to develop rapidly. A variety of technologies, including molecular biology, chemistry, and genetics have been used in the research described in this dissertation to provide a more comprehensive investigation of the impact of environmental mixtures on ecological receptors. This dissertation research is an example of how the different disciplines within environmental toxicology (as described above) can be integrated to understand complex mixture genotoxicity. In Chapter II, the research focuses on investigating changes in genotoxicity and chemical concentrations in complex soil mixtures undergoing bioremediation. For this chapter, molecular biology (microbial bioassays), chemical analysis, and statistics were used in the research. A basic background about the remedial techniques (microbiology) used on-site was also essential to the study. These data were collected to facilitate an assessment of the risk associated with remedial contaminants in treated soil and groundwater. Data have been generated to determine if the residual contaminants in soil and groundwater after microbial degradation elicited a genotoxic response in vitro. Data have also been obtained to determine if chemical analysis provides an accurate estimate of adverse effects associated with exposure to complex environmental mixtures. Chapter III has investigated contaminant mixture interactions from extracted sediments. This research combined chemical analysis, molecular biology and statistics to test the interactions of contaminated sediment mixtures using both in vitro and in vivo techniques. The research described in Chapter III was also conducted to determine if genotoxicity could be predicted by chemical analysis. The results of the current research, as well as that of previous studies, indicate that complex environmental mixtures are capable of inducing genetic damage in controlled laboratory experiments. The fourth Chapter expands upon this information and combines ecology, chemistry, molecular biology, and statistics. The research described in Chapter IV involved an *in situ* study of wildlife exposed to complex chemical mixtures. For the field research, it was important to obtain information that could be used to compare environmental media and tissue contaminant concentrations; and, to determine if these data were predictive of genetic damage as an indicator of risk. Studies conducted for Chapter IV required an understanding of the basic ecology, behavior and life histories of the species collected as well as the impact of seasonal variability on contaminant migration and species exposure.

#### 1.1.3 Sources of Environmental Contamination

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency estimated that in 2002, a total of 4.79 billion pounds of toxic chemicals were released to environmental media from industrial

facilities in the United States (USEPA, 2002). Two of the most common classes of chemicals released from industrial facilities in the United States are complex mixtures of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and polychlorinated aromatic (PCAs) compounds. Included in these mixtures are chemicals which are considered probable human carcinogens (USEPA, 2002); and, many compounds which are persistent in the environment and thus may come in contact with human or wildlife receptors. Environmental contaminants can enter ecosystems by several routes and depending on physical and chemical properties eventually reside in soil, water or air. For surface waters, one of the major worldwide sources of pollution is sewage discharge (Walker et al., 1997). PAHs and PCAs are usually released from chemical production activities or the combustion of fuels or waste materials. Mixtures of PAHs and PCAs are relatively insoluble in water. As a result, these compounds are often detected in soils or sediments affected by industrial discharges. In biological receptors, the PAHs and PCAs often partition into adipose tissues. Industrial wastes containing mixtures of PAHs and PCAs may be discharged into a wastewater treatment system or directly into surface waters. If discharged into the wastewater treatment system PAH and PCA mixtures will be altered with release into the environment. Prior to discharge from a wastewater treatment plant, sewage must have acceptable levels of chemical oxygen demand (COD) and biochemical oxygen demand (BOD). The amount of oxygen required to completely chemically oxidize one liter of sewage is the COD. The amount of dissolved oxygen used by microorganisms to oxidize the organic matter in one liter of sewage is the BOD. If the COD and BOD levels are higher than agreed limits, the sewage discharge could cause a substantial reduction in the water oxygen levels and have serious consequences for aquatic organisms (Walker et al., 1997).

The compound composition and concentration in effluent from industrial facilities is defined largely by the industrial processes that generated the waste. For example, heavy metals are generally associated with mining and smelting operations, many organic chemicals with the chemical industry, radionuclides with atomic power stations, and chlorophenols and fungicides with pulp mills (Walker et al., 1997). The

petroleum industry has also been responsible for the deliberate and accidental discharge of oil into the marine environment. Although oil tanker disasters can create an immediate and obvious release of hydrocarbons to the environment, the contribution from non-point sources such as urban runoff is still much greater than releases of oil from normal tanker operations and industrial and municipal activities (Walker et al., 1997).

Surface waters can also be contaminated by runoff from agricultural fields or the direct application of biocides to control plants or insects. Most industrial contaminants are relatively insoluble in water and must be bound to particulate matter to facilitate transport by air and water currents. Particulate transport may also be a concern for aerial application of pesticides where there is a risk of the chemicals drifting into surface waters where they may be highly toxic to aquatic organisms (Walker et al., 1997).

Soil is the receptacle for much of the waste disposed of in the United States and abroad. As with surface waters, soil may become contaminated through accidental and/or deliberate disposal of waste. Landfills are a large source of complex mixture contaminants and may contain acutely toxic compounds as well as genotoxic compounds (Schrab et al., 1993). The use of sewage sludge as fertilizer for agricultural crops is another source of pollution. Non-point sources of pollution such as urban and agricultural runoff add heavy metals, detergents, phosphates and nitrates to the environment. As rainfall runs off of agricultural fields into surface waters, high nutrient input can cause eutrophication of water bodies. The outbreak of harmful algal blooms and their associated toxins has been attributed to excessive nutrient input into waterways (Paerl et al., 2001). Surface soils may also become contaminated due to deposition of smoke and dust from combustion sources. Moreover, rain, snow and dust particles may transport pollutants from the air to surface soils. Surface soils could be impacted from flooding of rivers and seas. The widespread release of contaminants was recently observed in New Orleans after flooding caused by Hurricane Katrina (USEPA, 2005b).

PAHs and PCAs have been detected in every compartment of the global ecosystem. These chemicals are transported by adhering to particulate matter or through

association with droplets, particles or gasses. Chemicals in the gaseous phase may be transported for long distances. Particulate matter is also transported through the atmosphere, although larger particles have a tendency to be deposited in a relatively short distance. Once deposited on surface soils, complex mixtures attached to particulate matter may remain on the soil surface, be degraded by chemical, biological or photodegradation, or may be transported by wind or water erosion. Industrial and domestic stacks used to vent particulate and gaseous emissions contribute largely to atmospheric pollution (Walker et al., 1997). The combustion of coal, petroleum and other fossil fuels results in the release of PAHs, carbon dioxide, sulphur dioxide, nitrogen oxides, hydrogen fluoride and chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs). Drift of pesticides from domestic and agricultural activities are another source of atmospheric pollution (Walker et al., 1997).

The Center for Disease Control (CDC) reports that in the United States, there were more than 36,000 events involving release of hazardous substances reported to the Hazardous Substances Emergency Events Surveillance (HSEES) between January 2001 and March 2005 (CDC, 2005). One hundred and seven of these events were associated with improper disposal (CDC, 2005). It is difficult to accurately define the concentration of environmental exposures which can lead to adverse effects in humans and wildlife. For example, laboratory studies have clearly demonstrated that endocrine disrupting chemicals (such as xenoestrogens) have the ability to cause developmental, tumorigenic and reproductive effects (Degen and Bolt, 2000). However, the risks associated with exposure to concentrations of xenoestrogens in the environmental are more difficult to quantify (Brucker-Davis et al., 2001; Degen and Bolt, 2000). Natural endocrine disrupting compounds can be found in certain plant foods including soybeans, potatoes, garlic, coffee, parsley, and pomegranates (Colborn et al., 1997). The relative concentration of naturally occurring estrogenic compounds in the diet is generally assumed to be higher than the concentration of synthetic estrogens (Safe, 1995; Safe, 2000). Sufficient data are not available to determine the impact of combined exposure to natural and xenoestrogens at low doses in human and wildlife populations. As another

example, the American Chemical Society (ACS) estimates that more than 1.3 million new human cancer cases will be diagnosed in 2005 (ACS, 2005). It has also been estimated that more than one-half million Americans will die from cancer in 2005 (ACS, 2005). Studies of the factors influencing the risk of human cancer clearly established a link between genetic change and malignant progression (McMahon, 1994; Solomon et al., 1991). These genetic changes may be caused by a variety of factors including exposure to genotoxic environmental contaminants. Although rodent studies have been used to identify the carcinogenic potential of a broad range of industrial chemicals, the number of chemicals that are considered established human carcinogens remains relatively small (USEPA, 2005i). The components of PAH and PCA mixtures may be genotoxic, immunotoxic, and toxic to a range of organ systems. However, the association between exposure to chemicals released from hazardous waste disposal activities and adverse health effects in human and ecological receptors has not been clearly established.

The research conducted for this dissertation has focused on two issues. First, can chemical concentrations in environmental media be used to predict body burden of PAH or PCA mixtures; and, second, can biomarkers of exposure, such as DNA adducts or damage to DNA (as measured by flow-cytometry) be used to predict adverse health effects in ecological receptors. The following text summarizes the methodology used for human health risk assessment (HHRA) and ecological risk assessment (ERA) and how these methods attempt to quantify risk based on the concentration of environmental contaminants.

#### **1.2 Risk Assessment Guidelines for Superfund**

On December 11, 1980, Congress passed the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA) also known as Superfund. This act created a tax on the chemical and petroleum industries that was used to raise billions of dollars for assessment and remediation at uncontrolled or abandoned hazardous waste sites (USEPA, 2005g). A USEPA report released in 2004 indicates that over the next 30 years as many as 350,000 sites will require remediation under the current regulations (USEPA, 2005h). The present Superfund National Priorities List (NPL) includes 1,244 sites (USEPA, 2005d). These NPL sites are selected based on their potential threat to public health. The studies described in this dissertation utilized samples collected from four different NPL sites. Each of the sites used in this research is considered to have the potential to affect both human and ecological health. The process of estimating the human and ecological risk associated with a specific site is an important first step. The quantitative risk assessment provides a means to rank different sites, as well as to establish appropriate concentrations of major contaminants in environmental media following remediation. Risk characterization is a part of the overall process that also includes risk management and risk communication. These activities are important to ensure that the public is aware of health threats; and, to identify appropriate technologies for site remediation.

The accuracy of complex mixture risk assessment is limited due to several factors. First, limited data are available to accurately predict uptake of complex mixtures. Second, many of the components of a mixture may be unidentified or may have limited toxicity characterization. Finally, little is known about the impact of chemical interactions on the metabolism or toxicity of mixtures (Cizmas et al., 2004a; Donnelly et al., 1995). This research utilized chemical and biological test methods to investigate the uptake and genotoxicity of complex mixtures, with specific focus on mixtures of PAHs and PCAs. These classes of chemicals are ubiquitous at hazardous waste sites.

In addition to the complexity of certain environmental mixtures, human and ecological populations are also highly variable. Variations in genetic characteristics, as well as variations in lifestyle and environmental exposures, produce a large amount of uncertainty in estimating exposure and risk. In addition, variations in the dose and duration of exposure from ingestion, inhalation or dermal exposure to environmental mixtures make it difficult to accurately define intake values for a population. Thus, it becomes even more difficult to develop an accurate characterization of the risk associated with a chemically contaminated site. Risk assessment is the initial step in ranking contaminated sites and selecting appropriate remedial procedures. Current methods used for assessing the risk of complex mixtures generally assume additive interactions for the components of the mixture.

#### 1.2.1 Human Health Risk Assessment

Both human and wildlife receptors may be exposed to contaminants in the ecosystem. Human populations may both contribute to, and be affected by contaminant releases to the ecosystem. Although both human and ecological receptors may be exposed to contaminant releases from hazardous waste sites, the composition and concentration of these exposures are likely to be very different. Thus, state and federal regulators generally use a separate methodology to estimate the human health and ecological risk. The EPA Risk Assessment Guidance for Superfund (RAGS) (USEPA, 1989) describes a 4-step approach for estimating human health risk (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Four primary steps included in the quantitative evaluation of human health risk for chemically contaminated sites (modified from Asante-Duah 2002).

The initial step in the quantitative risk assessment process is hazard identification. This involves gathering background data regarding contaminants and contaminated media and selecting the contaminants of potential concern (COPCs). This is usually accomplished by comparing the concentration of specific contaminants in

various environmental media with a risk based concentration (RBC). The contaminants of potential concern are selected from those contaminants that are present in environmental media at concentrations that are greater than the risk based concentration. The contaminants of potential concern generally represent those 10 to 15 chemicals that are anticipated to represent the greatest threat to human health. The second step in the assessment of human health risk is the toxicity assessment. For the toxicity assessment, qualitative and quantitative toxicological profiles for each contaminants of potential concern are compiled (Asante-Duah, 2002). Using the EPAs Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS), toxicity values are selected for each contaminant of potential concern. This may include a reference dose (RfD) for non-cancer effects; and, a cancer slope factor (CSF) for carcinogenic effects. The exposure assessment is generally performed at the same time as the toxicity assessment. Knowledge of site conditions and potential usage is employed to identify all potential and future pathways of exposure to site contaminants. For each completed exposure pathway, a cumulative daily intake (CDI) is developed for all contaminants of potential concern detected in each media (i.e., air, soil, surface water, groundwater and sediment). The cumulative daily intake is the product of the contaminant concentration in a specific media, times the ingestion rate, the exposure frequency and exposure duration. This value is then divided by an averaging time (exposure duration times 365 days) and body weight (70kg) to develop an estimate of the daily intake for each contaminant of potential concern. The exposure assessment may also utilize the risk paradigm (Fig. 2) to assemble appropriate information regarding contaminant composition and concentration, affected environmental media, contaminant transportation in the environment, characteristics of the receptor, and the potential adverse health effects associated with a specific dose and duration of exposure. The nature of an adverse health effect associated with a contaminated site is dependent on the route, as well as the dose and duration of exposure. The most common exposure pathways include ingestion, inhalation, or dermal contact with a contaminant of concern. Human populations may also be exposed to contaminants through the ingestion of contaminated plants or animals. The exposure

assessment develops an estimate of intake through various routes of exposure. In addition, exposure estimates are designed to take into consideration potential sensitive groups within a population (i.e. children, elderly, pregnant women).



Fig. 2. Model used to identify information required to develop a qualitative estimate of risk (ADME = Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism, and Excretion).

Once information is available from the toxicity and exposure assessments, a quantitative estimate of risk can then be determined. The risk characterization generates a point estimate of the potential for adverse human health effects based on carcinogenic, non-carcinogenic, and/or radiological risks for each exposure scenario (Asante-Duah, 2002). It is also important at this stage to present the uncertainty associated with the various steps in the risk characterization. Uncertainty may result from a limited environmental characterization at a site, or from uncertainties regarding the specific dose and duration of exposure. However, a major source of uncertainty in the risk characterization is associated with the toxicity assessment. Toxicity values (RfDs and CSFs) are available for a limited number of chemicals. Experimental toxicity data is translated into reference doses for non-carcinogens or cancer slope factors for

carcinogens by dividing the no-observed-adverse-effect-level (NOAEL) or the lowestobserved-adverse-effect-level (LOAEL) by various uncertainty factors (UFs). Adding to this uncertainty is the fact that minimal information exists to describe the potential implications of the interactions of the components of complex mixtures on the overall risk of adverse health effects. To estimate non-cancer risk, the cumulative daily intake is divided by the reference dose; while, the estimated lifetime cancer risk is the product of the cumulative daily intake times the cancer slope factor. Generally, if a reference dose or cancer slope factor are not available for a specific contaminant of potential concern a compound of similar toxicity (i.e. a surrogate) is used to provide a reference dose or a cancer slope factor.

For those chemicals which lack a toxicity value, Quantitative Structure Toxicity Relationships (QSTRs) and Quantitative Structure Activity Relationships (QSARs) may be used as a tool to provide a relative toxicity value (a QSAR may be described as a QSTR if the activity being measured is toxicity (Siraki et al., 2004)). In a weight-ofevidence approach these methods can be used in combination with the results of epidemiological studies, animal bioassays and short-term tests to assess contaminant effects (Asante-Duah, 2002). Information describing the structure and physicochemical properties of contaminants of concern such as water solubility  $(S_w)$ , octanol-water partition coefficient ( $K_{ow}$ ), liquid vapor pressure ( $P_{vL}$ ), and Henry's law constants ( $H_c$ ) is useful for predicting contaminant fate and transport in the environment (Abraham et al., 2005; Dimitriou-Christidis et al., 2003). Physiochemical properties when coupled with pharmacokinetic information (absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion) are useful for making predictions regarding the fate and persistence of a specific contaminant in biological systems. The use of predictive models may reduce dependence on site-specific information regarding transport and degradation of contaminants (Walker, 2003). Whereas for toxicity assessment, the use of predictive models may reduce dependence on animal studies to obtain toxicity values (Hofer et al., 2004). However, models are only as reliable as the data used to calibrate the model. The utility of models is limited by the criteria used in the assessment process including

the method the model employs for its predictions (Tunkel et al., 2005). With the use of appropriate guidelines for developing and applying QSARs, these models may be implemented for regulatory purposes, and used under limited circumstances (Tunkel et al., 2005; Walker et al., 2003).

The use of models to assess the risk of complex mixtures at contaminated sites is susceptible to numerous sources of error. Models should include methods to account for potential additive, synergistic, or antagonistic interactions of mixture components. Most risk assessment methods assume that mixture components will produce additive interactions. Recommended models for mixtures of chemicals such as PAHs assume strict additivity. These models estimate toxicity using toxic equivalency factors (TEFs) comparing carcinogenic potency of the chemical of interest to the model carcinogen benzo[a]pyrene. Another source of uncertainty in mixtures risk assessment is the chemical analysis. For many mixtures, more than 30% of the components cannot be accurately quantified. Thus, models generally will only use input parameters for those chemicals that have been quantified (Altenburger et al., 2003). QSTR models do, however, provide a tool for developing a preliminary understanding of potential mixture interactions and molecular mechanisms of toxicity (Altenburger et al., 2003). These models may also help link biological effects with chemical analyses for use in designing and interpreting mixture toxicity studies (Altenburger et al., 2003). This applies to both human health and ecological risk assessments. Models are primarily used to extrapolate existing data to make predictions for outcomes under a variety of conditions. The current study was designed to investigate the utility of a range of biological test systems and markers of exposure and early biological effects in ecological receptors. These data were compared with the results of chemical analysis to determine if mixture interactions or unidentified components contributed significantly to the toxic effects of complex mixtures.

Short-term acute and chronic bioassays generally provide qualitative information regarding the risk associated with exposure to complex mixtures. In order to establish primary remediation goals (PRGs), the risk assessment process requires more

quantitative information. The studies conducted in this research focus on the utility of bioassays for providing qualitative data regarding complex mixture toxicity. Studies were conducted to measure the genotoxicity of complex mixtures extracted from environmental media following bacterial degradation. The extracts from these media were analyzed with a battery of microbial genotoxicity bioassays. Data were also obtained from animal studies to investigate the interactions of PCBs and PAHs. This research was done to determine if the concentration of the model carcinogen benzo(a)pyrene could be used to predict the genotoxicity of sediment extracts containing mixtures of PCBs and PAHs. Finally, field studies were conducted to measure genotoxicity in ecological receptors. It is anticipated that the data generated from these studies will be used to identify sources of uncertainty in the quantitative risk assessment process. Reducing the uncertainty in the quantitative risk characterization of complex mixtures will improve the accuracy of both ecological and human health risk assessments.

As part of one of the described studies, the site investigated was undergoing bioremediation. Research has demonstrated that the initial products of biodegradation may be more genotoxic than the parent compounds (Garcia, 2001; Sverdrup et al., 2002b; White and Claxton, 2004). Alterations in genotoxicity following bacterial degradation may result from a variety of factors. In most cases, the products of aerobic degradation are oxidized derivatives of the parent compound(s). These compounds should be more water soluble than the parent compounds. Increased solubility may also result in an increased rate of uptake or absorption of environmental mixtures. Increased toxicity may also be a product of alterations in metabolism may enhance or inhibit the overall genotoxicity of the components of a complex mixture. Finally, degradation may result in the removal of the low molecular weight, and less toxic chemicals, with the resulting residual compounds expressing a greater level of genotoxicity than the original mixture. The research conducted for this dissertation addresses several of these issues regarding risk assessment of complex mixtures. The research was performed to identify

sources of uncertainty in both the ecological and human health portions of risk characterization.

#### 1.2.2 Ecological Risk Assessment

Risk characterizations at Superfund sites may consider impacts of environmental contaminants on ecological or human receptors. The ecological risk assessment is designed to develop an evaluation of the potential impacts of environmental contaminants on ecological health. Ecological risk assessments may consider sensitive or endangered species, or may investigate potential impacts on entire ecosystems. The ecological risk assessment follows a similar model as the human health risk assessment. The two primary analytical elements of an ecological risk assessment (Fig. 3) include the characterization of effects and characterization of exposure (USEPA, 1998). During the problem formulation, information is gathered about the source of contaminants, potential ecological effects, stressors, and specific receptors and ecosystem characteristics at the site. The assessment endpoints are also determined. This information is used to generate a conceptual site model and an analysis plan that is implemented in the analysis phase of the ecological risk assessment (USEPA, 1998).

The analysis phase of the ecological risk assessment begins by determining the strengths and limitations of data on exposure, effects, and ecosystem and receptor characteristics (USEPA, 1998). The data are then analyzed to help describe the type of actual or potential exposures and the ecological responses as outlined in the conceptual site model. The exposure and ecological effects are generally not mutually exclusive. For example, when a contaminant enters the environment, exposure to one organism could lead to a cascade of additional exposures and secondary effects. Additional exposures are often through the food web and effects of contaminants can be seen at the level of community organization. From the analysis phase an exposure profile and a stressor response profile are produced (USEPA, 1998). This information is used to help characterize the ecological risk.



Fig. 3. The basic ecological risk assessment framework (modified from USEPA, 1998).

The risk characterization process of the ecological risk assessment compiles the data from the site analysis and addresses assumptions, uncertainties, and strengths and limitations (USEPA, 1998). The end product is an estimation of potential effects of site contaminants on ecological receptors. This information can then be communicated to stakeholders and any other interested parties. Emphasis should be made on the fact that the ecological risk assessment process is iterative. Throughout the various stages of the process, new questions could arise which require reevaluation of existing data or the collection and analysis of new data. Ecosystems are inherently complex. Whereas the human health risk assessment deals with a single species and generally a limited habitat area, the ecological risk assessment must consider a multitude of species and often includes multiple habitats. Thus, it is important that the analytical phase and risk communication portions of the ecological risk assessment promote an understanding of these complexities (USEPA, 1998).

One of the challenges of ecological risk assessment is understanding the effects of site contaminants on species abundance, diversity and interactions. Community ecotoxicologists are faced with the dilemma of separating the effects of anthropogenic disturbance (such as chemical contamination) from natural community variability (Clements and Newman, 2002). Since humans have been manipulating the composition and structure of ecosystems for nearly 10,000 years (Hessburg and Agee, 2003), establishing what is normal or natural community structure and DNA variation in environments untouched by humans is virtually impossible. It is possible to make comparisons by investigating community structure and DNA variation in relatively pristine populations and in populations in contaminated environments. However, this assumes that: (1) a pristine environment can be identified; and, (2) the community structure in that environment is similar to the site in question.

At any given point in time, natural communities are likely to be exposed to multiple anthropogenic stressors. In order to understand community responses, the relative importance of each stressor must be identified (Clements and Newman, 2002). Even the effect on one entity in an ecosystem can become stressors on other ecological entities. For example, if pesticides reduce earthworm survival, changes in earthworm population densities could be an assessment endpoint (USEPA, 1998). Although, if earthworm densities decline, this could act as a secondary stressor to worm-eating birds that suffer from lowered food supply. A secondary effect of the pesticides could be starvation of young birds. The assessment endpoint might be translated as bird fledgling success. However, other stressors may also affect this assessment endpoint. For example, bird fledgling success could be influenced by the availability of other food sources, nest site quality and nest site competition. These variables in addition to earthworm density and pesticide residue in earthworms (and other food sources) would be valuable measurements for assessing ecological risk (USEPA, 1998).

Predicting the ecological risk from multiple chemical, physical and biological stressors requires knowledge of the interactions of these stressors. Consideration of ecological processes operating at larger spatial scales is necessary when performing

ecological risk assessments for areas with multiple stressors (USEPA, 1998). In terms of chemical stressors, it is also important to understand the bioavailability of the contaminants of concern (COCs). For both the human health and ecological risk assessments, determining fate and transport of contaminants requires an understanding of the structure and physicochemical properties of contaminants of concern including water solubility  $(S_w)$ , octanol-water partition coefficient  $(K_{ow})$ , liquid vapor pressure  $(P_{vL})$ , and Henry's law constants  $(H_c)$  (Abraham et al., 2005; Dimitriou-Christidis et al., 2003). These properties coupled with toxicity information (absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion) may provide information that can be used to predict a contaminant's fate and persistence in biological systems. Two classes of environmental mixtures that have been found to impact the health of ecological receptors are the PAHs and PCBs. PCBs with four or more chlorines tend to have high K<sub>ow</sub> values and high bioconcentration factors (BCFs) due to their lipophillic nature. Thus, the more highly chlorinated PCBs are likely to partition to lipids in exposed populations. PAHs with three or more aromatic rings are usually the components of greatest ecological concern as these compounds are more persistent in the environment and include the carcinogenic PAHs.

Due to the inherent complexity of ecosystems, conceptual site models contain a certain level of uncertainty. Sources of uncertainty include a lack of knowledge about ecosystem functions, failure to identify spatial and temporal parameters, overlooking secondary effects or omitting stressors (USEPA, 1998). It is important to describe the areas of uncertainty and the data limitations to enhance the understanding of the ecological risk assessment. Information regarding the genotoxity and biomarkers of exposure is often lacking for ecological receptors at a Superfund site. Measurements of genotoxicity will be useful when weighing the evidence of ecological risk from complex mixture exposure. Measures of genetic damage may be combined with data from acute and chronic *ex-situ* toxicity tests, chemical analysis of biota and environmental media, and population diversity records to assess ecological risk.

Mixtures of environmental genotoxins have the potential to adversely affect organisms at both the molecular and population levels (Bickham et al., 2000; Shugart et al., 2003). Ecological receptors may come in contact with environmental contamination through ingestion of contaminated food or water, inhalation, and dermal exposure. Following exposure to a genotoxin, the chemical may enter into the organism's cells (depending on its size, charge and other physicochemical properties (such as its water solubility, (K<sub>ow</sub>)) by passive or active transport. During this process it may bind to certain receptors which in turn induce the formation of certain metabolizing enzymes (P450's) or binding proteins (metallothionine). These enzymes may increase the rate of metabolism of the chemical into its genotoxic form. In most cases, the product of Phase I (oxidative) metabolism is the reactive metabolite that is capable of binding with DNA. Some of the physical DNA modifications include the dimerization of pyrimidine bases by UV-B light or breakage of phosphodiester linkages from free radical formation (Shugart, 2000). Chemically, DNA can be altered by the covalent attachment of bulky adducts, modification of existing bases, loss of damaged bases or unstable adducts, breakage of phosphodiester linkages from free radicals and formation of abasic sites, incorrect postreplication, and improper DNA repair (Shugart, 2000). If the initial damage to the DNA is not repaired by DNA repair mechanisms or removed by cell apoptosis (programmed cell death), the DNA mutation could promote itself during cell division. If certain cell growth factors are affected by the mutation, this could result in the cell's inability to regulate replication and cells carrying the mutation might begin to proliferate. If left unchecked by neighboring cells and the body's immune responses, this proliferation could lead to tumor formation. The formation of malignant tumors in mammals is often fatal. However, exposure to chemicals which damage DNA may also lead to reduced reproductive capabilities, birth defects, and modifications to the genetic integrity of a population.

The genotype of an organism largely defines its ability to metabolize and eliminate xenobiotics. One of the major enzyme systems active in the initial stages of metabolism are the Phase I Cytochrome P450 (CYP) metabolizing enzymes. These
enzymes function to oxidize xenobiotics into more hydrophilic polar compounds (usually anions) which are more susceptible to Phase II metabolism. The products of Phase II conjugation generally can be more readily excreted in the urine and the feces (via bile). Other proteins such as metallothionine might also be expressed which bind metals so that they can be more easily excreted or stored. Exposure to a genotoxin has the potential to disrupt energy allocation in the organism. Because the genotoxin is not part of the normal biochemistry of the organism, the organism must expend energy to metabolize the intruding molecule and/or repair the damage the molecule has done to cellular function (including DNA damage). Thus, if an ecological receptor is exposed to elevated concentrations of a xenobiotic, more energy may be required to support the metabolic defenses of the organism, leaving less energy for reproduction.

When a multicellular, sexually reproducing organism is exposed to a xenobiotic there are numerous ways that the toxin can effect the genetic organization of the individual. These effects are generally divided into somatic effects and reproductive effects (germ cells, gametes). If we think of this in terms of energy acquisition, an organism can use the energy it consumes for somatic maintenance, reproduction and defense. From birth to reproductive age, an organism generally allocates more energy to growth and defense (i.e. its goal is to survive and reproduce so that its genes can be passed to the next generation). According to the general principle of allocation, during reproductive age, the organism will allocate more energy to reproduction and less to somatic maintenance (Sibly and Calow, 1986). Following peak reproductive age, the organism begins to senesce, gradually decreasing energy allocation to all areas. Cancer is often a disease of senescence because the organism has decreased energy allocated toward somatic maintenance and repair. As a result, genetic and cellular damage is more likely to occur and less likely to be repaired. Throughout the organism's life there is generally a balance between the energy acquired (its energy budget) and the cost of allocating that energy for different uses (i.e. somatic maintenance, defense, and reproduction). However, during the life of an organism, environmental impacts, including exposure to genotoxins, could considerably alter this budget and decrease the

overall fitness of the individual. One model that could be used to describe how an organism adjusts its energy budget following exposure to a genotoxin would be a costbenefit model. This type of model might be applied not only to the individual in terms of how the cost of exposure effects fitness, but also to the population level in terms of the potential loss of genetic variability caused by that individual's decreased fecundity.

A recent study using the crustacean, *Daphnia magna*, observed that exposure to toxins (chlorinated pesticides and heavy metals) decreased the organism's ability to forage for food (De Coen and Janssen, 2003). Because the organism was not able to acquire the energy it needed, it increased the production of digestive enzymes to try to make more efficient use of the meals it had already ingested. Exposed individuals also began to feed off their lipid reserves. After 96 hrs. of exposure to the toxins, there was evidence that the Daphnia switched from aerobic metabolism to anaerobic metabolism. During this switch, more oxidative damage occurred as measured by DNA strand breaks. Using a mathematical model, the author's were able to correlate DNA damage with population effects such as Daphnia length, mean brood size and intrinsic rate of natural increase (De Coen and Janssen, 2003).

In general, migrating ecological populations will only receive acute, or short term exposure to contaminants; while, ecological populations that are less mobile would be exposed chronically to contaminants. Both types of exposure could result in similar population effects (increased mortality and potential population bottlenecks; also described as "unnatural selection" (Bickham, 1998)). Although, populations might be able to recover more rapidly from acute exposures once the stressor is removed. If a population is exposed to a toxic contaminant, those individuals within the population that are most susceptible to the effects of the contaminant could be selected against (i.e. they would die). Individuals with resistant genotypes would remain, although in most cases their numbers would be small. The reduction in numbers results in a population bottleneck. With fewer individuals contributing to the gene pool, deleterious recessive alleles could increase in frequency as a result of inbreeding. Further selection could decrease the expression of these deleterious genes, again decreasing genetic variability. A population that has genetically adapted to a contaminated environment could evolve (where the unit of selection is the individual, the unit of evolution is the gene and evolution is defined as change in gene frequency). This decrease in heterogeneity could be detrimental to the population during stochastic events such as disease, parasitism, seasonal and temporal changes, etc. When looking at populations exposed to toxins they could exhibit either increased genetic variability as a result of increased mutation rate, or decreased genetic variability as a result of population bottlenecking. Effects of decreased genetic variability could be masked by immigration of individuals from unexposed areas contributing to the gene pool. In the absence of immigration, the population size might begin to increase through reproduction, but heterogeneity might continue to decline. If the mutation load continues to increase, this could result in a mutational meltdown and species extinction (Bickham et al., 2000).

In addition to genotoxic affects, some compounds such as PCBs may disrupt endocrine function or also have teratogenic affects on a developing fetus. In the case of teratogens, the timing of exposure is critical for different stages of development. Certain compounds could disrupt the function of natural hormones, altering the normal formation of the reproductive organs of the fetus. Neurotoxic compounds may disrupt the normal formation of the brain and central nervous system. The resulting offspring (if they are not naturally aborted) may lack the ability to reproduce, or to develop normal adaptive behaviors. The decrease in neurological function could disrupt the offspring's ability to obtain food, secure matings, and (in the case of social animals such as humans and honey bees) contribute to social organization. These teratogenic effects could not only decrease fecundity in the parents, but could also decrease fecundity in their offspring. Often these less "fit" individuals are selected against. They either do not make it to reproductive age or they get eliminated by predators or disease. However, diminished reproductive output caused by contaminant exposure at the individual level has the potential to reduce the number of individuals within a population.

Anthropogenic endocrine disrupting chemicals include some of the chlorinated pesticides such as DDT (also heptachlor, dieldrin and aldrin) and the classes of

chemicals known as dioxins and PCBs. These compounds have high K<sub>ow</sub> values and, thus tend to partition to lipid stores within the body. Because these compounds are not readily metabolized and excreted, they have the ability to bioaccumulate and biomagnify through the food chain. Research conducted on the Great Lakes showed that PCB levels in the herring gull (a top predator) were 25 million times the concentration found in the surrounding water and sediments (Colborn et al., 1997). Predators at the highest level of the food chain tend to accumulate the greatest concentrations of chlorinated hydrocarbons. Chlorinated organics have been detected in a broad range of organisms at great distances from the source of production in industrialized countries. For example, animals in the remote arctic region including polar bears and seals carry heavy body burdens in their fat layers. Steller sea lions have some of the highest body burdens ever measured (Bickham, 1998). Beached whales in Puget Sound could be considered hazardous waste sites because of their heavy contaminant loads. Of particular concern is the mobilization of these compounds in lactating females. In order to increase offspring survival, mammalian breast milk is high in fat and nutrients. Unfortunately, bound to that fat are also these lipophilic endocrine-disrupting molecules which are fed to the offspring at levels which could be highly detrimental to their development. Children born to mothers who consumed an average of 2-3 meals of Great Lakes fish/month (high levels of PCBs) up to six years prior to conception were found to exhibit signs of neurological impairment as measured by both motor skills and cognitive function (Jacobson and Jacobson, 2003; Jacobson et al., 1990). Additional studies showed that women who had consumed moderate levels of Lake Ontario fish (equal to about 40lbs. of fish over a lifetime) bore children with decreased abilities to handle stress, and increased aggression (Colborn et al., 1997; Daly et al., 1996). These results are somewhat controversial and difficult to quantify. However, these studies do suggest that elevated exposures in ecological receptors may result in adverse health outcomes in a human population.

Research is needed to improve our understanding of the toxicity and potential for adverse effects in human and ecological populations exposed to complex environmental mixtures. The three independent projects performed in this research provide information on the genotoxic potential of mixtures as affected by biodegradation, the interaction of chlorinated and polycyclic hydrocarbons, and the ecological effects in organisms exposed to these compounds. The first project focused on the effects of biodegradation on genotoxicity of contaminated groundwater and surface soils. All complex mixtures are subject to some form of degradation (i.e. photo-chemical degradation or biodegradation) once they are released into the environment. Microbial degradation is one of the most common methods employed for the remediation of soils or sediments contaminated with petroleum or wood preserving waste (Wilson and Jones, 1993). During the degradation process intermediate metabolites form such as phenols, arene oxides, azaarenes, and dihydrodiols many of which have been classified as mutagenic, carcinogenic and teratogenic (Bleeker et al., 2002; Brooks et al., 1998; Brown et al., 1985; Shuttleworth and Cerniglia, 1995; Wilson and Jones, 1993). While these specific intermediates were not directly measured, the complex mixture of PAHs extracted from the soils and groundwater (including parent, intermediate and daughter products) were evaluated for their potential genotoxicity. The risk to both human and ecological health is minimal at this site since the contaminated groundwater and soils have been contained and the property fenced. However, prior to future land use it should be determined if the soils and groundwater have been adequately remediated to minimize adverse human health and ecological effects including genotoxicity.

Animal studies conducted using the extracts of sediments contaminated with PCBs and PAHs can be used to investigate the potential interactions of these chemical mixtures. Benthic organisms in contaminated sediments may be at the greatest risk to exposure to contaminants. However, contaminants in sediments may also be transferred to aquatic species higher in the food web and may also affect humans through ingestion of fish that came into contact with contaminants in sediments. Although the tests used in this research focused on measuring damage to DNA, mixtures of PAHs and PCBs could also impact the immune system, the functioning of the endocrine system, and reproductive capabilities. To support an ecological risk assessment, data are needed to

investigate reproductive effects in aquatic organisms and wildlife following exposure to these sediment mixtures.

The research described in Chapter IV of this dissertation provides the results from *in situ* measurements of exposure and genotoxicity. Data were obtained from environmental media and ecological receptors to investigate potential exposures and biomarkers of effects. The results from these studies were provided to regulators as a supplement to the standard ecological risk assessment. One of the challenging aspects of this research was selecting species that were abundant on site and at corresponding reference sites, and which ones could be successfully trapped. An initial survey was conducted by using site and sound to identify species in the area. Several rounds of trapping were done to determine which species could be successfully trapped to yield an adequate sample size. Seasonal variability was also a factor in terms of species activity. For example, the amphibians were most abundant during their breeding season in the warmer spring and summer months and were more likely caught after rainfall. The small mammals, however, were more likely to frequent traps during the colder, arid months when food was less abundant.

Temporal changes have also been shown to influence contaminant migration. During the warmer and wetter months, some organic compounds are more likely to volatilize with the heat. Rainfall can help to mobilize contaminants in water, soils and sediments, pushing them further into the environment from their source. Moreover, the uptake of contaminants into the food web by primary consumers can vary seasonally. Breeding individuals may also be more susceptible to contaminant exposure as they increase energy acquisition and build up lipid stores (increasing body burden of the lipophilic compounds) for reproduction and brood care. In general, environmental factors including temperature, rainfall, humidity, windspeed and wind direction will have a significant impact on the dose and duration of exposure on humans and other organisms.

#### **1.3 Contaminants of Concern**

Two of the most common classes of chemicals detected in the environment include the PCAs and PAHs. The physical, chemical and toxicological properties of the compounds within each of these classes of chemicals are appreciably different. Generally, the low molecular weight, unsubstituted compounds are more soluble in water and more readily degraded; while, the higher molecular weight, or more highly chlorinated compounds are more persistent but less likely to migrate through soil. Thus, if these contaminants are spilled onto a surface soil, the low molecular weight compounds may be leached into groundwater, but tend to degrade in the environment more rapidly. Whereas the higher molecular weight chemicals are less likely to be leached into groundwater, they are far more persistent in a surface soil.

## **1.3.1 Complex Mixtures**

Complex chemical mixtures may be any mixture of organic or inorganic chemicals that includes more than two components. Most complex environmental mixtures consist of several hundred chemicals. In many cases, less than half of the chemicals in complex environmental mixtures can be quantified. This is one reason bioassays provide a useful tool to measure the toxicity of complex mixtures. The research described in this dissertation has focused on complex mixtures of PCAs and PAHs. These chemicals are common contaminants of wood preserving sites and a broad range of industrial sites or areas contaminated with runoff from petrochemical processing areas. Although there are several hundred PCAs and PAHs, toxicity data are available for a small number of these compounds. Thus, this research has employed a battery of biological tests to facilitate an improved understanding of the potential interactions of the components of complex mixtures.

The risk to human or ecological health associated with exposure to a specific mixture of chemicals will be influenced by both the bioavailability and toxicity of the components of the mixture. Complex chemical mixtures may induce a variety of synergistic, antagonistic or inhibitory interactions. There are at least three potential

mechanisms that can alter the toxicity of a complex mixture. Transport across cellular membranes is a critical first step in the production of a toxic effect. In most cases, this transport occurs due to passive diffusion. A mixture of chemicals may inhibit transport (if the components are insoluble), or if the mixture includes solvents may result in an increased rate of transport. Components of a mixture can enhance the activity of Phase I or Phase II enzymes; or, in some cases chemicals can inhibit or deplete enzyme levels resulting in a reduction of chemical activation. In addition, the components of a chemical mixture may compete for binding sites on critical macromolecules within a cell. Depending on the strength and duration of the bond, this competition may result in an increased or decreased toxicity in comparison with exposure to a single compound.

One complex mixture for which a significant amount of animal and human data exists is cigarette smoke. Approximately 4,800 compounds have been identified in tobacco smoke, although it has also been suggested that the actual number of chemicals might approach 100,000 (Green and Rodgman, 1996; Rodgman et al., 2000; Wright, June 1956). Among these chemicals there are irritants, enzyme inducers, carcinogens and promoters. The irritants include chemicals such as acrolein, ammonia and formaldehyde. These compounds can damage cells and increase cell permeability to the other chemicals in the cigarette mixture. There are also percutaneous penetration enhancers such as glycerol and *n*-tetradecane that act by increasing the transdermal delivery of compounds in the cigarettes (Smith et al., 2004). The enzyme inducers are represented by nicotine and the low molecular weight PAH's. Phase I enzyme activity can be increased following exposure to these chemicals. Ingredients such as BaP, vinyl chloride, nickel, benzene, and other PAH's help to initiate carcinogenesis. PAH's and catechol enhance damage to tumor suppressor genes and oncogenes leading to abnormal cell proliferation, thereby promoting cancer.

The primary goal of the research conducted for this dissertation was to investigate the uptake and potential genotoxic effects of complex chemical mixtures. Complex chemical mixtures are released into the environment from a variety of sources including hazardous waste sites. These mixtures may enter the environment as combustion by-products, and as a result of industrial activities. In addition to cigarettes and cigarette smoke condensate, cooked foods are also an example of complex chemical mixtures. Components of chemical mixtures and their metabolites may be genotoxic to wildlife and humans leading to cancer and heritable gene mutations. Chemical analysis alone does not always provide the most comprehensive view of the fate and toxicity of these mixtures in biological systems. Current risk estimates assume that chemical mixtures will produce primarily additive effects. While this approach is designed to be protective of human and ecological health, it may not accurately reflect the other chemical interactions including potentiation, synergism, and antagonism. The use of microbial genotoxicity bioassays to screen complex mixtures provides a simple inexpensive tool to predict potential carcinogenicity. These methods coupled with chemical analysis provide the framework for understanding the possible toxic interactions of complex mixtures. In addition, in vivo experiments or in situ research can be used to provide information on the genotoxic potential of these mixtures in higher organisms. A testing approach that integrates chemical analysis with in vitro and in vivo assays provides more accurate information from which to estimate uptake and risk associated with exposure to complex mixtures.

PAH mixtures represent one of the most common sources of exposure for human and ecological populations. Cell culture studies determined that binary and ternary mixtures of anthracene, chrysene and benzo[a]pyrene (BaP) inhibited the metabolism of BaP, and were capable of reducing BaP nephrotoxicity (Falahatpisheh *et al.* 2004). Therefore, more data is needed to help characterize mixture toxicity. This could be done by using QSARs and QSTRs (as described in section 1.2.1 above), through the use of reconstituted mixtures of known chemical concentration (as was done in the Falahatpisheh *et al.* 2004 study), or by testing extracts of actual field samples. The approach taken for this dissertation was to test actual field samples. Although it is not possible to identify all mixture components in the field samples, the data are more realistic in the sense that no compound is left out in the analysis. However, with this approach comes difficulty in data interpretation. For example, extracts of sediment may induce an increase in genetic damage compared to the control. Chemical analysis confirms that there are elevated levels of carcinogenic compounds in the mixture. Unfortunately, without knowing all of the mixture components, one cannot correlate genetic damage directly to those carcinogens measured. There could be other unidentified carcinogens contributing to the damage as well as genotoxic metabolites not measured in the chemical analysis.

# 1.3.2 Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs)

The combustion of almost any type of organic material results in the production of PAHs. Complex mixtures of PAHs may contain hundreds to thousands of compounds (Cizmas et al., 2004b; Giger and Blumer, 1974; Nestler, 1974; USEPA, 2005f). PAHs are characterized as having two or more fused benzene rings in linear, cluster or angular arrangements (Wilson & Jones, 1993) (See Fig. 4 for representative PAHs). Seven PAHs, including the model carcinogenic PAH benzo[a]pyrene (BaP), have been classified by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) as probable human carcinogens (U.S. EPA, 2004a). BAP is considered a "model" carcinogen because its toxicity has been well-characterized including the ability of its metabolite benzo[a]pyrene-7,8,9,10-diol epoxide (BPDE) to bind to DNA. BaP is metabolized by a series of enzymes including cytochrome P450 (CYP) into the ultimate carcinogen benzo[a]pyrene-7,8,9,10-diol epoxide. It has been clearly demonstrated that this bay region diol epoxide, is capable of binding with the N-2 of guanine in DNA (Denissenko et al., 1996). If this binding results in the formation of a bulky adduct in the P53 tumor suppressor gene and the adduct is not removed, mutations might occur during replication or during transcription which could effect the functioning of this gene. Mutations in the P53 tumor suppressor gene reduce the ability of certain multicellular organisms to control cellular growth and may result in increased cell proliferation and the progression of tumor formation. Research suggests that the binding of BPDE to the P53 gene exhibits a direct etiological link between a chemical carcinogen and cancer (Denissenko et al., 1996). BaP is also the most studied of the PAHs and often selected as a surrogate

for other PAH compounds. When performing risk assessments, toxic equivalency factors (TEFs) are used as a way to measure the toxicity of a chemical based on how structurally similar that compound is compared to a reference chemical. For PAHs, this reference chemical is BaP.

One of the most common complex PAH mixtures at chemically contaminated sites is wood preserving waste. Depending on the nature of the treatment process, most wood-preserving waste contains creosote which is the oily by-product of making coke from bituminous coal. Creosote is routinely used to treat lumber used for railroad ties and telephone poles. Coal tar creosote is a complex mixture containing several hundred to possibly thousands of chemicals, only a few of which are present in amounts greater than 1% (Melber et al., 2004). Other wood treatment methods utilize diesel fuel and pentachlorophenol, or copper, chrome and arsenic. Typical wood preserving mixtures contain 85% PAHs, 2-10% phenolics and 5% O-, N-, and S- heterocyclics (Bedient et al., 1984; Nestler, 1974). Creosote alone is composed of six major classes of compounds: aromatic hydrocarbons, including PAHs and alkylated PAHs (which can constitute up to 90% of creosote); tar acids/phenolics; tar bases/nitrogen containing heterocycles; aromatic amines; sulfur-containing heterocycles; and oxygen-containing heterocycles, including dibenzofurans (Melber et al., 2004).

PAHs tend to be hydrophobic and bind to particles in the water column which sink to the bottom of lakes and rivers. Low molecular weight PAHs may evaporate from the soil and water and cling to dust particles in the air. The binding of PAHs (as well as other chemicals) to particulate matter is often expressed as the organic carbon partition coefficient ( $K_{oc}$ ). This is the concentration of a select chemical (such as BaP) in organic carbon versus the concentration of that chemical in water. Compounds with small  $K_{oc}$ values are less strongly adsorbed to soils and sediments and tend to move more freely



Fig. 4. Representative PAHs. Ones shown in bold and underlined are class B2 carcinogens per the U.S. EPA IRIS classification system (USEPA, 2005i).

with water. In general, PAHs are hydrophobic and have low aqueous solubilities. K<sub>oc</sub> values of PAHs are variable depending on their molecular size (Koudadoust et al., 2005). Because PAHs tend to be strongly adsorbed to soil particles (especially clays (Luthy et al., 1997)), desorption of PAHs from soil particles has been identified as a key component in their biodegradation. For the lower molecular weight PAHs such as naphthalene, volatilization is important for degradation. Abiotic mechanisms may account for 20% of PAH reduction in bioremediation (DeMarini et al., 1990). However, biotic mechanisms tend to be responsible for the removal of PAHs containing three or more rings (DeMarini et al., 1990). Of the biotic mechanisms, there can be a diverse amount of bacteria in soils contaminated with wood preserving wastes. Research by Mueller et al. found that many of these bacteria are capable of degrading a broad range of PAHs in soil (1991). Those bacteria in the Sphingomonas (formerly Pseudomonas) genus showed the most extensive degradation of 4- and 5-ring PAHs in creosote (Mueller et al., 1991). It was determined that degradation capabilities are associated more with members of specific taxa than with the type of soils from which the bacteria are isolated (Mueller et al., 1991). Futhermore, aerobic conditions are more favorable than anaerobic conditions for PAH degradation (particularly if higher molecular weight PAHs are present) at contaminated sites (Sharak Genthner et al., 1997).

PAHs are often grouped according to molecular weight (MW) with the low molecular weight PAHs (LPAHs) (128 to 203 gram/mole) exemplified by compounds such as naphthalene, anthracene, fluorene, and pyrene and the high molecular weight PAHs (HPAHs) (228 to 278 gram/mole) represented by compounds including benzo[a]anthracene, benzo[a]pyrene, chrysene and indeno[1,2,3-c,d]pyrene. Biodegradation, discussed in more detail below is the most important process in LPAH transformation and degradation (Neff, 1979). HPAHs tend to be more resistant to biodegradation than the LPAHs due to their low solubility, and high affinity for soil/sediment organic carbon. It is the HPAHs that are also known for their carcinogenic potential. Similar to PCBs, PAHs may bioaccumulate and reach higher levels in plants and animals than in soil and water (ATSDR, 1996). Mixtures of PAHs have been detected in surface waters, plants, soils, sediments and air. Studies conducted with creosote have shown that aquatic invertebrates and fish are particularly prone to the uptake of PAHs. Fish tend to metabolize creosote-derived PAHs better than aquatic invertebrates. PAH profiles in insects and crayfish are often close to sediment concentrations (Melber et al., 2004). In fish, PAH bioconcentration factors (BCFs) from exposure to creosotecontaminated sediments have been estimated to range from 0.3 to 73,000 (Melber et al., 2004). Although some PAHs degrade rapidly in aerobic environments, they tend to persist longer in oxygen-poor environments such as aquatic sediments (Neff, 1985). Due to the chemical structure of PAHs, they readily absorb sunlight, are sensitive to the effects of UV radiation, and may degrade by photolysis (Huang et al., 1995; Arfsten et al., 1996).

Human exposures to PAH mixtures such as wood preserving chemicals could result in irritation or lesions of the skin and eyes (Melber et al., 2004). Exposures may be accompanied by general symptoms including weakness, headaches, vertigo, nausea and vomiting. Workers exposed to creosote might also experience photosensitization of the skin (Melber et al., 2004). PAH exposures (primarily occupational) have been linked to several types of cancers such as scrotal and skin cancers (Carlsten et al., 2005; Gallo, 2001; Melber et al., 2004). Epidemiological studies also suggest that there is an increased risk for bladder cancer, lung cancer, and brain tumors from creosote exposure (Melber et al., 2004). However, these epidemiological studies were based on qualitative estimates of exposure instead of actual measurements (Melber et al., 2004). Extensive research has been done to determine the risk of several types of cancers in tobacco smokers (see Sasco et al., 2004 for review). In laboratory animals, PAHs have been shown to cause lung, stomach and skin cancers via inhalation, ingestion, and dermal exposures respectively (ATSDR, 1996). Animal exposures to PAHs in controlled laboratory and field experiments have been shown to cause reductions in growth rates (Meador et al., 2005; Melber et al., 2004) and impair reproduction (Donnelly et al.,

1990b; Hombach-Klonisch et al., 2005; Melber et al., 2004; Sverdrup et al., 2002a; Sverdrup et al., 2001). Additional studies have suggested that wildlife exposure to PAH contaminated environments could lead to an increased risk of cancer (Martineau et al., 1994; Pinkney et al., 2001).

#### **1.3.3** Polychlorinated Aromatics (PCAs)

PCAs inclue a broad range of compounds such as the polychlorinated dibenzofurans (PCDFs), diphenylethers (PCDEs), biphenyls (PCBs) and dibenzo-*p*-dioxins (PCDDs) (see Fig. 5 for representative PCAs). These compounds are industrial chemicals and by-products and are also ubiquitous environmental contaminants (Safe, 1990). 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (TCDD) is the most toxic PCDD and has been assigned a Toxic Equivalency Factor (TEF) of 1. The TEFs for all other dioxin-like compounds are established based on a comparison of their activity relative to TCDD (Safe, 1990). Included among the PCAs is also the compound pentachlorophenol (PCP). Technical grade PCP often contains PCDFs and PCDDs.

## **1.3.3.1** Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCBs)

Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) are a group of synthetic organochlorine chemicals that were widely used in industry for diverse purposes such as organic diluents, wax extenders, cutting oils, flame retardants, plasticizers, heat transfer fluids and dielectric fluids for capacitors and transformers (Safe, 1989) and for products such as cereal boxes and bread wrappers. They were commercialized as congener mixtures (Aroclors, Clophens, Kanechlors, etc.) depending on percent chlorination (Pereg et al., 2001). It has been estimated that as much as 1.4 billion pounds (700,000 tons) of PCBs were produced by the Monsanto Company between 1930 and 1970 in the United States (Safe, 1989).

During the manufacture, use and disposal of PCBs, and from accidental spills, leaks or fires in PCB-containing products, these chemicals made their way into the environment. By the late 1960's PCBs were actually detected in the environment, and rapidly became ubiquitous contaminants in the global ecosystem (Safe, 1989). Due to the stability and lipophilicity of certain PCB congeners, these chemicals were able to persist, bioaccumulate and bio-magnify through the food chain (Pereg et al., 2001). Carried by ocean currents PCBs found their way into the remote areas of the world including the tissue of Arctic polar bears, ringed seals, and whales, far from their point of



Polychlorinated biphenyl (X = H or Cl)



2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin



Pentachlorophenol

Fig. 5. Representative polychlorinated aromatics (PCAs).

origin in industrial nations (Bickham, 1997). They have been detected in air, water, soil, sediments, and wildlife, and also human blood, adipose tissue and milk (Safe, 1989). 'Open' uses of PCBs were discontinued in the 1970's, however, 'closed' uses of PCBs as fluids in transformers and capacitors were not discontinued until 1978 (Safe, 1989). Despite the discontinued use of PCBs in the 1970s, the structure of these chemicals renders them capable of persisting in the environment for centuries (Bickham, 1997).

Regarding the chemical structure of PCBs, two benzene rings of hydrogen and carbon atoms comprise a biphenyl molecule. This molecule is highly flammable. However, by substituting the hydrogen atoms for chlorine, the molecule becomes flame-resistant. The chlorinated biphenyls are a group of chemicals in which the chlorine replaces hydrogen. Those molecules containing more than 1 chlorine atom are named polychlorinated biphenyls. This flame-resistant characteristic of PCBs made them ideal for use with electrical products as flame retardants and electrical insulators. The biphenyl core may be substituted with 1-10 chlorine atoms, giving 209 possible congeners that may be formed (Pereg et al., 2001). There are lower chlorinated PCBs exemplified by Aroclor 1221 (21% Cl weight; 1.5 Cl/biphenyl) and higher chlorinated PCBs typified by Aroclor 1260 (60% Cl weight; 6.30 Cl/biphenyl) (Safe, 1989). The lower and higher chlorinated PCBs exhibit different physical and chemical properties. The higher chlorinated PCBs, particularly PCB 77, 126, and 169 are the most toxic PCBs known (Safe, 1984).

PCBs are metabolized into hydroxyl-PCBs and may be further conjugated with glutathione or transformed into reactive catechol and quinone products (McLean et al., 1996). The toxic effects of these chemicals appear to be mediated by binding to the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (Ah-R) / aromatic receptor nuclear transporter (ARNT) heterodimer (Klaassen, 2001). This complex enters the nucleus, attaches to the dioxin response element (DRE) and directs transcription of key enzymes (Klaassen, 2001). Through the use of *in vitro* <sup>32</sup>P-postlabeling techniques, it has been demonstrated that the lower-chlorinated PCB congeners have the ability to bind DNA (Oakley et al., 1996). Although, *in vivo* covalent binding of PCBs to DNA remains unclear (Whysner et al., 1998).

Human exposure to PCBs is primarily through ingestion of contaminated foods with high fat content such as meat, fish, poultry and dairy products (Schilderman et al., 2000). The adverse health effects in humans were first seen in populations from Japan and Taiwan that were exposed to rice cooking oil contaminated with PCBs, polychlorinated dibenzofurans, and polychlorinated quaterphenyls (Schilderman et al., 2000; Klaassen, 2001). One of the acute PCB exposure effects seen in these populations was chloracne. This type of acne may be distinguished from other acne forms by the progressive degeneration of sebaceous units and the keratinization of sebaceous gland cells (Klaassen, 2001). Those working with PCBs may also be occupationally exposed to these chemicals. Acute exposures may cause other skin diseases in addition to chloracne including allergic contact dermatitis, chemical burns, and irritant dermatitis (Klaassen, 2001). It has been postulated that these contaminants may affect a variety of organs, however, epidemiologic studies have failed to demonstrate an organ-specific illness in humans (Klaassen, 2001). Although, due to the endocrine disrupting ability of certain PCBs, they may interfere with multiple biological functions, exerting strong androgenic, estrogenic and antiestrogenic effects, which may adversely affect human reproduction (Hond et al., 2002). One of the most consistent effects of PCB exposure (primarily in animals) is immunotoxicity (Klaassen, 2001). One study investigated the rise of allergic diseases in industrialized countries and found elevated levels of placental organochlorine compounds and immunoglobulin E (IgE) in cord serum in humans living in industrial regions (Reichrtová et al., 1999). The elevated IgE could signal higher allergic sensitization in these exposed populations (Reichrtová et al., 1999).

Developmental and hormonal effects related to intakes of PCBs during pregnancy are a definite risk to women who are pregnant during exposure. These chemicals have the ability to cross the placenta and expose the fetus to the body burden of the mother (Winneke et al., 2002). PCBs may act through several different pathways, lowering thyroid hormone levels during fetal development, causing body weight and auditory deficits, and affecting neurobehavioral development (Winneke et al., 2002; Klaassen, 2001). The endocrine disrupting function of PCBs is largely undemonstrated in humans, however, the underlying studies strongly support the potential for such effects (Rogan & Ragan, 2003).

Chronic exposure to PCBs may have reproductive affects in humans, as well as carcinogenic and immunotoxic effects. There have also been reports of higher cases of atopic eczema in industrial regions exposed to high levels of organochlorines (Reichrtová et al., 1999). Most humans carry a significant body burden of PCBs in their adipose tissues (between 0.1-1.0ppm) (Safe, 1989). *In vivo* and *in vitro* animal studies show that PCBs are capable of forming DNA adducts. It appears that the lower molecular weight compounds have a greater ability to bind DNA. The more toxic, highly chlorinated biphenyls are poorly metabolized and exhibit low DNA binding (Safe, 1989). Occupational studies in humans suggest that some PCB-exposed workers may have an increased risk of cancer, but there are other studies that show no increased risk of cancer in workers exposed to PCBs (Safe, 1989). Additional epidemiological studies are needed to clarify the carcinogenic effects of chronic PCB exposure in humans.

In animal studies, PCB mixtures induce monooxygenase activity, particularly aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase (AHH), and ethoxyresorufin *O*-deethylase (EROD). The levels of these enzymes can be measured as biomarkers of exposure. EROD activity is an accurate indicator of CYP1A1 induction, and previous work with PCB congeners and commercial mixtures shows that the induction of hepatic microsomal AHH and EROD activities is one of the most sensitive indicators of exposure to an aryl hydrocarbon (Ah) receptor agonist (Safe, 1984). Immunotoxicity of PCBs may also be measured by antibody response. Some of the first general toxicity tests of PCBs indicated lymphoid organ atrophy and the reduction of circulating lymphocytes (Klaassen, 2001). A number of animal studies in rhesus monkeys, rabbits, mice, and guinea pigs have measured antibody response following PCB exposure (Klaassen, 2001).

PCB biochemical and toxic effects are highly dependent on the gender, species, age, and strain of animal used as well as on the composition of the PCB mixture (Harris et al., 1993). PCBs have been shown to be complete rodent carcinogens through oral

exposure (Mayes et al., 1998). The higher chlorinated PCBs may also act as promoters of carcinogenesis in rodents exposed to a variety of initiators (Safe, 1989). However, their ability to promote carcinogenesis does remain controversial (Safe, 1989). Recent studies suggest that PCBs may accumulate in the liver, kidney and lung of mice following intraperitoneal injection (Pereg et al., 2001). Using sub-cellular fractionation of these tissues, it was discovered that the majority of PCB compounds were found in cytosols and organellar pellets, with fewer amounts found in the nuclear pellets and microsomes (Pereg et al., 2001). There was no significant binding of the test compounds to DNA in the mice (Pereg et al., 2001). There were, however, high concentrations of PCB metabolites bound to protein in the liver which may suggest that that the proteins are acting as scavengers for PCB-derived reactive metabolites *in vivo* (Pereg et al., 2001). More studies are warranted to determine the carcinogen promoting effects of PCBs.

There are numerous wild and domestic animal studies looking at PCB exposures. For example, in 1999 there was a food contamination incident in Belgium where a mixture of PCBs was combined with recycled fats used in the production of animal feed. Chickens fed the contaminated feed showed signs of chick edema disease as well as a marked drop in egg production, reduced signs of egg hatchability, and increased mortality of chicks (Bernard & Fierens, 2002). PCBs can also reach high concentrations in wildlife, particularly Arctic predators such as polar bears and killer whales which have large amounts of blubber or fat and are at the top of the food chain (i.e. ingest the higher concentrations of PCBs). Pregnant or nursing sea lions transfer much of the contaminated fat to their offspring, exposing the young to higher levels of PCBs than the adult population. This occurs at a critical time in their development when they are most prone to the endocrine-disrupting effects of these chemicals (Bickham, 1997). The reproductive and immune toxicity of PCBs may have significant effects on population size and genetic variability in vulnerable species.

Although PCBs are ubiquitous contaminants, scientists are just beginning to understand the mechanism of PCB toxicity in humans and wildlife. Studies indicate the ability of PCBs to be both direct-acting carcinogens, carcinogen promoters, and even anti-carcinogens (Safe, 1989). These varying effects could be due in part to the use of different animal models, as well as genetic polymorphisms in the populations being studied. Further studies are needed to elucidate the role of PCBs in affecting ecological and human health.

#### **1.3.3.2** Pentachlorophenol (PCP)

Pentachlorophenol (PCP) is used as a pesticide and wood preservative. It is often applied in conjunction with diesel fuel to pressure-treat lumber. This substance has been found in at least 313 of the 1,585 National Priorities List sites. According to the U.S. EPA, as of 2002, approximately 11 million pounds of PCP were produced (U.S. EPA, 2005d). Humans and wildlife are usually exposed to technical grade PCP which often contains toxic impurities such as PCDDs and PCDFs (ATSDR, 2001). PCP is listed as a probable human carcinogen based on rodent studies. Oral exposure to PCP in mice showed an increased incidence of liver and adrenal medulla tumors in the males, and vascular tumors in the females (U.S. EPA, 2004a). In rats exposed to PCP by gavage, pigmentation of the liver and kidneys was observed. Liver tumors, pheochromocytomas and hemangiosarcomas were formed in female mice following oral exposure to PCP. Liver tumors and pheochromocytomas were formed in male mice following oral exposure to PCP. The hemangiosarcomas observed in the female mice are of particular concern because these types of tumors are "morphologically related to known fatal human cancers that are induced by xenobiotics" (U.S. EPA, 2004a).

#### **1.4 Toxicity Test Methods**

Risk characterization based on chemical analysis alone may not accurately predict the adverse effects of exposure to environmental contaminants. Chemical analysis may not be capable of identifying all of the components of a mixture. In addition, chemical analysis is unable to account for potential synergistic or antagonistic interactions of the components of a complex mixture. Thus, to reduce the uncertainty associated with risk assessment of complex mixtures, it may be useful to employ a battery of toxicity test methods. Standard risk assessment procedures assume additive interactions. While this is generally accepted as the most accurate method for risk assessment, it is possible that this assumption could over or underestimate the actual risk to an exposed receptor. Using toxicity test methods to assist in risk characterization provides more accurate information from which to estimate risk than when either chemical analysis or toxicity testing are used alone. Toxicity tests may include *in vitro*, *in vivo*, and/or *in situ* bioassays. *In vitro* bioassays include microbial or mammalian cells in culture and are useful for investigating the mechanisms of mixture interaction. *In vivo* bioassays provide additional information with regards to the pharmacokinetic interactions of mixture components. *In situ* measurements provide the most relevant data for risk characterization. However, interpretation of *in situ* bioassays may be complicated by population variability or a broad range of confounding factors (i.e., diet, other exogenous exposures, etc).

# 1.4.1 In Vitro Bioassays

A number of *in vitro* microbial bioassays may be used to investigate the genotoxic potential of chemical mixtures including the Salmonella/microsome assay, the *B.subtilus* DNA repair assay, the *E. coli* prophage induction assay, and the *Aspergillus nidulans* chromosome assay. These are only 4 of more 50 microbial bioassays that have been described in the literature. In addition, a number of bioassays using mammalian cells in culture have been developed. For example, the micronucleus test may be used to look for the presence of micronuclei (formed during cell division from either chromosomes lagging in anaphase or from chromosome fragments) following *in vitro* treated cell cultures (Kirsch-Volders et al., 1997); receptor binding assays may be employed to measure the binding affinity of a substance to a hormone receptor (Baker et al., 1999); the measurement of gap junction intercellular communication (GJIC) in various cell lines is useful for studying changes in cell to cell communication following exposure to certain xenobiotics (Salameh and Dhein, 2005); and the use of microarrays

allows researchers to look at gene expression following chemical exposure (Gant and Zhang, 2005). Although microbial bioassays are a quick and inexpensive means of investigating the carcinogenic potential of chemical mixtures, each system has inherent limitations. For example, the Salmonella/microsome assay ranges from being roughly 90% (McCann et al., 1975b) to 77% (Zieger, 1998) accurate for detecting animal carcinogens as bacterial mutagens, but is less accurate at detecting carcinogenic metals and organochlorines (McCann et al., 1975b; Rossman et al., 1984; Zeiger and Tennant, 1986). While the *E. coli* prophage induction assay is less sensitive to PAHs, it has been found to be sensitive to carcinogenic organochlorine compounds (Houk and DeMarini, 1987). Thus, for testing mixtures of PAHs and PCAs, the most accurate results may be obtained when using both of these microbial bioassays.

#### 1.4.1.1 Salmonella/Microsome Assay

The Salmonella/microsome assay was developed by Dr. Bruce N. Ames and validated in a study of 300 chemicals as a method for detecting animal carcinogens as bacterial mutagens (Ames et al., 1973a; Ames et al., 1973b; Maron and Ames, 1983; McCann et al., 1975b). The assay is a short-term bacterial reverse mutation assay that uses histidine dependent strains of Salmonella typhimurium. When studying histidine mutants of Salmonella, scientists found that some mutants contained base-pair substitutions and others had deletions of one or more bases (frameshift mutants). It was later discovered that these mutant strains could revert to wild-type (histidineindependence) in the presence of a mutagen and could be used to characterize and identify mutagenic chemicals (Mortelmans and Zeiger, 2000). Because bacteria lack the ability to metabolize xenobiotics using cytochromes P450, the inclusion of an exogenous mammalian metabolic activation system made the assay highly useful (Ames et al., 1973b). Certain carcinogenic chemicals such as the PAHs are biologically inactive unless they are metabolized to active forms. In humans and other mammals the cytochrome P450 system is present primarily in the liver and to a lesser extent in the lungs and kidneys. This system is capable of transforming a large portion of these

chemicals into DNA-reactive electrophilic forms. Some of these intermediate metabolites are potent mutagens in the Salmonella/microsome assay. To test the mutagenic potential of these indirect-acting mutagens, a rodent metabolic activation system (generally a 9000 x g supernatant fraction of rat liver homogenate (S9 microsomal fraction)) may be used in the presence of NADP and cofactors for NADPH-supported oxidation (Maron and Ames, 1983). Animals used to make the S9 fractions are often pretreated with a mixed-function oxidase inducer (Aroclor 1254) to increase the level of metabolizing enzymes in the final fraction. Other inducers such as phenobarbital, and 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) may also be used. However, research suggests that the type of induction is important for the metabolism of mutagenic chemicals and complex mixtures and can considerably alter the response in the Salmonella/microsome assay (Markiewicz et al., 1996). Aroclor 1254 induction is commonly used and is effective at helping to screen for the mutagenic potential of binary and complex mixtures (Markiewicz et al., 1996).

The tester strains used in the Salmonella/microsome assay have been manipulated to enhance their sensitivity towards genotoxic compounds. For example, the *Salmonella typhimurim* strain TA98 used in this research has the following characteristics and is capable of detecting the mutagenic potential of compounds that induce frameshift mutations (Ames et al., 1973b):

- *HisD3052* mutation eliminates enzyme metabolizing histidinol to histidine, results in inability to grow in absence of histidine; this mutation is a -1 frameshift mutation which affects the reading frame of a nearby repetitive –C-G-C-G-C-G-C-G sequence (Isono and Yourno, 1974);
- Bio, chlD, uvrB and gal deletions deletion mutations through the uvrB-bio genes increases strain sensitivity to chemicals producing DNA damage that is repaired by excision repair (deletion of the biotin gene makes the bacteria biotin dependent);

- Plasmid *pkm101* enhances chemical and UV-induced mutagenesis through an increase in the error prone recombinational DNA repair pathway (this plasmid renders the strain ampicillin resistant); and,
- *rfa* mutation defective lipopolysaccharide membrane increasing permeability of bacteria and sensitivity to higher molecular weight (bulky) compounds. In addition to these mutations, the bacteria also have a normal background level of spontaneous revertants (i.e. a certain number revert back to the ability to produce histidine on their own and form colonies). For TA98, this number ranges between 15-50 spontaneous revertant colonies per plate. In the presence of a known mutagen, the bacteria may also respond in a predictable manner. For TA98, a dose of 25 µg of 2-nitrofluorene without metabolic activation (-S9) results in the formation of more than 1,000 revertant colonies per plate; whereas a dose of 10 µg of BaP with metabolic activation (+S9) results in the formation of approximately 300 revertant colonies per plate.

To date, the Salmonella/microsome assay has been used to test a broad range of pure chemical compounds and complex mixtures (DeMarini, 1998; Mortelmans and Zeiger, 2000). It is often used as a screening tool to detect the mutagenic potential of new chemicals and drugs. Data from this assay is often presented to regulatory agencies for acceptance or registration of chemicals including biocides and drugs (Mortelmans and Zeiger, 2000). In 1975, McCann et al. published a paper describing the use of the Salmonella/microsome assay to detect carcinogenicity in 300 chemicals. The compounds tested included the following chemical classes: aromatic amines, alkyl halides, polycyclic aromatics, esters, epoxides and carbamates, nitro aromatics and heterocycles, aliphatics, nitrosamines, fungal toxins and antibiotics, cigarette smoke condensate (complex mixture), azo dyes and diazo compounds. Of the chemicals tested, there was a high correlation (90%, 156/174) between carcinogenicity and mutagenicity. Few non-carcinogens showed any degree of mutagenicity. The cigarette smoke condensate, a complex mixture containing PAHs, showed 18200 revertants/cigarette using the strain TA1538 (contains the same histidine mutation as TA98, which later

replaced TA1538 as a more sensitive indicator for some mutagens) (McCann et al., 1975b). As part of the U.S National Toxicology Program, numerous chemicals (301) (Ashby and Tennant, 1988; Ashby et al., 1989; Tennant and Ashby, 1991) have been tested in the Salmonella/microsome assay. These tests were performed using predictions of carcinogenicity based on structural alerts. The research revealed that some predictions of carcinogenicity disagreed with the Salmonella results. The majority of disagreements were for structural alerts for non-mutagens. It was suggested that a complementary assay be used when screening for potential genotoxic carcinogens. In general, however, the correlation between structural alerts and mutagenicity to Salmonella was predicted to be greater than 90% (Ashby et al., 1989). It is possible that some of the compounds tested fall into the category of non-genotoxic carcinogens (Weisburger and Williams, 1981) which act through epigenetic effects (such as DNA methylation).

Several complex chemical mixtures have also been tested using the Salmonella/microsome assay. This test has been successfully used to screen for the mutagenic potential of complex environmental mixtures such as wood preserving wastes (Barbee et al., 1996; Brooks et al., 1998; Cizmas et al., 2004a; Donnelly et al., 1987; Donnelly et al., 1995; Hughes et al., 1998), manufactured gas plant residues (Cizmas et al., 2004b; Randerath et al., 1999), sewage sludges (Donnelly et al., 1990b), agricultural soils (Brown et al., 1985) and other complex industrial wastes (DeMarini et al., 1989; White and Claxton, 2004). This assay has also been employed to investigate the mutagenic potential of binary mixtures of chemicals including BaP with PCP (Donnelly et al., 1990a; Markiewicz et al., 1996), BaP with 2-nitro-3,7,8-trichlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (2NTCDD) (Donnelly et al., 1990a), 4-nitro-4'-chlorobiphenyl with 6-nitro-4,2',3',4',5'pentachlorobiphenyl, 4-nitrobenzo-p-dioxin with 4-nitro-2,3,8-trichlorodibenzo-pdioxin, and benzo[a]pyrene with either nitropentachlorobiphenyl or nitrotrichlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (Donnelly et al., 1988).

#### 1.4.1.2 E. coli Prophage Induction Assay

Although the Salmonella/microsome assay has been used extensively for screening complex mixtures for mutagenic potential, there are certain classes of chemicals such as the chlorinated organics that are not detected well by this test (McCann et al., 1975b; Zeiger and Tennant, 1986). The *E. coli* prophage induction assay was developed to help detect the mutagenic potential of chlorinated organics (Houk and DeMarini, 1987). It was modeled as a complement to the Salmonella/microsome assay and, thus also employs the used of S9 fractions to induce metabolic activity. The assay was built from previous test methods which measured the prophage lambda induction in *Escherichia coli*.

In organisms, replication error rates are normally kept low through error avoidance mechanisms. However, there are some stress conditions that are capable of lowering the efficiency of DNA replication (Humayun, 1998). The SOS response in *E. coli* to DNA damage is an example of one of these stress responses. There are more than thirty proteins involved in the SOS response (Courcelle et al., 2001; Fernandez De Henestrosa et al., 2000). Two proteins are particularly important. The LexA protein acts by inhibiting the expression of SOS genes under normal conditions. In the event of DNA damage, the RecA protein inactivates the LexA repressor (Friedman et al., 2005; Sassanfar and Roberts, 1990). DNA damage resulting from chemical exposure or radiation can alter genetic information and cause the bacteria to go into SOS response.

A prophage is a latent bacterial virus (i.e. it does not cause disruption of the bacterial cell) covalently integrated into its bacterial host's chromosome. If the bacterium goes into the SOS response, proteins (such as RecA) within the bacterium inhibit the phage repressor and the phage goes from being in a latent stage to a lysogenic stage, begins to reproduce within the bacterium and causes the bacterium to lyse (releasing the phage). The prophage lambda is one manifestation of the SOS response in *E. coli* and may be evoked by a wide range of chemical classes. The *E. coli* prophage induction assay involves the use of a lambda lysogen strain (WP<sub>2</sub> $\lambda$ ) of *E. coli* as well as the use of the indicator *E. coli* strain TH008. During the microsuspension assay the

lysogen strain is exposed to the test chemical(s). If the chemical(s) have the ability to induce the SOS response in the bacteria by causing DNA damage, the cells will lyse and release phage into the media. Following incubation the lambda phage concentration is determined by exposing the indicator strain to the microsuspension mixture. Because the indicator strain is not resistant to the lambda phage, infected cells die and form plaques which can then be counted as a measurement of phage concentration and consequent mutagenic potential of the test compound(s).

Several chemical compounds including complex industrial wastes have been tested using the *E. coli* prophage induction assay (Houk and DeMarini, 1987; Houk and DeMarini, 1988). For example, the method was employed with chlorophenols (including pentachlorophenol). It was found that of the 19 isomers tested, the ones with one or no chlorine atoms *ortho* to the OH group were the most potent and those with two chlorine atoms *ortho* to the OH group were the least potent (DeMarini et al., 1990). These isomers were not mutagenic in Salmonella. It was hypothesized that the metabolism of certain isomers and subsequent formation of free radicals could cause DNA strand breaks resulting in prophage induction (DeMarini et al., 1990).

An additional twenty-eight chlorinated organics were tested which had been previously tested in the Salmonella/microsome assay by Ashby and Tennant (1988). The prophage induction assay had somewhat higher specificity than Salmonella (70% vs 50%), and detected six carcinogens that were not detected in Salmonella (DeMarini and Brooks, 1992). As in the previous study with the chlorophenol isomers, it was suggested that the *E. coli* prophage induction assay is useful for detecting some genotoxic carcinogens that induce certain types of DNA damage (such as the formation of free radicals) that do not revert the standard Salmonella tester strains (DeMarini and Brooks, 1992). Subsequent research delved further into the mechanism of prophage induction and found that whether the chemicals were poisons of the DNA gyrase subunit A, or intercalated in between the DNA bases and also formed reactive-oxygen species, the same type of damage was produced, i.e. DNA strand breaks (DeMarini and Lawrence, 1992). Similar to the Salmonella/microsome assay, the *E. coli* prophage induction assay has been used to screen for the mutagenic potential of complex environmental mixtures including wood preserving wastes (Cizmas et al., 2003; Cizmas et al., 2004a; Donnelly et al., 1995) and other complex industrial chemical mixtures (DeMarini et al., 1989; Houk and DeMarini, 1988). It has generally been used in conjunction with the Salmonella/microsome assay in order to more thoroughly characterize the mutagenic potential of these wastes.

# 1.4.2 In Vivo <sup>32</sup>P-Postlabeling of DNA Adducts

DNA adducts are formed when electrophilic chemicals or their metabolites covalently bind to DNA. These chemicals can be either endogenous or exogenous in origin. Of the endogenous adducts there are Type I compounds that may be functionally important or have a protective role, and Type II compounds that form oxidative lesions. DNA adducts are one of the most sensitive biomarkers that can be measured following exposure to carcinogens. If adducts are not repaired, gene mutations can develop during cell division. Accumulation of mutations can lead to cancer. Correlations between the levels of DNA adducts and tumorigenesis have been demonstrated (Poirier and Beland, 1994; Poirier et al., 1995). For example, a reduction in DNA adduct quantities using chemopreventive agents reduces tumor formation (Breinholt et al., 1995; Dashwood et al., 1998; Egner et al., 2003).

DNA is a polymer composed of monomer units called nucleotides. Each nucleotide is comprised of a nitrogen containing base attached to a 5-carbon sugar (deoxyribose) and a phosphate group. The nitrogen-containing base is either a purine (Adenine or Guanine) or a pyrimidine (Cytosine or Thymine). These nucleotides form the backbone of DNA and 2 complementary strands bind together to form DNA's double helix molecular structure. This helix is formed by non-covalent hydrogen bonding between complementary base pairs (ex. Adenine and Thymine are connected by 2 hydrogen bonds, and Guanine and Cytosine are connected by 3 hydrogen bonds). An adduct is formed when an electrophilic chemical is able to bind to a nucleotide. For example, the PAH, benzo[a]pyrene is metabolized into its reactive form, the bay region 7,8 diol-9,10 epoxide which has a high binding affinity for guanine. Oxidative damage may also cause DNA adduct formation. It has been shown that newborn mice have low levels of antioxidants in their systems and are less able to handle xenobiotics which cause oxidative damage (Zhou et al., 2004). Recent research has demonstrated that adduct levels from tumor tissues are lower than adduct levels in tissues adjacent to the tumor (Gyorffy et al., 2004). There are 3 hypotheses for this: 1) The tumor grows so rapidly that adducts are diluted, 2) The structure of DNA is changed and as a result has a low affinity for adducts, and 3) Phase II enzymes are upregulated in tumor cells and are better able to detoxify xenobiotics (Dr. Zhou, personal communication).

<sup>32</sup>P postlabeling is able to detect 1/10<sup>9</sup> adducts/nucleotide. This particular method is easy to employ because only 1-5μg of DNA are required. Human tissues such as blood from control and treatment populations can be extracted for DNA and the DNA <sup>32</sup>P postlabeled for adducts. Tissues from animal studies including tumor cells may also be analyzed using this method. *In vitro* studies with DNA (generally DNA from skin or lung is used because these tissues naturally have low levels of endogenous adducts) may be conducted by exposing healthy DNA to xenobiotics (with or without microsomes) and then by measuring the DNA for adduct formation.

#### 1.4.3 In Situ Techniques

There are numerous ways to test for toxicity *in situ* via the use of biomarkers of exposure. Some of the methods directly measure genetic damage (such as quantifying DNA strand breaks, and looking at cytogenetic effects and mutations). Whereas, other methods look at gene expression as measured by protein induction (such as allozymes). Below is a list of several biomarkers which can be used to identify the effects of environmental exposure in humans and wildlife.

- MICRONUCLEUS TEST: As mentioned above, this test looks at the number of cells containing chromatid fragments that have lagged during anaphase and have not been incorporated into either daughter nuclei after cell division (Schmid, 1976). These fragments form their own small nuclei. The number of cells containing these fragments (micronuclei) is compared to the total number of cells counted (roughly 1,000 cells are counted (Matson et al., 2005b)).
- COMET: This assay measures DNA strand breakage in individual cells (Singh et al., 1988). Cells are imbedded in agarose, lysed, and then run through electrophoresis using alkaline conditions. Fragmented DNA migrates away from the nuclei of the cells and toward the anode. The image is stained and the amount of fragmentation can be quantified. The further the DNA migrates, the greater the number of strand breaks (Fairbairn et al., 1995).
- EROD: Ethoxy-resorufin-*O*-deethylase (EROD) can be measured as a biomarker of P450 induction (Klotz et al., 1984). This is an enzyme that mediates the activity of CYP1A1 and is a parameter for aryl hydrocarbon receptor activation. Measurement of EROD is particularly useful for looking at the effects of PCB and dioxin exposures.
- SEQUENCE DIVERSITY: There are a number of methods available for looking at sequence diversity in genomes such as RAPD and the isolation and characterization of microsatellites (Bickham et al., 2000). The RAPD (randomly amplified polymorphic DNA) technique uses one (10 base pair) primer to produce DNA fragments that are analyzed using gel electrophoresis. The bands are dyed by ethydium bromide for visualization and banding patterns can be compared (similar to DNA fingerprints (Bickham et al., 2000)). This method (Theodorakis and Shugart, 1997) was used in a study with mosquitofish from radionuclide-contaminated sites to investigate genetic effects from contaminant exposure (Shugart and Theodorakis, 1998). The variability of the bands among individuals collected within the contaminated environment was compared to the band pattern seen in individuals collected from a control environment.

Homologous bands were seen in *Gambusia affinis* and *Gambusia holbrooki* exposed to radioactivity at two separate sites suggesting that these bands have an adaptive significance for exposure to radioactivity (Shugart and Theodorakis, 1998).

Microsatellites are non-coding regions of the DNA that tend to evolve rapidly and are highly polymorphic. These regions can be sequenced and the lengths of the regions compared between individuals within or among populations to determine genetic variability. This method is not specific to a particular type of contaminant. It is a population genetic marker that can be used to assess the potential genetic effects seen in a population as a result of contaminant exposure (Ellegren et al., 1997) or to other stochastic events.

- MICROARRAYS: Toxicogenomics is an emerging field that integrates the tools from genomics and bioinformatics to investigate genes expressed as a result of chemical exposure (Gant and Zhang, 2005). The tool used to perform these investigations is the microarray. The microarray is a number of target genes arranged on a substrate in an array formation. The array is capable of simultaneously gathering information on the expression and alteration of thousands to tens of thousands of genes in a biological system in response to xenobiotics (Cheung et al., 1999).
- LYSOSOME STABILITY: The lysosome is a cytoplasmic particle within plant and animal cells. It contains hydrolytic enzymes and is bound by a single unit membrane that acts as a barrier between the enzymes within the lysosome and the cell cytoplasm. If the membrane stability of the lysosome is compromised, the enzymes will leak into the cytoplasm and rupture the cell. Certain metals and organic pollutants are known to alter lysosomal structure (Koehler et al., 2002; Moore et al., 1984; Viarengo et al., 1985). The destabilization of the lysosome membrane can be measured in response to PAH (redox cycling/reactive oxygen species formation), heavy metal and organochlorine exposures and their interactions (Broeg et al., 2005).

Measuring blood & urine levels of indictor proteins or metabolites: Looking at
proteins and metabolites of certain xenobiotics in the blood and urine can be
indicators of contaminant exposure. For example, cotinine is a major metabolite
of nicotine and can be measured in human populations to determine smoking
status.

It should be mentioned that toxicity tests used in risk assessment generally look at changes in survival, growth and reproduction. The biomarkers of exposure described above are considered sublethal endpoints and may not directly translate to a physiological effect in an individual that disrupts survival, growth or reproduction. For example, some species carry many copies of the same gene. Following exposure some of the copies may be affected, while others remain perfectly functional. As a result, the organism may express certain biomarkers of effect, but exhibit no alteration in survival, growth or reproduction.

#### **1.4.3.1** Flow Cytometry

The primary *in situ* method used for this dissertation (Chapter IV) was flow cytometry. DNA that has been abnormally processed during cell division may potentiate irreversible cellular events (Shugart, 2003). One of the ways to measure this damage is by looking at chromosomal aberrations. During the cell cycle, when chromosomes are damaged, acentric fragments of the chromosomes may lag behind at anaphase. These fragments do not become part of either daughter nuclei, but instead form their own small nucleus. These are called micronuclei. The difference in DNA content among cells following chromosome fragmentation or rearrangement after cell division can be measured using flow cytometry (Shugart, 2003). This method has been shown to detect chromosome damage in a number of species exposed to complex mixtures of environmental contaminants (Bickham et al., 1988; Bickham et al., 1992; Bickham et al., 1994; George et al., 1991; Lamb et al., 1991; Matson et al., 2004; Matson et al., 2005a; Matson et al., 2005b; McBee and Bickham, 1988; Theodorakis et al., 2001). Moreover,

flow cytometry data tend to correlate well with petroleum products and specifically with PAHs (Bickham et al., 1998a; Custer et al., 2000).

# 1.5 Objectives and Specific Aims

The goal of these studies was to improve the accuracy of information employed to characterize the human or ecological health impact associated with exposure to complex chemical mixtures. While the research has focused on the toxic effects of mixtures isolated from Superfund sites, the data are applicable to any population exposure to mixtures. More specifically, a series of research experiments have been conducted to utilize biological testing to investigate genotoxic interactions of complex chemical mixtures. In addition, the results from biological analysis have been used to determine if chemical analysis accurately predicts the toxicity of complex mixtures.

The specific aims of this research include:

1. Monitor changes in genotoxicity and chemical concentration in complex mixtures undergoing bioremediation.

<u>Hypothesis 1:</u> Genotoxicity of wood preserving waste contaminated soil extracts as measured in the Salmonella/microsome assay will be correlated with levels of benzo[a]pyrene (BaP) and levels of carcinogenic PAHs in the soil extracts. <u>Hypothesis 2:</u> Genotoxicity of contaminated groundwater extracts as measured in the *E.coli* prophage induction assay will be correlated with levels of pentachlorophenol (PCP) in groundwater extracts; genotoxicity will not be measured well in the Salmonella microsome assay due to PCP cytotoxicity. <u>Hypothesis 3:</u> Bioremediation results in a reduction of contaminant concentration in soil and groundwater and a corresponding reduction in genotoxicity over time.

2. Investigate the genotoxic interactions of complex mixtures isolated from sediments using DNA <sup>32</sup>P-postlabeling *in vivo*.

<u>Hypothesis 1:</u> Genotoxicity of PAH and PCB contaminated sediment extracts as measured in the Salmonella microsome assay will be correlated with levels of

PAHs in the sediments extracts; genotoxicity as measured by the *E.coli* prophage induction assay will be correlated with levels of PCBs in sediment extracts. <u>Hypothesis 2:</u> PAH & PCB contaminated sediment extracts will cause DNA adduct formation in a 24hr. topical exposure study using ICR female mice; adduct levels will correspond with concentration of carcinogenic PAHs. <u>Hypothesis 3:</u> Co-administration of BaP and sediment extracts will result in increased levels of DNA adduct formation *in vivo*.

3. Examine the uptake and genotoxicity of complex mixtures in situ.

<u>Hypothesis 1:</u> Fish and amphibians collected from a contaminated area will have increased levels of genetic damage compared to reference fish and amphibians (as measured by flow cytometry).

<u>Hypothesis 2:</u> Genetic damage in fish and amphibians will correspond with contaminant concentrations detected in environmental media (sediments, surface water).

<u>Hypothesis 3:</u> Tissue contaminant concentrations in wildlife exposed to wood preserving waste *in situ* will correspond with measurements of genotoxicity.

# CHAPTER II GENOTOXICITY OF COMPLEX CHEMICAL MIXTURES IN SOIL AFTER BIOREMEDIATION

# 2.1 Introduction

In 2005 the United Stated Environmental Protection Agency made public its Toxics Release Inventory report for 2003 (USEPA, 2005a). Over 4 billion pounds of chemicals were released into the environment from more than 23,000 U.S. facilities in 2003 (USEPA, 2005a). The release of toxic chemicals has been an adverse consequence of industrialization and industrial production. Although many of these wastes can be treated, reused and recycled, certain land disposal activities have contributed to surface soil and subterranean aquifer contamination. Contaminants such as wood preserving wastes (WPW) contain hazardous constituents that are genotoxic. These wastes are also generally composed of complex mixtures of chemicals. Usually only a fraction of the components of a complex mixture from hazardous waste sites are identified and even fewer are quantifiable. Additionally, exposure and toxicity data are extremely limited. Short-term microbial bioassays, used in this study in conjunction with chemical analysis, are a more practical means of determining parameters of toxicity for complex mixtures than chemical analysis alone.

All complex mixtures are subject to some form of degradation (i.e. photochemical degradation or biodegradation) once they are released into the environment. Microbial degradation is one of the most common methods employed for the remediation of soils or sediments contaminated with petroleum or WPW (Wilson and Jones, 1993). During the degradation process intermediate metabolites form such as phenols, arene oxides, azaarenes, and dihydrodiols many of which have been classified as mutagenic, carcinogenic and teratogenic (Bleeker et al., 2002; Brooks et al., 1998; Brown et al., 1985; Shuttleworth and Cerniglia, 1995; Wilson and Jones, 1993). Remediation of the more refractory genotoxic compounds found in WPW often shows increased mutagenicity that remains for prolonged periods (White and Claxton, 2004).
The goal of this study was to determine whether measured chemical endpoints alone accurately reflect the genotoxic risk posed by exposure to a mixture of chemicals. One of the most difficult questions considered during the remediation of contaminated waste sites is "how clean is clean?" While biological degradation may be effective at reducing contaminant concentrations, little is know about the toxicity or genotoxicity of the products of degradation. In vitro bacterial mutagenicity tests were used to investigate the genotoxic risk of soil and groundwater collected from a Superfund site. At this site, both soil and groundwater have been contaminated with chemicals from wood-preserving waste. Creosote, is the oily by-product of making coke from bituminous coal and contains hundreds of compounds (USEPA, 2005f), over 85% of which are PAHs (Mueller et al., 1991). When mixed with other types of wood preservatives such as PCP and released into the environment, this complex mixture of wood preserving waste can contaminate soils and leach into aquifers. Contaminants of concern at the site include carcinogenic PAHs and PCP. The PAHs are a class of chemicals characterized as having two or more benzene rings. The higher molecular weight PAHs tend to be of most concern due to their carcinogenic abilities. There are seven PAHs that are currently listed as probable human carcinogens by the U.S. EPA (USEPA, 2005i). PCP is also listed as a priority pollutant. It is found in at least 313 of the 1,585 National Priorities List sites (USEPA, 2005h).

# 2.2 Materials and Methods

#### 2.2.1 Site History

The site investigated is a former wood preserving facility located in a relatively flat intermontane valley in the northwestern United States. This site has been contaminated with wood preserving waste including creosote and PCP. Chemicals were mixed with diesel fuel to extend their usage (USEPA, 2004c). During the wood treatment process, uncontrolled releases of creosote and PCP at several locations on site resulted from either disposal in unlined pits or spills. In 1979, shortly after private wells were installed, residents near the site began to complain of a creosote smell in their drinking water (USEPA, 2004c). In 1981 the USEPA confirmed contamination of the drinking water (USEPA, 2004c). In 1983 the site was placed on the National Priorities List (NPL) of Superfund Sites, and in 1985 the Principal Responsible Party (PRP) agreed to provide an alternate water source to those people with contaminated wells (i.e. they were put onto municipal drinking water). Full-scale soil and groundwater remediation began in 1991 (USEPA, 2004c).

The valley where the site is located is bordered by mountains. Deposits of both alluvial and glacial sediments and erosional material from the mountains characterize the complex geology at the site. Due to the complex stratigraphic system, contaminants have not been distributed uniformly in the subsurface. Consequently, locating underground contamination and predicting contaminant migration patterns is difficult (USEPA, 2005c). In order to address the hazard posed by contamination of the upper aquifer, an *in situ* bioremediation system for the upper aquifer was designed and constructed. A pilot-scale test was initially performed which consisted of injecting oxygenated water and nutrients into the aquifer to promote microbial degradation of PCP and PAHs (USEPA, 2005c). Results from this test indicated that this was a viable remedial technique for the contaminated aquifer. Figure 6 shows a map of the site including the bioreactor treatment building that was constructed to treat the groundwater, and also shows the soil treatment areas.

The bioreactor treatment building houses an oil/water separator (the current one was installed in 1999) which removes the non-aqueous phase liquids (NAPL) from the extracted groundwater (the two extraction wells are close to 75 feet deep; since 1997, well 1 has been the principal extraction well (Fig. 6)). Once the NAPL is removed, the dissolved phase of the contaminants is biodegraded in a series of bioreactors (Fig. 7). The bioreactors are two 10,000 gallon tanks filled with polyethylene media to support microbial growth. The bioreactor system was originally inoculated with an indigenous group of bacteria isolated from the extracted groundwater. Ammonium polyphosphate and urea ammonium nitrate are added to the process water prior to entering the first



Fig. 6. Site map of land treatment units and bioreactor facility (modified from USEPA, 2005b).





bioreactor as liquid nutrients for the bio-film bacteria. The bioreactors are maintained at a 22°C temperature and supplied with dissolved oxygen to stimulate microbial activity (USEPA, 2005c). The final effluent is then discharged to a rock percolation pad. Recovered oil (primarily the dense NAPLs) from the oil/water separator is shipped offsite to be recycled and reused by another wood treating facility (USEPA, 2005c). Since 1989 more than 19,000 gallons of WPW have been recovered from the subsurface (USEPA, 2005c). The bioreactors have been reported to maintain  $\geq$  80% efficiency rating for the removal of PAHs and PCP from the groundwater since operations began (USEPA, 2005c). The PAHs are primarily degraded in the first bioreactor. However, PCP requires degradation by both the first and second bioreactors. This suggests that the PAHs are more amenable to biological breakdown than PCP under the existing remedial system (USEPA, 2005c). The current target clean-up goals for total PAHs (tPAHs), carcinogenic PAHs (cPAHs), and PCP are 400 ng/L, 40 ng/L and 1000 ng/L respectively (USEPA, 1986; USEPA, 2005c). It should be noted that the target clean-up goals for PCP were changed from 1050000 ng/L in 1988 to 1000 ng/L in 1994 (USEPA, 2005c).

Contaminated soils have also been excavated and are being biologically treated at areas onsite. Soils were first treated in the waste pit area (see Fig. 6). This involved a closed-loop, bacteria rich groundwater injection and extraction system in the waste pit to remove and degrade contaminants adsorbed to the soils. These soils are further degraded biologically after transfer to the land treatment areas (Fig. 6). The land treatment units are maintained by weekly tilling and periodic irrigation to maintain soil moisture. In 1998 all of the soils in the waste pit (except 3000 cubic yards of highly contaminated soil) were placed on the expanded land farm treatment unit (ELF). The waste pit was backfilled with clean soil and rock. The remaining 3000 cubic yards of soil was placed on top of the backfill area and a proprietary amendment called X-19 was added. The soil from this X-19 cell was then covered with a plastic membrane. The contaminant levels in the X-19 cell soils have decreased dramatically since 2000. As a result, the U.S. EPA approved transfer of these soils to the ELF treatment unit (USEPA, 2005c). To date approximately 15,400 cubic yards of contaminated soil have been

treated to target clean-up goals specified in the record of decision (ROD) (USEPA, 1986; USEPA, 2005c). It is expected that the remaining soils in the ELF will take several years to remediate. The current remediation goals for cPAHs, and PCP are 88,000 ng/g and 36,000 ng/g respectively (USEPA, 1986; USEPA, 2005c).

## 2.2.2 Soil Collection

Surface soil samples (6 inch depth) were collected from one land treatment unit called the X-19 cell over 3 years. Sampling locations were based on a grid pattern laid out over the X-19. Twelve samples were collected at the X-19 once a year using precleaned stainless steel trowels and stored in 16oz. glass I-chem certified sampling jars (VWR Scientific). After collection, the soil was shipped to Texas A&M University following chain of custody protocols and stored at 4°C prior to extraction.

# 2.2.3 Soil Extraction

Soil extractions were performed on either a Tecator-Soxtec apparatus (Perstorp Analytical, Silver Spring, MD) or on a Dionex (Dionex Corp., Sunnyvale, CA) Model 200 Accelerated Solvent Extractor (ASE) using a 1:1 ratio of hexane and acetone (USEPA, 1996b). Approximately 30 g of soil from each sample was oven dried at 60°C for 16 hours. Ten g ( $\pm$ 1 g) of the dried soil was placed into pre-weighed thimbles for extraction. Following extraction, samples were transferred to pre-weighed sterile culture tubes with teflon-lined caps and dried under a stream of nitrogen. An aliquot of each sample was saved for the Salmonella/microsome assay, the *E.coli* prophage induction assay, and chemical analysis and stored at 4°C.

#### 2.2.4 Ground Water Collection

Organic compounds in contaminated ground water were collected using 2.5cm x 50cm glass columns (Biorad) packed with resin. The bottom half of each column was packed with 80cm<sup>3</sup> of XAD-2 resin (Supelco) and the top half was packed with 80 cm<sup>3</sup> of XAD-7 resin. The XAD-2 is a nonpolar polystyrene resin that is useful in sensitive

analytical procedures and identification of organic contaminants. The XAD-7 is an acrylic ester resin with an intermediate polarity that is capable of adsorbing phenols and other hydrophobic materials from water. Water was collected at two different locations at the facility. The first set of 3-4 columns was set up parallel to one another at the groundwater inlet prior to the oil-water separator. The second set of 3-4 columns was set up to collect the bioreactor effluent from bioreactor II (Fig. 7). Anywhere between 12 g to 63 gallons of water was allowed to flow through the columns for each sample. This variability was due to changes in flow rate as the resin adsorbed the contaminants as well as field conditions (power outages, cracked columns, loose connectors, etc.). Duplicate composite samples were taken from each location. Columns were shipped back to Texas A&M University on ice following chain of custody protocols.

## 2.2.5 Ground Water Extraction

Organic compounds absorbed on the XAD column were first eluted with 150mL of distilled water, followed by 150mL of acetone. Following the acetone, 300mL of methylene chloride ( $CH_2Cl_2$ ) was added to each column and the samples collected in pre-cleaned beakers. The majority of solvent was evaporated and the samples transferred to pre-weighed glass culture tubes. Aliquots were taken for the Salmonella/microsome assay, the *E.coli* prophage induction assay, and chemical analysis. The samples were then dried completely and the extract weight determined. The tubes were sealed with Teflon-lined caps and stored at 4°C until analysis.

#### 2.2.6 Salmonella/Microsome Assay

The Salmonella/microsome assay (Ames et al., 1975; Maron and Ames, 1983) was used to evaluate the mutagenic potential of the complex PAH mixture from the X-19 (2002 & 2003, see Gomez 2002 for X-19 Salmonella data from 2001) and groundwater samples (2001-2003). Extracts were tested in the presence and absence of metabolic activation in the standard plate incorporation assay (Maron and Ames, 1983). The S9 supernatant of homogenized Aroclor 1254 induced Sprague-Dawley rat liver was obtained from Molecular Toxicology, Inc. (Boone, NC). Positive direct-acting (2nitrofluorene (2NF): 25  $\mu$ g/plate), positive indirect-acting (benzo-a-pyrene (BaP): 10  $\mu$ g/plate) and negative solvent (dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO)) controls were included in each test to ensure consistency in TA98 sensitivity and S9 mix activity.

Soil extracts were resuspended in DMSO and tested on duplicate plates in two independent experiments at five dose levels (1.0, 0.5, 0.25, 0.1, 0.05 mg/plate). The plate incorporation assay includes approximately 1-2 x  $10^8$  cells, 50 µL of sample extract, and 0.5 mL of sodium phosphate buffer (minus S9) or 0.5 mL of S9 mix (plus S9) poured onto a minimal glucose agar plate. Plates were then incubated at 37°C for 72 hours. Revertant colonies were counted on an Artek Model 880 automated colony counter (Dynatech Laboratories, Inc.). An extract was considered mutagenic if the average response at a minimum of two dose levels was greater than twice the average response for the corresponding negative solvent control (Chu et al., 1981). Weighted activity of the X-19 samples was calculated using the following equation:

(net revertants/mg extract)(mg extract/dry g soil) = net revertants/dry g soil Water samples were converted to ng/L by taking the total residue weight (mg) divided by the total volume of water collected (reported as liters). This value was then multiplied by the ng analyte / mg residue.

## 2.2.7 E. coli Prophage Induction Assay

The *E. coli* prophage induction assay was used to screen for the mutagenic potential of the chlorinated compounds from the X-19 mixtures (DeMarini and Brooks, 1992; DeMarini et al., 1990) (2001-2003) and from the groundwater samples (2001-2003). This bioassay was chosen to obtain information about mutagenicity of the chlorinated compounds which the Salmonella/microsome assay might not be able to detect (Houk & DeMarini 1987). The tester strain *E. coli* lysogen WP2s $\lambda$  (*lon*<sub>11</sub>,*sulA*<sub>1</sub>, *trpE*<sub>65</sub>, *uvrA*<sub>155</sub>, *lamB*<sup>+</sup>), and indicator strain TH008 (streptomycin<sup>r</sup>) was provided by V. S. Houk (USEPA, Research Triangle Park, NC). The surface soil and groundwater sample extracts were each dissolved at 20 mg/mL in acetone. The bioassay includes both a microsuspension assay and a plaque formation assay. The microsuspension assay exposes mid-log phase WP2s $\lambda$  (~2 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells) to sample extracts. This was done in a 96-well microtiter plate (Corning) and samples were tested both with and without metabolic activation (± S9). Controls including a positive direct-acting chemical (2NF), a positive indirect-acting chemical (2-aminoanthracene (2AA)), a negative solvent (acetone), and media (supplemented VBMM) were tested along with the sample extract to ensure consistency in induced *E. coli* DNA damage and in S9 mix activity. The final concentrations in rows A to H of the microtiter plate were 2000, 1000, 500, 250, 125, 62.5, 31.25 and 15.625 µg/mL respectively. The contents of the plate were mixed using a vibrating shaker, covered with mylar and 2 layers of plastic wrap (Saran Wrap, Dow Chemical Co.), and incubated overnight (approximately 16 hours) at 37°C.

Following incubation, the microtiter plate wells were scored for turbidity, with turbid wells indicating cell growth and clear wells indicating cytotoxicity and/or growth inhibition. At least five wells adjacent to a clear well were sampled to determine the concentration of lambda phage. Fifty µL samples from the selected wells were diluted 1:100 in 5 mL VBMM. Next, 100 µL of the diluted phage and 200 µL of the log-phase indicator cells (TH008) were added to 2.5 mL top agar (0.65 Bacto agar and 10 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>). Overnight cultures of TH008 bacteria were grown in an incubating shaker until a concentration of  $\sim 2 \times 10^8$  cells/mL was achieved. After addition of the TH008 cells to the top agar tubes, the tubes were poured onto plates containing tryptone media (10g Bacto tryptone, 5 g NaCl, and 12 g Bacto agar per L of glass-distilled, deionized water and supplemented with streptomycin sulfate (100 g/mL) to select against the lysogen). Plates were inverted and incubated overnight at 37°C. After 24hrs., the plates were quantified by counting the number of plaques on each plate by hand on a Darkfield Quebec colony counter. All samples were tested in duplicate in at least two independent experiments. The induced plaque-forming units (PFUs)/plate was calculated by subtracting the average PFUs produced by the acetone control from the average PFUs produced by the treatment at the same concentration (DeMarini et al., 1990). A sample extract was considered positive if the sample induced a 3-fold or greater increase in

PFUs/plate and also induced a concentration-related increase (DeMarini and Brooks, 1992). If an extract was positive at only one concentration, or if a 3-fold or greater induction occurred but failed to show a concentration-related increase, the result was scored as a weak positive ( $w^+$ ) (DeMarini et al., 1990). Samples that did not induce a response three times greater than the acetone control at any dose were considered negative. Samples that did not induce a consistent response in two independent experiments were scored as a  $\pm$ .

#### 2.2.8 Chemical Analysis

Organic chemical analysis of PAHs and PCP was performed using a modified 8270C United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) standard method (USEPA, 1996c). Analysis was conducted on a Hewlett-Packard 5890 Series II gas chromatograph with a 5972 mass selective detector in selected ion monitoring mode. A 60m x 0.25mm ID x 0.25mm film thickness column (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA) was used. The injection port was maintained at 300°C and the transfer line at 280°C. The temperature program was as follows: 60°C for 6 minutes, increased at 12°C/minute to 180°C and then increased at 6°C/minute to 310° and held for 11 minutes for a total run time of 47 minutes. Data were reported as ng/mg dry extract for both the water and surface soil samples. The surface soil concentrations were converted to ng/dry g soil using the following equation:

(ng analyte/mg dry extract) (mg dry extract/dry g soil) = ng analyte/dry g soil Table 1 shows a list of the target PAH analytes including the seven carcinogenic PAHs described in the record of decision for the contaminated site (USEPA, 1986).

#### 2.3 Results

#### 2.3.1 X-19 Surface Soils

Table 2 is a summary of the biological response and chemical analysis data from each of the X-19 soil samples collected over three years (N=12 for all data except for 2002 where chemical analysis was performed on an N=11). In general, the samples tested positive in the Salmonella/microsome assay (+S9) all three years and exhibited a clear mutagenic response with increased concentration (Fig. 8). Only sample 1 in 2001 was weakly positive minus S9 (data not shown). In 2003, the samples on average had a positive mutagenic response (+S9). However, this response was lower than the average response from 2002 (Fig. 8). The Salmonella/microsome assay is effective at detecting the mutagenicity of PAHs. When comparing the carcinogenic PAHs (cPAHs) with the Salmonella/microsome assay, the response was variable. Sample extracts showed a lower average concentration of cPAHs from 2001 to 2002 (101000 ng/dry g soil to 52100 ng/dry g soil respectively) and about a 20-fold increase in average cPAH concentration from 2002 to 2003 (52100 ng/dry g soil to 1070000 ng/dry g soil respectively) (Fig. 9). Based on these values, a stronger mutagenic response would be expected in the Salmonella/microsome assay between 2002 and 2003. Instead, the opposite was seen with fewer average revertants/plate at each dose level in 2002 compared to 2003 (Fig. 8). This is likely due to cytotoxicity from both the elevated PAH concentrations and PCP concentrations in the samples collected in 2003. Cytotoxicity is evident in the slightly lower average revertants/plate shown at the 2.5 mg/plate concentration compared to the 1.0 mg/plate concentration in 2003 (Fig. 8). When looking at the weighted activity of the X-19 soil samples in the Salmonella microsome assay, the net revertants/dry g soil did show a decline in mutagenicity over time (Fig. 10).

Naphthalene	Acenaphthylene	C1-Phenanthrene/Anthracenes	C1-Fluoranthenes/Pyrenes	C2-Chrysenes
C1-Naphthalenes	Acenaphthene	C2-Phenanthrene/Anthracenes	C2-Fluoranthenes/Pyrenes	C3-Chrysenes
C2-Naphthalenes	Dibenzofuran	C3-Phenanthrene/Anthracenes	C3-Fluoranthenes/Pyrenes	C4-Chrysenes
C3-Naphthalenes	Fluorene	C4-Phenanthrene/Anthracenes	Naphthobenzothiophene	Benzo(b)fluoranthene
C4-Naphthalenes	C1-Fluorenes	Dibenzothiophene	C1-Naphthobenzothiophenes	<b>Benzo(k)fluoranthene</b>
Benzothiophene	C2-Fluorenes	C1-Dibenzothiophenes	C2-Naphthobenzothiophenes	Benzo(e)pyrene
C1-Benzothiophenes	C3-Fluorenes	C2-Dibenzothiophenes	C3-Naphthobenzothiophenes	Benzo(a)pyrene
C2-Benzothiophenes	Carbazole	C3-Dibenzothiophenes	Benz(a)anthracene	Perylene
C3-Benzothiophenes	Anthracene	Fluoranthene	Chrysene	Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene
Biphenyl	Phenanthrene	Pyrene	C1-Chrysenes	<u>Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene</u>
				Benzo(g,h,i)perylene

Table 1. List of total target PAH analytes screened in the X-19 surface soil and groundwater chemical analysis.

**Bold/underline** denotes the carcinogenic PAHs per the U.S. EPAs IRIS database (USEPA, 2005i)

The *E. coli* prophage induction assay is effective at screening for the mutagenic potential of chlorinated compounds. The results from this assay using the X-19 surface soil extracts are also variable from year to year. Fig. 11 shows the three concentrations consistently tested in the E. coli prophage induction assay over the three year period for all sample extracts tested with metabolic activation (+S9). In 2001, the samples on average did not show a mutagenic response (Fig. 11). However, the 2001 samples did show a consistent elevated fold increase with increasing sample concentration (Fig. 11). In 2002, half of the samples had a weak positive response (Table 2) and on average were weakly positive (Fig. 11). Despite half the samples in 2003 also having a weak mutagenic response (Table 2), the samples on average were consistently mutagenic at all three concentration levels reported (Fig. 11). These findings are in keeping with the chemical concentrations of PCP in the samples. Average PCP concentrations increased from 2001 to 2003 (Fig. 9) and mutagenic response in the E. coli prophage induction assay also increased from 2001 to 2003 (Fig. 11). However, the PCP concentrations roughly doubled from year to year and the mutagenic response did not reflect this trend. This suggests that mixture interactions are affecting the mutagenic potential of these samples. Without metabolic activation (-S9), sample 6 in 2001, sample 23 in 2002, and samples 26-29 in 2003 were weakly positive in the E. coli prophage induction assay; all other samples were negative or produced an inconsistent (+) response (data not shown). It would seem that from this response that the samples contain some direct-acting mutagens. The majority of samples in 2001 exceeded the target remediation levels (clean-up goals) for cPAHs and PCP; only one sample in 2002 exceeded the remediation goal for cPAHs whereas all samples were above the goal for PCP; all samples in 2003 were above remediation goals for cPAHs and PCP (Table 2).

Table 2. Summary of X-19 data from 2001-2003 including microbial bioassay results and chemical analysis.

	PCP	ng/dry g soil	181000	325000	238000	236000	260000	276000	-	330000	186000	210000	182000	169000	236000	
Analysis	BaP	ng/dry g soil	15200	21100	17500	17400	20200	17200		21500	15000	17700	16800	17400	006/1	
Chemical A	cPAHs	ng/dry g soil	71000	143000	112000	91300	98800	10800	NA	138000	80700	89800	94500	87200	101000	
	tPAHs	ng/dry g soil	366000	772000	595000	382000	449000	737000		774000	540000	549000	619000	525000	573000	
	(6)	Total Response	+1	***	+	****	+1	+		+	+	+1	+1	***	+1	
esponse	<sup>b</sup> E. coli (+S	PFU/plate, 250 μg/mL conc. (2 experiments)	68/32	59/54	66/75	55/128	6/80	65/188	29/36	155/58	78/139	36/73	50/60	22/55	63/82	
<b>Biological R</b>	(65	Total Response	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
	<sup>a</sup> Salmonella (+9	Mean revertants/plate <u>+ SD</u> *, 0.5mg/plate conc.	$109 \pm 5$	88 <u>+</u> 4	$92 \pm 11$	$124 \pm 7$	98 <u>+</u> 4	$103 \pm 4$	$91 \pm 6$	$115 \pm 8$	$107 \pm 7$	$102 \pm 4$	$114 \pm 7$	95 <u>+</u> 8	103 ± 6	
	Year	Collected	2001	23	33	22	33	33	3	23	3	3	33	23	<b>VERAGES</b>	
	Sample	Number	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	6	10	11	12	V	

69

SEM.

_
· •
(1)
<u> </u>
2
-
· -
<u> </u>
$\circ$
<b>(</b> )
<u> </u>
~ .
$\sim$
2
0
le 2
ole 2
ble 2
able 2

		PCP	ng/dry g soil	568000	800000	654000	604000	577000	682000	602000	747000	41600	800000	474000	359000	276000
	Analysis	BaP	ng/dry g soil	10400	15500	11700	13700	10700	16700	14900	23800	1850	20200	9310	8820	13100
	Chemical A	cPAHs	ng/dry g soil	39600	64700	47800	52700	42700	71800	60100	91500	7410	77400	36700	33200	52100
		tPAHs	ng/dry g soil	165000	281000	205000	209000	162000	295000	218000	312000	24000	365000	172000	118000	210000
		(6S	Total Response	$\mathbf{W}^+$	+	$\mathbf{W}^+$	$\mathbf{W}^+$	$\mathbf{W}^+$	$\mathbf{W}^+$	+	**************************************	+	+	+	+	+1
	sponse	<sup>b</sup> E. coli (+	PFU/plate, 250 μg/mL conc. (2 experiments)	136/122	134/115	71/79	143/88	128/80	116/65	90/95	172/70	84/75	123/62	223/136	83/100	125/91
	iological Re	S9)	Total Response	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+1	+	+	+	+	+
	B	<sup>a</sup> Salmonella (+)	Mean revertants/plate <u>+</u> SEM, 0.5mg/plate conc.	78 <u>+</u> 5	83 <u>+</u> 9	$102 \pm 11$	$93 \pm 7$	$92 \pm 4$	$93 \pm 7$	$106 \pm 7$	85 <u>+</u> 9	$91 \pm 8$	87 <u>+</u> 4	$99 \pm 5$	87 <u>+</u> 5	164 <del>+</del> 7
inued.		Year	Collected	2002	>>	>>	>>	"	>>	23	>>	>>	23	>>	23	AGES
Table 2 cont		Sample	Number	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	AVER

Table 2 continued.

			Biological	Response			Chemical	Analysis	
Sample	Year	<sup>a</sup> Salmonella (	(+S9)	<sup>b</sup> E. coli (-	+S9)	tPAHs	cPAHs	BaP	PCP
Number	Collected	Mean revertants/ plate <u>+</u> SEM,	Total	PFU/plate, 250 μg/mL conc.	Total	ng/dry g	ng/dry g	ng/dry g	ng/dry g
		0.5mg/plate conc.	Kesponse	(2 experiments)	Kesponse	2011	8011	2011	801
25	2003	73 <u>+</u> 9	'	157/76	**************************************	1450000	282000	65900	462000
26	"	65 <u>+</u> 8	1	159/30	+	1200000	747000	176000	1390000
27	33	$69 \pm 11$	+1	116/151	***	1610000	937000	203000	1530000
28	>>	80 ± 5	+	134/111	**************************************	2170000	963000	200000	1750000
29	>>	82 <u>+</u> 6	+1	177/157	***	3310000	1500000	317000	1540000
30	33	$71 \pm 6$		146/154	****	2720000	1340000	242000	2100000
31	>>	82 <u>+</u> 9	+	56/72	+	1770000	1060000	237000	2070000
32	27	81 <u>+</u> 4	+	31/52	****	1930000	964000	228000	1440000
33	>>	93 <u>+</u> 7	+	83/71	+	3730000	1250000	239000	969000
34	>>	$103 \pm 5$	+	54/51	+	1720000	703000	148000	1340000
35	>>	$110 \pm 10$	+	44/93	+	2690000	1380000	301000	2000000
36	22	95 <u>+</u> 3	+	46/34	+	842000	1720000	410000	2080000
AVE	RAGES	84 <u>+</u> 7	+1	88/001	+1	2090000	1070000	230000	1560000
a + = # rever	tants/nlate $> 3x^{2}$	's the solvent control fc	or 2 consecuti	ve doses in 2 indene	ndent exnerime	ents: $w^+ = \# re$	vertants/nlat	e > 3x's the su	olvent

control for 1 dose or non-consecutive doses in 2 independent experiments; - = # revertants/plate < 2x's solvent control at all doses in 2 independent

experiments;  $\pm$  = sample failed to induce a consistent positive or negative response in 2 independent experiments. <sup>b</sup> + = PFUs/plate  $\ge$  3x's the solvent control for 2 consecutive doses in 2 independent experiments; w<sup>+</sup> = PFUs/plate  $\ge$  3x's the solvent control for 1 dose or non-consecutive doses in 2 independent experiments;  $\pm$  = PFUs/plate  $\ge$  3x's the solvent control for 1 dose or non-consecutive doses in 2 independent experiments;  $\pm$  = PFUs/plate  $\ge$  3x's the solvent control for 1 dose or non-consecutive doses in 2 independent experiments;  $\pm$  = PFUs/plate  $\ge$  3x's the solvent control for 1 dose or non-consecutive doses in 2 independent experiments;  $\pm$  = sample failed to induce a consistent positive or negative response in 2 independent experiments. Bold denotes soil concentrations that are above the record of decision concentrations for cPAHs (88000 ng/g) and PCP (36000 ng/g).



Surface Soil Extract Dose (mg/plate)

Fig. 8. Microbial mutagenicity as measured in *S. typhimurium* strain TA98 with metabolic activation, of extracts of X-19 surface soils (N=12/year) over two years. The averaged data show a positive mutagenic response ( $\geq$  71 total revertants/plate) for these samples (dashed line). Data are presented as mean total revertants/plate  $\pm$  SEM.



Fig. 9. Mean concentration of carcinogenic PAHs (cPAHs) and PCP in X-19 surface soil samples collected over three years (2001 N=11, 2002 and 2003 N=12). Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM



Fig. 10. Weighted activity of X-19 surface soil samples collected from 2001-2003. Net revertants were calculated by subtracting the total revertants for the solvent control from the total revertants for each sample. Weighted activity was calculated by taking the average net revertants/1 mg residue x the average mg residue/g soil for each year (N=12 for each year). Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM.



Fig. 11. Microbial mutagenicity as measured in the *E. coli* prophage induction assay with metabolic activation, of X-19 surface soil extracts over three years. Fold increase = # plaque forming units (PFUs) per sample / # PFUs for the solvent control. A fold increase of  $\geq$  3 (dashed line) for two or more doses was considered a positive mutagenic response. Data are presented as the mean fold increase  $\pm$  SEM.

# 2.3.2 Water Samples

Water samples were collected from two locations in the bioreactor treatment facility onsite. Table 3 shows a summary of the biological response and chemical analysis for the duplicate samples collected from the groundwater influent (GW) and the samples collected from the bioreactor effluent (BE) over three years. The groundwater samples showed an average decline in mutagenic response (+S9) as tested in the Table 3. Summary of contaminated water data from 2001-2003 including microbial bioassay results and chemical analysis (GW = groundwater, BE = bioreactor effluent).

$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	59) Total Response + + +	<sup>b</sup> E. coli (+9 <u>PFU/plate</u> , 125 μg/mL cone. (2 experiments) 248/723	59) Total	tPAHs	cPAHs	BaP	PCP
Collected         Mean revertants/plate $\pm$ SEM, $\pm$ SEM, $1 \text{ mg/plate conc.}$ $1 \text{ mg/plate conc.}$ $2001$ $49 \pm 3$ $2002$ $80 \pm 9$ $2002$ $80 \pm 9$ $2003$ $59 \pm 13$ $2003$ $44 \pm 9$ $2003$ $71 \pm 8$ $2003$ $59 \pm 13$ $2003$ $74 \pm 9$ $2003$ $55 \pm 3$ $2001$ $76 \pm 13$ $2001$ $76 \pm 13$ $2002$ $64 \pm 4$	Total Response + + + +	PFU/plate, 125 µg/mL conc. (2 experiments) 248/723	Total				
$2001$ $49\pm3$ $2001$ $71\pm8$ $71\pm8$ $2002$ $80\pm9$ $2003$ $59\pm13$ $2003$ $44\pm9$ $2003$ $44\pm9$ $76\pm13$ $2001$ $76\pm13$ $2001$ $76\pm13$ $2002$ $64\pm4$	+1 +1 ++ ++	248/723	kesponse	ng/L	ng/L	ng/L	ng/L
$71 \pm 8$ $2002$ $80 \pm 9$ $2002$ $80 \pm 9$ $59 \pm 13$ $59 \pm 13$ $2003$ $44 \pm 9$ $2003$ $55 \pm 3$ $55 \pm 3$ $55 \pm 3$ $2001$ $76 \pm 13$ $2001$ $76 \pm 13$ $2002$ $64 \pm 4$	+1 + +		+	16000000	321000	47000	5450000
$2002$ $80 \pm 9$ $59 \pm 13$ $59 \pm 13$ $2003$ $44 \pm 9$ $2003$ $55 \pm 3$ $55 \pm 3$ $55 \pm 3$ $2001$ $76 \pm 13$ $2001$ $76 \pm 13$ $2002$ $64 \pm 4$	+ &	10//140	+	12100000	208000	21000	1810000
$59\pm13$ $2003$ $54\pm9$ $2003$ $44\pm9$ $55\pm3$ $55\pm3$ $2001$ $76\pm13$ $76\pm13$ $53\pm5$ $2002$ $64\pm4$	+	535/721	+	1170000	21100	1200	000269
$2003$ $44\pm9$ $55\pm3$ $55\pm3$ $2001$ $76\pm13$ $53\pm5$ $53\pm5$ $2002$ $64\pm4$	ļ	427/805	+	1150000	24300	2000	647000
$55 \pm 3$ $55 \pm 3$ $2001$ $76 \pm 13$ $53 \pm 5$ $53 \pm 5$ $2002$ $64 \pm 4$	I	398/256	+	1430000	16200	1900	000926
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	ı	1076/534	+	1260000	20200	2300	770000
$ \begin{array}{c} 53 \pm 5 \\ 2002 \\ 64 \pm 4 \end{array} $	+1	104/59	+	170000	6210	800	59600
2002 $64\pm4$	+1	99/25	+1	4390000	92400	13000	2360000
	I	38/74	+1	52000	390	80	42300
$78 \pm 4$	I	56/56	+1	64000	360	60	5400
2003 54±5	I	175/123	+	00099	130	20	63000
52 ± 7	I	876/898	+	2210000	41400	4600	1450000

non-consecutive doses in 2 independent experiments; - = # revertants/plate < 2x's solvent control at all doses in 2 independent experiments;  $\pm =$  sample failed to

induce a consistent positive or negative response in 2 independent experiments.  $^{b} + = PFUs/plate \ge 3x$ 's the solvent control for 2 consecutive doses in 2 independent experiments;  $w^{+} = PFUs/plate \ge 3x$ 's the solvent control for 1 dose or non-consecutive doses in 2 independent experiments; - = PFUs/plate < 3x's the solvent control for all doses in 2 independent experiments;  $\pm =$  sample failed to induce a consistent positive or negative response in 2 independent experiments. **Bold** denotes water concentrations that are above the record of decision concentrations for tPAHs (400 ng/L), cPAHs (40 ng/L) and PCP (1000 ng/L).



Groundwater Extract Concentration (mg/plate)

Fig. 12. Microbial mutagenicity as measured in *S. typhimurium* strain TA98 with metabolic activation, of extracts of groundwater collected from a contaminated aquifer over a three year period. The averaged data show only a weak positive mutagenic response ( $\geq$  76 total revertants/plate) for these samples. Data are presented as mean total revertants/plate <u>+</u> SEM.

Salmonella/microsome assay from 2001 to 2003 (Fig. 12). Revertants/plate increased with increasing sample concentration from 0.1 to 0.5 mg/plate (Fig. 12). At concentrations 1.0 and 2.5 mg/plate, cytotoxicity was observed. The decrease in average mutagenicity of the samples over three years was consistent with a decline in cPAHs in these samples from 2001 to 2003 (Fig. 13). Only sample GW-3 in 2002 was weakly positive without metabolic activation. All other groundwater samples were negative without metabolic activation (data not shown). The weighted activity of the groundwater samples also decreased from 2001 to 2003 (Fig. 14)

Results from the *E. coli* prophage induction assay showed a consistent positive mutagenic response for the groundwater samples all three years (+S9) (Table 3 and Fig. 15). Average PCP concentrations were highly variable from year to year as was the response in the *E. coli* prophage induction assay (Fig. 13 and Fig. 15). Samples GW-1 was weakly mutagenic in this assay without metabolic activation; all other samples showed either a negative or inconsistent ( $\pm$ ) response without S9 added (data not shown).



Fig. 13. Mean concentration of carcinogenic PAHs (cPAHs) and PCP in groundwater samples collected from a contaminated aquifer over three years. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM.



Fig. 14. Weighted activity of groundwater samples collected from 2001-2003. Net revertants were calculated by subtracting the total revertants for the solvent control from the total revertants for each sample. Weighted activity was calculated by taking the average net revertants/1 mg residue x the average mg residue/L water for each year (N=2 for each year). Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM.



Fig. 15. Microbial mutagenicity as measured in the *E. coli* prophage induction assay with metabolic activation, of extracts of groundwater collected from a contaminated aquifer over a three year period. The fold increase = # plaque forming units (PFUs) per sample / # PFUs for the solvent control. A fold increase of  $\geq$  3 (dashed line) for two or more doses is considered a positive mutagenic response. Data are presented as the mean fold increase  $\pm$  SEM.

With the exception of BE 2 and BE 6, the water samples collected from the bioreactor effluent were lower in chemical concentration compared to the groundwater samples (Table 3). However, all water samples exceeded the remediation goals for tPAHs, cPAHs and PCP (Table 3). Chemical concentration varied from year to year with 2001 showing the most elevated levels of all chemicals including cPAHs and PCP (Table 3, Fig. 16). The bioreactor effluent samples were not mutagenic in the Salmonella/microsome assay with or without metabolic activation (Fig. 17 shows the

+S9 data). Weighted activity of the bioreactor effluent samples showed a decline in mutagenicity from 2001 to 2003 (Fig. 18).

In the *E. coli* prophage induction assay these samples did show a mutagenic response plus S9. In 2001 and 2002 the samples were weakly positive (showing a 3-fold increase at one dose) (Fig. 19). In 2001 samples were on average slightly more mutagenic compared to samples from 2002. In 2003 samples induced an average fold increase as high as 12 and no lower than 7 (Fig. 19). The mutagenic response in these water samples was consistent with concentrations of PCP which were highest in 2001 (possibly cytotoxic) compared to 2002 and elevated again in 2003 (Fig. 16). Only samples BE 1 and BE 2 from 2001 showed a weak mutagenic response without metabolic activation in the *E. coli* prophage induction assay. Samples from subsequent years either induced a variable ( $\pm$ ) or negative response in *E. coli* without S9.

# 2.4 Discussion

The site investigated for this research was a former wood preserving facility that historically used both creosote and PCP to treat wood products. The contaminants, collectively called wood preserving waste, found onsite primarily include PAHs and PCP. These chemicals are known to be hazardous to human and ecological health due to their persistent, bioaccumulative and toxic effects (USEPA, 2005j). The goal of this study was to investigate if chemical analysis of the contaminants of concern was predictive of genotoxic potential. Surface soil samples were collected onsite from a land treatment unit called the X-19 cell over three years. Groundwater samples were also collected from both the extracted groundwater influent and from the bioreactor effluent located within the bioreactor facility onsite over three years. Samples were extracted for target PAHs and PCP and were also tested for genotoxicity in two *in vitro* microbial bioassays: the Salmonella/microsome assay and the *E. coli* prophage induction assay. Results from the microbial bioassays were then compared to chemical concentrations.



Fig. 16. Mean concentration of carcinogenic PAHs (cPAHs) and PCP in bioreactor effluent water samples collected over three years. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM.



Bioreactor Effluent Concentration (mg/plate)

Fig. 17. Microbial mutagenicity as measured in *S. typhimurium* strain TA98 with metabolic activation, of extracts of bioreactor effluent collected from the bioreactor facility over a three year period. The averaged data show a negative mutagenic response ( $\geq$  76 total revertants/plate) for these samples. Data are presented as mean total revertants/plate <u>+</u> SEM.



Fig. 18. Weighted activity of bioreactor effluent samples collected from 2001-2003. Net revertants were calculated by subtracting the total revertants for the solvent control from the total revertants for each sample. Weighted activity was calculated by taking the average net revertants/1 mg residue x the average mg residue/L water for each year (N=2 for each year). Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM.



Fig. 19. Microbial mutagenicity as measured in the *E. coli* prophage induction assay with metabolic activation, of extracts of bioreactor effluent collected from the bioreactor facility over three years. old increase = # plaque forming units (PFUs) per sample / # PFUs for the solvent control. A fold increase of  $\geq$  3 (dashed line) for two or more doses is considered a positive mutagenic response. Data are presented as the mean fold increase  $\pm$  SEM.

Overall, due to the heterogeneity of the soil and water samples, it is difficult to make comparisons among the data sets shown here. The sampling times represent only four days out of the year and do not reflect seasonal variability or alterations in the treatment processes such as cycling of waste in the bioreactor facility. The concentrations of carcinogenic PAHs did not correspond well with Salmonella mutagenicity in the X-19 surface soil samples over three years. When tested in the *E. coli* prophage induction assay the soil samples did show a mutagenic relationship with corresponding levels of

PCP, however the fold increase was not consistent with PCP concentrations in the samples. Average chemical concentrations actually increased from 2001 to 2003.

The groundwater samples did show a mutagenic response in Salmonella that corresponded with cPAH concentrations. The mutagenic response in the *E. coli* prophage induction assay was highly variable for the groundwater and did not correspond with PCP concentrations at the doses reported. The bioreactor effluent water samples showed lower chemical concentrations than the groundwater influent. This was to be expected and was indicative of the effective microbial remedial technique being used onsite. There was no mutagenic response from the bioreactor samples in the Salmonella/microsome assay. The samples did induce mutagenic responses that corresponded with PCP concentrations. It is known that the first bioreactor is capable of degrading 70-80% of the PAHs in the contaminated water, but only about 10% of the PCP. The second bioreactor (from which the reported samples were taken) is capable of degrading the remaining PAHs and most (70-80%) of the PCP. However, because PCP is resistant to degradation, it is possible that in 2003 a new cycle of waste had been introduced to the second bioreactor and had not sufficiently degraded the contaminants at the time of sampling.

Previous research at this site (1996-1999) indicated that during the first stages of remediation, genotoxicity of treated soils were unchanged over time despite reduced contaminant levels (Garcia, 2001). Contaminant levels in the groundwater (as measured at the same sampling locations as this study from 1998-1999) were reduced to within target levels and the genotoxicity as measured by the *E. coli* prophage induction assay was eliminated (Garcia, 2001). The X-19 cell was also tested in 2000 for genotoxicity using the Salmonella/microsome assay and showed a positive response (Gomez, 2002). Surface soil samples were generally more genotoxic than subsurface samples collected from the X-19 (Gomez, 2002).

In addition to the high variability of the samples, historical information indicates that background soils have increased mutagenic potential despite negligible levels of PAHs (Garcia, 2001). Data from these samples suggest that compounds not identified by GC/MS can cause a mutagenic response. Current chemical analysis methods are able to detect only a fraction of the compounds in the environment. This also holds true for hazardous waste sites that contain complex chemical mixtures. There may be a large number of chemical components contributing to mixture toxicity. Interactions such as synergism, additivity, potentiation or inhibition could influence the bioavailability and genotoxicity of complex mixtures. Moreover, degradation processes (biological or physical) may produce more toxic or more soluble end products. The results indicate that a combined testing protocol using both biological and chemical methods provides a more comprehensive view of the fate of genotoxic compounds in soil treatment systems than chemical analysis alone.

# CHAPTER III GENOTOXICITY OF SEDIMENTS CONTAINING MIXTURES OF PCBs AND PAHs

# 3.1 Introduction

Complex chemical mixtures containing PCBs and PAHs are ubiquitous environmental contaminants. Complex mixtures have been detected in environmental media including sediments, biota, air, surface waters, and industrial effluents (Eisler, 1987; Erickson, 1997; Kannan et al., 2000; Neff, 1979; USEPA, 1980). PCB and PAH mixtures are known to have adverse affects in aquatic organisms (Akcha et al., 2003; Harvey et al., 1997; Pinkney et al., 2001; Schenke et al., 2000; van den Hurk et al., 2002; van Schanke et al., 2000) and in laboratory animals (Alvares and Kappas, 1977; Deml et al., 1983; Safe, 1989). Certain congeners of PCBs and PAHs may interact with the arylhydrocarbon receptor (Ahr) and have dioxin-like toxic effects (Safe, 1990; Villeneuve et al., 1998). These effects may include tumor promotion (Schwarz and Appel, 2005), neurobehavioral problems (Kuriyama et al., 2003; Kuriyama and Chahoud, 2004; Schantz et al., 1989) and decreased immune system function (Clemons et al., 1999; Hutchinson et al., 2003; Hutchinson et al., 1999). However, there may exist both Ahractive and Ahr-inactive congeners within these mixtures and their interactions or potential effects may differ depending upon the bioassay used (Villeneuve et al., 2001). Despite the strong conservation of the AhR-dependent pathway, there is also considerable inter- and intraspecies differences in the toxicological responses to AhR ligands (Ema et al., 1994; Poland and Glover, 1990; Poland et al., 1994).) These differences are likely due to genetic polymorphisms in the AhR (Schwarz and Appel, 2005).

PCBs are known to be potent inducers of phase I and phase II drug-metabolizing enzymes and may act as co-carcinogens, or anticarcinogens (Safe, 1989). The genotoxic potential of PCBs depends largely upon the level of chlorination of the molecules. The higher molecular weight PCBs tend to be poorly metabolized and exhibit low binding to DNA (Safe, 1989). However, it is these higher molecular weight PCBs that may act as

strong promoters when treated with an initiator such as the PAH benzo[a]pyrene (BaP) (Safe, 1989). With respect to PAHs, complex mixtures of these chemicals might contain hundreds to thousands of different compounds (Cizmas et al., 2004b). Seven PAHs, including the representative carcinogenic PAH benzo[a]pyrene (BaP), have been classified by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) as probable human carcinogens (USEPA, 2005i).

Environmental media contaminated with complex mixtures of both PCBs and PAHs may exhibit numerous chemical interactions that affect the genotoxicity of these compounds both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. These interactions could include inhibition, potentiation, additivity, synergism and antagonism. Evidence suggests that PCBs are potent enzyme inducers (Safe, 1989; van den Hurk et al., 2002) which might enhance or inhibit stages in PAH metabolism leading to additive or synergistic toxic effects. The purpose of this study was to investigate the genotoxicity of mixtures extracted from estuarine river sediments contaminated with both PCBs and PAHs in order to test whether differences in genotoxicity could be explained by differences in the sediment concentrations, particularly for PCBs. In addition to chemical analysis of sediment and water at each sampling site, a battery of three genotoxicity bioassays were implemented to better characterize the potential of PCB/PAH mixtures to cause DNA damage. Each extracted sample was analyzed for *in vitro* genotoxicity using the Salmonella/microsome assay (Ames et al., 1975; Maron and Ames, 1983) to screen for PAH genotoxicity, and the E. coli prophage induction assay (DeMarini and Brooks, 1992; DeMarini et al., 1990) to screen for chlorinated compound genotoxicity. Two different dermal exposure studies using ICR female mice were conducted to examine the *in vivo* genotoxicity of the sediment extracts using the <sup>32</sup>P-postlabeling assay (Reddy and Randerath, 1986).

Aquatic organisms are exposed to contaminated sediments both directly through ingestion, and indirectly via the food web. The PCBs and some of the priority pollutant PAHs are relatively insoluble in water and tend to partition between the pore water and sediment depending on their organic carbon partition coefficients. Because of their persistence and ability to accumulate in estuarine sediments, these contaminants may be

bioavailable to commercially important species such as the native salmon (Missildine et al., 2005). Ingestion of fish is a potential pathway of contaminant exposure for humans. As a result, PAH and PCB-contaminated sites are a major concern for managers and regulatory agencies. Understanding the potential genotoxicity and role of PCBs in complex mixtures in sediment extracts, is a first step in understanding similar potential effects within food webs at contaminated sites.

## **3.2 Materials and Methods**

#### **3.2.1** Site History

The site chosen for the collection of sediments used in this research is the lower 6-mile portion of a river located in the Pacific Northwest. Heavily industrialized upland areas surround this segment of the river. Historical and current industrial use of these areas includes cargo handling and storage; marine construction; boat manufacturing; marina operations; paper and metals fabrication and recycling; food processing; and airplane parts manufacturing. Contaminants may have entered the river by a number of different routes including spillage during product shipping and handling, direct disposal or discharge, contaminated ground water discharge, surface water runoff, storm water discharge, or contaminated soil erosion (Windward, 2003). The results from previous studies in this area have shown that sediments are contaminated with PCBs and PAHs, as well as arsenic, mercury, pesticides and organotins.

# 3.2.2 Sample Collection, Extraction and Chemical Analysis

Surface sediment samples were collected from a boat in April 2003 using a petite ponar grab (WILDCO, Buffalo, New York, part #1728-G30). Sampling locations were selected based upon previous measurements (Windward 2003) that identified known areas of elevated PCB levels. A total of 5 sediment samples were collected from the contaminated site at locations that were separated by approximately 15m. One reference sample (sediment background) was collected approximately 1 mile up-river of the

contaminated site. Sediments were brought to the water surface, homogenized with a pre-washed stainless steel spoon in a pre-washed stainless steel bowl, and transferred to I-chem certified sampling jars (VWR, catalogue # IR221-1000). Samples were shipped on ice overnight following chain-of-custody protocols to the laboratory at Texas A&M University, where they were stored at 4°C until extraction.

Each sediment sample was oven-dried overnight at 60°C. Samples were then ground in a mortar and pestle and passed through a #20 (850µm) sieve. Approximately 10g of dried sample were weighed for extraction. Dried sediments were extracted using a 1:1 mixture of hexane:acetone in a Dionex (Dionex Corp., Sunnyvale, CA) Model 200 Accelerated Solvent Extractor (ASE). Samples were analyzed for PAHs and other semivolatile organic compounds (SVOCs) using USEPA method 8270C (USEPA, 1997) and for total PCBs and PCB homologs following USEPA method 680 (Stevens et al., 1985). Sediment collected from station 3 was extracted once for the microbial bioassays (sample 3A). Chemical analysis indicated that sample 3A had the highest concentration of PCBs. Therefore, the sediment was extracted again (sample 3B) to yield enough residue for the second *in vivo* experiment. Sample 3A and 3B were chemically analyzed separately.

## 3.2.3 In Vitro Bioassays

### 3.2.3.1 Salmonella/Microsome Assay

The Salmonella/microsome assay was employed to evaluate the mutagenic potential of the complex PCB/PAH mixtures extracted from the river sediments (except for sample 3B which was only tested in the second *in vivo* experiment). This particular bioassay was chosen because it has routinely been used to detect genotoxicity of hazardous waste (Houk and DeMarini, 1988) and has been shown to be as much as 90% effective as detecting the mutagenic potential of PAHs (McCann et al., 1975a). Sediment extracts were tested in the presence and absence of metabolic activation ( $\pm$  S9) in the standard plate incorporation assay (Maron and Ames, 1983) using the *Salmonella*
*typhimurium* (*S. typhimurium*) TA98 tester strain (kindly provided by Dr. B.N. Ames, University of California at Berkley). TA98 was selected because previous research indicates that this strain is sensitive to the types of PAHs found in the sediment samples (Randerath et al., 1999). S9 supernatant of homogenized Aroclor 1254 induced Sprague-Dawley rat liver was obtained from Molecular Toxicology, Inc. (Boone, NC). A 1 mL volume of 20% S9 mix contained 0.2 mL S9 fraction and 0.8 mL cofactor supplement (1.41 mg glucose-6-phosphate, 3.06 g NADP, 0.02 mL of a solution containing 1.65 M KCl and 0.4 M MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.5 mL of 0.2 M sodium phosphate buffer (pH 7.4).

Positive direct-acting (2-nitrofluorene (2NF): 25 µg/plate), positive indirectacting (benzo-a-pyrene (BaP): 10 µg/plate) and negative solvent (dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO)) controls were included in each test to ensure consistency in TA98 sensitivity and S9 mix activity. Sediment extracts were resuspended in DMSO and tested on duplicate plates in two independent experiments at five dose levels (1.0, 0.5, 0.25, 0.1, 0.05 mg/plate). Following the plate incorporation assay, plates were stored inverted at 37°C for 72hrs. prior to analysis. Revertant colonies were counted on an Artek Model 880 automated colony counter (Dynatech Laboratories, Inc.).

Salmonella/microsome assay data were analyzed using the modified two-fold rule of Chu *et al.* (1981). A mutagenic response was considered positive if the mean number of revertant colonies was greater than two times the concurrent solvent control for two consecutive doses. A response was considered weakly positive if the number of revertant colonies was greater than two times the concurrent solvent control for only one dose.

#### 3.2.3.2 E. coli Prophage Induction Assay

The *E. coli* prophage induction assay (DeMarini and Brooks, 1992; DeMarini et al., 1990) was also employed to screen for the mutagenic potential of all the sediment extracts (except for extract 3B). This bioassay was used because previous studies have indicated that it is sensitive to chlorinated hydrocarbons that may be inactive in the

Salmonella/microsome assay (Houk and DeMarini, 1987; Houk and DeMarini, 1988). The tester strain *E. coli* lysogen WP2s $\lambda$  (*lon*<sub>11</sub>,*sulA*<sub>1</sub>, *trpE*<sub>65</sub>, *uvrA*<sub>155</sub>, *lamB*<sup>+</sup>), and indicator strain TH008 (streptomycin<sup>r</sup>) were provided by V. S. Houk (USEPA, Research Triangle Park, NC). The bioassay included both a microsuspension assay and a plaque formation assay. The microsuspension assay exposed mid-log phase WP2s $\lambda$  (~2 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells) to sample extracts resuspended in acetone. This was done in a 96-well microtiter plate (Corning). Samples were tested both with and without metabolic activation (± S9). Controls including a positive direct-acting chemical (2NF), a positive indirect-acting chemical (2-aminoanthracene (2AA)), a negative solvent (acetone), and media (supplemented VBMM) were tested along with the sample extracts to ensure consistency in induced *E. coli* DNA damage and in S9 mix activity. The contents of the plate were mixed using a vibrating shaker, covered with mylar and 2 layers of plastic wrap (Saran Wrap, Dow Chemical Co.), and incubated overnight (approximately 16 hours) at 37°C.

Following incubation, the microtiter wells were scored for turbidity, with turbid wells indicating cell growth and clear wells indicating cytotoxicity and/or growth inhibition. At least five wells adjacent to a clear well were sampled to determine the concentration of lambda phage. Fifty µL samples from the selected wells were diluted 1:100 in 5 mL VBMM. One hundred  $\mu$ L of the diluted phage and 200  $\mu$ L of the logphase indicator cells (TH008) were added to 2.5 mL top agar (0.65 Bacto agar and 10 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>). Overnight cultures of TH008 bacteria were grown in an incubating shaker until a concentration of  $\sim 2 \times 10^8$  cells/mL was achieved. After addition of the TH008 cells to the top agar tubes, the tubes were poured onto plates containing tryptone media (10g Bacto tryptone, 5 g NaCl, and 12 g Bacto agar per L of glass-distilled, deionized water and supplemented with streptomycin sulfate (100 g/mL) to select against the lysogen). Plates were inverted and incubated overnight at 37°C. After 24hrs., the plates were quantified by counting the number of plaques on each plate by hand on a Darkfield Quebec colony counter. All samples were tested in duplicate in at least two independent experiments. A sample extract was considered positive if the average number of induced plaque-forming units (PFUs) at two doses was three times the average number

of induced plaques for the corresponding acetone well. If an extract induced a three-fold increase in PFUs at only one dose, the result was scored as a weak positive. Samples that did not induce a response three times greater than the acetone control at any dose were considered negative.

# 3.2.4 In Vivo Bioassays

# **3.2.4.1** Animal Treatment

Two experiments were conducted using ICR female mice. The first experiment used sediment extracts from three river stations to compare across stations. The second experiment used sediment 3B (a second extract from Station 3) coupled with BaP to compare to BaP administered alone. Institutional guidelines were followed for animal care and use in all experiments. For the first animal experiment, 5 groups of mice containing 4 mice each were treated topically with sediment extracts from samples 2, 4, and 5 (Table 1). A patch of hair (approximately  $4\text{cm}^2$ ) was shaved on each mouse 3 days before treatment and then approximately 2hrs. prior to treatment. Sediment extracts were suspended in methylene chloride and 150µL of control or treatment chemical was applied to the shaved area of each mouse using a glass capillary micropipette. Two control groups were selected, 1) methylene chloride, and 2) sediment background (BKG) extract at 3 mg/mouse. Five treatment groups were used including, 1) sediment extract #2 at 3 mg/mouse, 2) sediment extract #5 at 3 mg/mouse, 3) sediment extract #4 at 3 mg/mouse, 4) sediment extract #4 at 1.2 mg/mouse, and 5) sediment extract #4 at 0.48 mg/mouse. Sediment extract #4 was selected for measurement of a dose response because it was the sample that yielded the largest mass of residue in the extraction procedure. Animals were exposed to the treatments for 24hrs. and then sacrificed using carbon dioxide (followed by cervical dislocation). The liver, lungs, and skin were removed and stored at -80°C until DNA isolation.

For the second *in vivo* experiment 9 groups of 4 mice each were used including one methylene chloride control group. The third sediment sample was re-extracted

(#3B) for this experiment because it had the highest levels of PCBs and PAHs (Table 4). The extracted sample was resuspended in methylene chloride. The 8 treatment groups were as follows, 1) sediment extract at 3 mg/mouse, 2) sediment extract at 1.2 mg/mouse 3) BaP at 100nmol,  $150\mu$ L/mouse, 4) BaP at 10 nmol,  $150\mu$ L/mouse, 5) sediment extract at 3 mg/mouse + BaP at 100nmol, co-administered, 6) sediment extract at 1.2 mg/mouse + BaP at 100nmol, co-administered, 7) sediment extract at 3.0 mg/mouse + BaP at 10nmol, co-administered, 8) sediment extract at 1.2 mg/mouse + BaP at 10nmol, co-administered, 8) sediment extract at 1.2 mg/mouse + BaP at 10nmol, co-administered, 8) sediment extract at 1.2 mg/mouse + BaP at 10nmol, co-administered, 8) sediment extract at 1.2 mg/mouse + BaP at 10nmol, co-administered, 8) sediment extract at 1.2 mg/mouse + BaP at 10nmol, co-administered. Mice were treated topically, sacrificed after 24hrs. of exposure, and the tissues processed as described above.

# 3.2.4.2 <sup>32</sup>P-Postlabeling Assay

The <sup>32</sup>P-postlabeling assay using nuclease P1 enrichment is currently the most sensitive method for detecting and quantifying DNA adducts. The formation of DNA adducts, even at low levels, is an important process in carcinogenesis. DNA was extracted from select tissues and <sup>32</sup>P-postlabeled following the method of Reddy and Randerath (1986). Adducted radioactive nucleotides were separated by multidirectional anion-exchange TLC using polyethyleneimine (PEI)-cellulose sheets. To remove any remaining radioactive impurities and orthophosphate, thin layer chromatography (TLC) was performed using 2.3 M NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, pH 5.75. Labeled products were then contacttransferred to fresh PEI-cellulose sheets and resolved by two-dimensional TLC. The first dimension employed 3.82M lithium formate + 6.75M urea, pH 3.35. The second dimension was developed with  $0.72M \text{ NaH}_2\text{PO}_4 + 0.4M \text{ TRIS} + 7.65M \text{ Urea, pH 8.2.}$ Radioactivity was determined using an Instant Imager (Packard Instrument, Downers Grove, IL). Imaging was accomplished by using a template to isolate identified spots on each map. Counts per minute (CPM) for each adduct were determined. Adduct levels were quantified as mean relative adduct labeling (RAL) values + SEM using the following equation:  $RAL = sample count rate/(DNA-P x specific activity _{ATP})$ .

#### **3.2.4.3** Statistics

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS v.13.0 software (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL). RAL values for both *in vivo* experiments were tested for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test, and for equal variance using Levene's test for equal variances. For the first animal experiment, sediment extracts at the 3.0mg/mouse dose were compared to the sediment background at 3.0mg/mouse dose and the methylene chloride solvent control using contrast testing. Sediment extract 4 was further analyzed to compare RAL values at the three different doses using a one-way ANOVA. The primary focus of the second animal experiment was to compare BaP alone to BaP plus two different doses of sediment. Polynomial contrast testing was used to test for a linear response seen in BaP alone plus BaP plus sediment. For all tests, p < 0.05 was considered significant.

#### 3.3 Results

#### 3.3.1 Chemical Analysis and In Vitro Biossays

In order to understand the toxicity of the sediment extracts, it was necessary to determine PCB and PAH composition in each sample. Chemical analysis confirmed the presence of elevated concentrations of PCBs and PAHs in all of the sediment extracts from sampling stations in the industrialized area (Table 4). The five stations in the contaminated area exhibited almost 10-fold variation in PCB concentration. Sample 3B had the highest levels of PCBs (125,000 ng/mg sediment extract) and sample 4 had the lowest levels of PCBs (800 ng/mg sediment extract) within the contaminated area (Table 4). The extract of sediment from the background area had relatively low levels of PCBs (60 ng/mg sediment extract) (Table 4). All samples had higher levels of PCBs compared to PAHs. The sediment extracts were dominated by the penta, hexa, and hepta chlorinated homologues (Fig. 20). With regards to the PAHs, sample 3B had the

Table 4. Summary of *in vitro* bioassay and chemical analysis data. Information includes biological response from both the Salmonella/microsome assay and the *E.coli* prophage induction assay as well as total PAHs (tPAHs), carcinogenic PAHs (cPAHs), benzo[a]pyrene (BaP), and total PCB (tPCBs) amounts for samples collected from 5 sites within an industrialized zone and one site from a reference area (BKG). NA = Not Analyzed.

Summary of Sediment Samples from 2003							
Sample Number	<u>Biological I</u>	Chemical Analysis					
	Salmonella +S9 *	<i>E.coli</i> +S9 **	tPAHs ng/mg	cPAHs ng/mg	BaP ng/mg	tPCBs ng/mg	
1	(+-)	(-)	220	40	4	1000	
2	(+ - )	(-)	490	90	8	3000	
<b>3</b> A	(+)	(-)	400	70	6	7000	
3B	NA	NA	6,300	1,300	160	125,000	
4	(-)	(-)	270	50	4	800	
5	(-)	(-)	1000	150	20	1500	
Sediment Background	(-)	(-)	300	40	4	60	

\* (+) = # revertants/plate  $\ge 2x$ 's the solvent control for 2 consecutive doses in 2 independent experiments.

(+ -) = # revertants/plate  $\ge 2x$ 's the solvent control for 1 dose in 2 independent experiments

(-) = # revertants/plate < 2x's solvent control at all doses in 2 independent experiments.

\*\* ( - ) = # plaques/plate NOT < 3x's the solvent control for all doses in 2
independent experiments.</pre>



Fig. 20. Average concentration of selected PCB congeners in sediment extracts (N=6). Statistical interval = SE.

highest levels of total PAHs (6,300 ng/mg sediment extract), total carcinogenic PAHs (cPAHs) (1,300 ng/mg sediment extract) and total benzo[a]pyrene (160 ng/mg sediment extract) (Table 4).

Based on the presence of PAHs in the samples, it was hypothesized that the sediment extracts would cause no response without metabolic activation and a positive response with metabolic activation in the Salmonella/microsome assay (a test 90% effective at detecting the mutagenicity of PAHs). Of the samples used in this test, sample 5 had the highest levels of total PAHs (1,000 ng/mg sediment extract) and total carcinogenic PAHs (cPAHs) (150 ng/mg sediment extract) (Table 4). In contrast, sample 1 had the lowest levels of total PAHs and cPAHs (see Table 4). As predicted, all tested samples were negative in the Salmonella/microsome assay without metabolic activation (-S9). This response is consistent with other complex PAH mixtures that have been tested in this laboratory (Cizmas et al., 2004a). However, contrary to our hypothesis, only sample 3A exhibited a positive mutagenic response in the Salmonella/microsome assay with metabolic activation (+S9). Samples 1 and 2 had a weak positive response +S9 (Fig. 21). Sample 5 did not induce a positive response.

With the presence of PCBs in the samples, it was predicted that all of the samples would be negative without metabolic activation and positive with metabolic activation using the *E. coli* prophage induction assay (a test sensitive to the detection of mutagenic chlorinated compounds). Sample 3A had the highest concentration of PCBs (7,000 ng/mg sediment extract) and was expected to induce the strongest positive response of the samples. However, all tested samples were negative both with and without metabolic activation in the *E. coli* prophage induction assay (Table 4).

# 3.3.2 In Vivo Bioassays

The primary purpose of the first animal experiment was to see if the sediment extracts induced significantly greater levels of adducts than the methylene chloride solvent control or the sediment background. When comparing the *in vivo* genotoxicity of the sediment extracts, sample #5 induced the highest levels of total skin adducts at a

dose level of 3.0 mg/mouse, followed by sample #2 (Fig. 22). Sample #4 induced the lowest adduct level for the contaminated sediments (Fig. 22). Sample #4 also induced a near-linear dose response curve, with the frequency of total skin adducts and spot #4 adducts increasing with increasing dose per treatment group (Fig. 23). Although these findings are consistent with the levels of total PAHs found in each sample, cPAH concentrations in the sediment extracts varied by approximately four-fold, whereas DNA adducts varied by less than 30% (Table 4 & Fig. 22). This suggests that the capacity of



Sediment Extract Dose (mg/plate)

Fig. 21. Microbial mutagenicity, as measured in *S. typhimurium* strain TA98 with metabolic activation, of extracts of sediment samples collected from five stations in an industrialized area and a reference station (BKG). Dashed line represents concurrent solvent control value. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM.

the PAHs to bind with DNA may have been saturated. Of these three samples, sample #5 had the highest levels of PAHs and cPAHs (Table 4) and highest level of skin adducts (Fig. 22), whereas, sample #4 had the lowest levels of PAHs and cPAHs (Table 4) and induced the lowest levels of skin adducts (Fig. 22). The adduct data from this experiment were normally distributed (p=0.173) and had equal variances (p=0.772). The mean adduct levels were significantly higher in the groups administered 3.0mg/mouse of contaminated sediment extracts compared to the mean adduct levels induced in the methylene chloride control group (p=0.001) (Fig. 22). The contaminated sediment extracts also induced a significantly higher level of mean adducts at the 3.0mg/mouse dose compared to the sediment background extract at 3.0mg/mouse dose (p=0.004) (Fig. 22). When analyzing the dose response data from sample #4, the data were normally distributed (p=0.062), with equal variances (p=0.090). There was a significant difference in the level of adducts induced at varying doses of sample #4 (p=0.048) (Fig. 23). Representative skin DNA adduct profiles are shown in Fig. 24.

Based on results from the first experiment, it was apparent that the sediment extracts had the ability to form DNA adducts at levels consistently greater than the controls. Due to the dominant concentrations of PCBs in the sediments, understanding how these levels could be affecting PAH genotoxicity was pursued. In the environment, humans and other animals are most commonly exposed to complex mixtures versus pure compounds. What is not well understood is how the chemicals within these complex mixtures interact with one another. For the second animal experiment it was hypothesized that the elevated levels of PCBs in the sediment extracts would enhance PAH genotoxicity as measured by the induction of DNA adducts. Skin, lung and liver DNA from treated and control animals were extracted and <sup>32</sup>P-postlabeled following 24hr. topical exposure to varied concentrations of BaP and sediment extract. The highest frequency of bulky DNA adducts were observed in skin from animals treated with BaP at 100 nmol (Fig. 25). The administration of 100 nmol BaP + sediment extract induced higher levels of DNA adducts than were observed in mice treated with 10 nmol BaP + sediment extract. Mice treated with 3.0 mg sediment extract +100 nmol BaP



Fig. 22. Skin DNA adducts in female ICR (CD-1) mice after topical treatment with a methylene chloride control (150 uL/mouse), an extract of background sediment (Sed. BKG.), and extracts of contaminated sediment. Mouse groups for Sed. BKG, Sample # 2, Sample # 4, and Sample # 5 were treated with 3.0mg/mouse extract. \*Total adduct levels were significantly higher than the control and Sed. BKG ( $p \le 0.05$ ). Data are presented as mean <u>+</u> SEM.



Dose (mg/mouse)

Fig. 23. Skin DNA adducts in female ICR (CD-1) mice after topical treatment with sediment extract sample # 4 at varying doses. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM.



Fig. 24. Representative DNA adduct profiles from skin tissue of female ICR mice treated for 24hrs with topical applications of methylene chloride solvent control and sediment extracts (Experiment 1) and sediment 3B extract + BaP (Experiment 2). Spot 4 is indicated by the number 4 on select maps.

exhibited a reduced frequency of DNA adducts in comparison with animals treated with BaP alone. The inhibitory effects of the sediment extracts on BaP-induced DNA adducts exhibited a dose-response relationship. The treatment group receiving 3.0 mg sediment extract + BaP at 100 nmol induced a RAL of less than 200 x  $10^{-9}$ , whereas a RAL of more than 300 X  $10^{-9}$  was observed in mice receiving the 1.2 mg sediment extract + BaP (Fig. 25). Total adduct data in the BaP at 100nmol groups were normally distributed and had equal variances. There was a significant inhibitory effect seen in BaP at 100nmol + increasing sediment concentration (*p*<0.001) (Fig. 25). Spot #4 data

in the BaP at 100nmol groups were normally distributed. However, the test for equal variances was violated (p=0.022). Despite variances not being equal, a polynomial contrast was still an appropriate test. There was also a significant inhibitory effect seen in the induction of Spot #4 adducts from BaP at 100nmol alone compared to BaP at 100nmol + increasing sediment concentration (p<0.001) (Fig. 25). A small amount of endogenous skin adducts were observed in the methylene chloride control group. Adduct levels in liver and lung samples were comparable to background adduct levels (data not shown). Representative skin DNA adduct profiles are shown in Fig. 24.

# 3.4 Discussion

The extracts of sediment samples collected from a river located in a heavily industrialized area were found to contain elevated levels of PCBs and PAHs. Although the sources of PAHs are anticipated to be more numerous than PCBs, the PCB levels in sediment extracts were generally two to ten times higher than PAH concentrations. When the sediment extracts were tested for genotoxicity in the Salmonella/microsome assay, the *E. coli* prophage induction assay, and the DNA adduct <sup>32</sup>P-postlabeling assay, the samples from contaminated areas exhibited relatively low levels of genotoxicity. Genotoxicity of the PAHs in sediment extracts appeared to be measured most accurately using <sup>32</sup>P-postlabeling of DNA adducts in mouse skin (treated topically with sediment extracts).

The role that PCBs play in the genotoxicity of complex mixtures containing both PCBs and PAHs remains unclear. This role may be largely dependant on the level of chlorination of the PCB constituents, and the dose of the PCB extract. Of the samples tested in the Salmonella/microsome assay, sample #3A was the only sample that produced a positive response. The extract of this sediment also had the highest levels of PCBs (Fig. 20). The Salmonella/microsome assay is roughly 90% effective at detecting the carcinogenicity of PAHs (McCann et al., 1975a). Considering the fact that sample #3A had only moderate levels of PAHs (Fig. 20), it is possible that the elevated levels of PCBs in this sample enhanced the genotoxicity of the PAHs. Although PCBs are not



Fig. 25. Skin DNA adducts in female ICR (CD-1) mice after topical treatment with methylene chloride solvent control, extracts of contaminated sediment sample # 3B and BaP. Data presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM.

generally mutagenic in bacterial systems (Safe, 1989), the *E. coli* prophage induction assay has been shown to be sensitive to the lower chlorinated phenols (DeMarini and Brooks, 1992; DeMarini et al., 1990). The sediment extracts used in this study were found to contain primarily the more highly chlorinated biphenyl congeners. The higher molecular weight PCBs tend to be poorly metabolized and show a low binding affinity for DNA (Safe, 1989). These characteristics may have produced the negative response observed in the *E. coli* prophage induction assay.

Dermal application of sediment extracts demonstrates that these complex chemical mixtures are capable of inducing DNA adduct formation in ICR female mice. PAHs are known to have the ability to form DNA adducts as demonstrated by the carcinogen, BaP (Denissenko et al., 1996; Marston et al., 2001; Melendez-Colon et al., 1999). Animal studies indicate that the lower chlorinated PCBs may be metabolically activated into electrophilic quinoid species which can bind to DNA (Oakley et al., 1996; Pereg et al., 2002; Schilderman et al., 2000). PCBs may also act as potent inhibitors of glucuronosyltransferase, a Phase II enzyme important in the detoxification pathway for phenolic metabolites of PAHs (van den Hurk et al., 2002). However, other studies using oral doses of PCBs in mice indicate that there is no significant DNA adduct formation as measured using the <sup>32</sup>P-postlabeling assay (Whysner et al., 1998). Recent studies suggest that elevated concentrations of PCBs may induce cell apoptosis (Sanchez-Alonso et al., 2004), thereby reducing the concentration of viable cells and ultimately total levels of DNA adducts. Data from the current study indicate that DNA adduct formation was more consistent with PAH concentrations than with PCB concentrations (Fig. 25). However, when analyzing complex mixtures it is not yet possible to identify all mixture components. Chemical analysis of the adducts is needed to determine which chemicals or class of chemicals are attributed to the response seen in the <sup>32</sup>P-postlabeling assay.

Studies were also conducted to investigate the interaction of PCBs and PAHs in sediment extracts. The genotoxic effect of complex chemical mixtures may be altered by impacts on absorption, distribution, metabolism and binding with critical macromolecules. The sediment extracts consistently and significantly lowered BaP adduct levels. The results indicate spot #4 adducts were higher at a sediment dose of 1.2 mg/mouse than at a sediment dose of 3.0 mg/mouse. The battery of *in vitro* and *in vivo* bioassays used in the present study indicate that the mixture of PCBs and PAHs extracted from sediments were weakly genotoxic. In addition, co-administration of sediment extracts with BaP produced a significant inhibition of DNA adduct formation in mice. Thus, for the mixtures and doses examined in the current study, the primary interaction was inhibition.

# CHAPTER IV GENOTOXICITY STUDIES ON ECOLOGICAL RECEPTORS AT HAZARDOUS WASTE SITES

# 4.1 Introduction

Genetic ecotoxicology is the study of pollutant-induced genetic changes in organisms (Depledge, 1994). There is a broad range of potential biochemical and molecular effects following exposure to certain xenobiotics including alterations to DNA (Landis and Yu, 1995). One of the alterations to DNA that can be measured in exposed organisms is chromosomal breakage. Unlike the formation of DNA adducts and other subtle molecular changes, chromosome breaks cannot be repaired and are an indicator of permanent genetic damage in organisms. These types of breaks have the potential to cause reduced fitness in the affected organism and can be a useful tool for assessing ecosystem health at the individual and population levels (Bickham et al., 2000; Shugart, 2003). Although we are just beginning to understand the normal variation and damage to DNA seen in unpolluted environments, exposure to certain environmental contaminants such as complex mixtures of PAHs have been shown to be genotoxic to animals in controlled laboratory experiments (Bickham et al., 1998b; Incardona et al., 2004; Maria et al., 2003; Peterson and Bain, 2004; Winter et al., 2004) and through in situ field studies (Gauthier et al., 2004; Maria et al., 2004; Matson et al., 2005b; Winter et al., 2004; Wirgin and Waldman, 1998).

PAHs are primarily produced from the incomplete combustion of organic compounds such as coal, crude oil and natural gas used for industrial and domestic purposes. The PAH mixture investigated for this research is WPW which is largely composed of creosote and often PCP and diesel fuel. Creosote is obtained from the distillation of coal tar at high temperatures. Coal tar itself contains hundreds of organic compounds. In creosote, over 100 chemicals have been identified (USEPA, 2005f), more than 85% of which are PAHs (Mueller et al., 1991). In the United States, creosote has been found in at least 33 of the 1,430 national priorities list sites identified by the U.S. EPA (ATSDR, 2004). The compounds in creosote of most concern to human and

ecological health are the PAHs. Seven PAHs found in WPW, including benzo(a)pyrene (BaP), have been classified by the U.S. EPA as probable human carcinogens (USEPA, 2005i). There are 17 priority pollutant PAHs found in WPW that are ecologically threatening due to their ubiquity and/or persistence in the environment (Table 5). PCP has also been used historically as a wood preservative and is often found mixed with creosote in WPW contaminated environments. According to the U.S. EPA, as of 2002, approximately 11 million pounds of PCP were produced (USEPA, 2005e). Humans and wildlife are usually exposed to technical grade PCP which often contains toxic impurities such as polychlorinated dibenzofurans (PCDFs) and dibenzo-*p*-dioxins (PCDDs) (ATSDR, 2001). Like the 17 PAHs, PCP is also listed as a priority pollutant because it is persistent, bioaccumulative and toxic (USEPA, 2005j).

Exposure to WPW has the potential to adversely affect wildlife that is in intimate contact with the contaminated environment. At both contaminated sites in this research, the aquatic areas at Site-1 and wetland at Site-2 are most impacted by the contaminants. Species that are particularly sensitive to the pollution of aquatic environments are fish and amphibians. Studies suggest that fish and amphibians exhibit adverse effects from both PAHs (Bickham et al., 1998b; Eisler, 1987; Gagne et al., 1995; Malins et al., 1988; Matson et al., 2005b; Monson et al., 1999; Wirgin and Waldman, 1998) and PCP (Farah et al., 2003; Maenpaa et al., 2004; Schuytema et al., 1993; Vaal et al., 1997). As a result, they may be used as sentinel species when investigating ecological risk at WPW contaminated sites. Due to the interspecies variability in contaminant toxicokinetics, and in food web dynamics it is important to have a multi-species approach to discern the genetic effects of contaminants across taxa (Bihari and Fafandel, 2004). The amphibians (*Acris crepitans* and *Bufo valiceps*) and fish (*Gambusia affinis* and *Lepomis microlophus*) were chosen for this research because of their abundance at both the contaminated sites and at associated references.

One of the potential endpoints that can be measured in exposed species is chromosome damage using the flow cytometric method (FCM). FCM is useful for detecting sublethal, genetic damage from PAHs, which can be both mutagenic and

Ś
. <b>S</b>
$\sim$
al
Ц
0
a]
<u>.</u> 2
В
Ð
ų
2
ţ
10.
Ъ
q
E
5
li
- O
ă
1
he
Ŧ
п.
-
ŏ
Ę,
ĕ
5
Š
S
fe
$\overline{\Sigma}$
la
ar
-
Z
G
වා
g
Ξ
Ęа
Ö
f1
Ö
ŝt
÷
Π
43
le
ab
Ë

	itnenes/Pyrenes UZ-Uniysenes	ithenes/Pyrenes C3-Chrysenes	ithenes/Pyrenes C4-Chrysenes	nzothiophene <u>Benzo(b)fluoranthene</u>	obenzothiophenes <u>Benzo(k)fluoranthene</u>	obenzothiophenes Benzo(e)pyrene	obenzothiophenes <u>Benzo(a)pyrene</u>	thracene Perylene	<u>Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene</u>	nes Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	<u>Benzo(g,h,i)perylene</u>	
	CI-FIUORAN	C2-Fluoran	C3-Fluoran	Naphthobe	C1-Naphthe	C2-Naphthe	C3-Naphthe	Benz(a)ant	Chrysene	C1-Chryser		
Concounter // concounter concounter to	CI-Phenanthrene/Anthracenes	C2-Phenanthrene/Anthracenes	C3-Phenanthrene/Anthracenes	C4-Phenanthrene/Anthracenes	Dibenzothiophene	C1-Dibenzothiophenes	C2-Dibenzothiophenes	C3-Dibenzothiophenes	<u>Fluoranthene</u>	Pyrene		
	Acenaphinylene	Acenaphthene	<u>Dibenzofuran</u>	<u>Fluorene</u>	C1-Fluorenes	C2-Fluorenes	C3-Fluorenes	Carbazole	<u>Anthracene</u>	<b>Phenanthrene</b>		nic PAHs (cPAHs).
	Naphthalene	C1-Naphthalenes	C2-Naphthalenes	C3-Naphthalenes	C4-Naphthalenes	Benzothiophene	C1-Benzothiophenes	C2-Benzothiophenes	C3-Benzothiophenes	Biphenyl		<b>Bold</b> denotes carcinoger

<u>Underline</u> denotes 17 priority pollutant PAHs (ppPAHs), this includes the 15 most common PAHs as well as naphthalene and dibenzofuran which are also listed as priority chemicals (USEPA, 2005j). **Bold/underline** denotes PAHs that are both carcinogenic and priority pollutants.

clastogenic (Custer *et al.* 2000). This method has been shown to detect chromosome damage in a number of species exposed to complex mixtures of environmental contaminants (Bickham et al., 1988; Bickham et al., 1992; Bickham et al., 1994; George et al., 1991; Lamb et al., 1991; Matson et al., 2004; Matson et al., 2005a; Matson et al., 2005b; McBee and Bickham, 1988; Theodorakis et al., 2001). Moreover, flow cytometry data tend to correlate well with petroleum product concentrations in animal tissues and specifically with PAHs (Bickham et al., 1998a; Custer et al., 2000). A recent paper by Matson et al. demonstrated a correlation between chromosome damage in turtles and three-ring PAHs using FCM (Matson et al., 2005a).

Currently in ecological risk assessment, chemical analysis is combined with *exsitu* toxicity tests and species surveys to determine environmental risk. Conducting *exsitu* toxicity tests is valuable for determining the sensitivity of species or comparing chemical toxicity, but there is a lack of ecological realism in controlled laboratory environments (Preston and Shackelford, 2002). Laboratory tests where the data generated are extrapolated to ecosystems often involve considerable uncertainty (Preston and Shackelford, 2002). For example, the test organisms might not be representative of indigenous species (La Point and Waller, 2000), the toxicity tests are used with single compounds and not complex mixtures found in the contaminated environment, natural physical/chemical variation found in the environment is often overlooked (Preston et al., 2001), and risk estimates generally assume additive effects from multiple stressors when antagonistic or synergistic interactions are common (Folt et al., 1999). Moreover, methods such as genotoxicity testing are rarely employed in the risk assessment process primarily because the results cannot easily be translated into remedial goals for the contaminated site.

However, in the field, researchers are often faced with multiple anthropogenic and natural stressors contributing to ecosystem health. For example, toxic anthropogenic chemicals and natural variability in total suspended solids or dissolved oxygen can stress aquatic environments (Preston and Shackelford, 2002). With multiple stressors, it is a challenge in field studies to create a link between stressor and effect (Preston and Shackelford, 2002). Despite these challenges, conducting *in-situ* tests is valuable because effects seen in the field are a result of the net effects of stressors and can be directly observed (Preston and Shackelford, 2002).

This study was designed as a collaborative effort between risk assessors and university researchers to incorporate genotoxicity testing into ecological risk assessment in a weight-of-evidence approach. The primary goal was to generate data regarding biomarkers of exposure in multiple ecological receptors. For those areas where elevated levels of contamination have been observed in environmental media or biota samples, the flow cytometry data provides an alternative metric to determine if exposed receptors are experiencing increased levels of genetic damage. A combined testing protocol that integrates *in-situ* and *ex-situ* data can be used as a supplement to chemical analysis and may help to strengthen the risk assessment process.

# 4.1.1 Site Histories

Samples were collected from two former wood preserving facilities in the United States. Site-1 was active until 1993 (USEPA, 2004a). While it was active, the facility used coal-tar creosote for wood treatment operations and disposed of waste into four unlined ponds. During the initial removal action these ponds were drained and the water treated. The remaining sludge from the ponds was removed and stored on-site in a fenced waste cell. This temporary waste cell was completed in 1995, the contaminants capped and the area seeded (USEPA, 2004a). However, there are some areas on site that were not targeted during the removal action and still contain visible product. One of these areas is on the west side of the property along the bank of a creek. This unnamed creek feeds into a larger creek which is used for sport fishing (USEPA, 2004a). There is also an on-site pond that was not drained during the removal action, and is a current habitat for aquatic organisms.

Site-2 used both creosote and PCP to pressure treat lumber, and operated from approximately 1946 through 1986 (USEPA, 2004b). Waste was drained into a ditch on the east side of the facility. The ditch flows southeast until it reaches a culvert which

drains the ditch into an unnamed wetland area. This wetland ultimately flows into a creek which feeds into a lake used for sport fishing. A benthic macroinvertebrates study was conducted in 1985 which concluded that the adverse effects to biological communities was confined to the wetland area and that the impact of the site discharge was insignificant in the creek located 0.5 miles east of the site. Similar to Site-1, a temporary waste cell was created to cap the contaminants on-site. However, the drainage ditch and wetland areas were not treated during the removal action. Currently, PAHs, PCP and dioxin/furans have been detected in the drainage ditch and in the wetland area (USEPA, 2004b).

#### 4.2 Materials and Methods

All animals were collected using a scientific collecting permit from Texas Parks and Wildlife and an approved animal use protocol on file at Texas A&M University. A map of collecting locations for Site-1 is presented in Fig. 26. Site-2 collecting locations are presented in Fig. 27. Table 6 provides site information and codes for each of the seven reference locations.

# 4.2.1 Research Organisms

The species used in this research were selected based on their abundance at the contaminated aquatic sites and at adjacent reference sites. Two scouting trips were done to look for species prevalent in the contaminated areas using site identification for captured animals and also sound identification for the amphibians (their calls could be identified at night).

The mosquitofish (*Gambusia affinis*) is native to east Texas and belongs to the family Poeciliidae. Poeciliidae are livebearing fish that give birth to live young after internal fertilization (Boschung et al., 1983). Female Gambusia exhibit a conspicuous black spot on their abdomens during the reproductive period (Boschung et al., 1983). Adult females are generally larger than adult males. Males also have a modified anal fin used for reproduction. For these reasons, it was easy to distinguish adult males and



Fig. 26. Aerial view of Site-1 showing sampling locations for sunfish, mosquitofish, cricket frogs, and surface water and sediment samples (map not drawn to scale).



Fig. 27. Aerial view of Site-2 showing sampling locations for toad, mosquitofish and surface water samples (map not drawn to scale).

Location Code	Location Description				
Ref1	Rural pond on private property in Bryan, TX (Brazos Co.).				
Ref2a	Martin Dies Jr. State Park (Jasper Co.), slough area on north side of hwy. 190. Off first walking trail past Nature Center.				
Ref2b	Martin Dies Jr. State Park, boat ramp on north side of hwy. 190.				
Ref2c	Martin Dies Jr. State Park, Gum Slough on south side of hwy. 190.				
Ref2d	Martin Dies Jr. State Park, canoe launch at Gum Slough bridge on south side of hwy. 190.				
Ref3	Pond on private property in College Station, TX (Brazos Co.)				
Ref4	Austin's Colony Park, wetland area along footpath in Bryan, TX (Brazos Co.).				

Table 6. Location codes for the seven reference sites sampled for biota and media.

females during collection. This species is ubiquitous and can be found in areas ranging from lakes to drainage ditches. Because they are known to feed on mosquito larvae, in some areas of the United States they were introduced as mosquito control. However, they are generalist predators and will also feed on other small insects, zooplankton, and detritus. In areas where they have been introduced, they compete with native fish species and are often considered a pest. Fish in general can be exposed to contaminats through ingestion of contaminated food, and via contaminant transport across the gills. Due to Gambusia's presense in the contaminated intermittent creek at Site-1 (and abundance across east Texas) and to their generalist feeding habits this species was ideal for biomarker research and enough individuals could be captured for an adequate sample size year-round.

The redear sunfish (*Lepomis microlophus*) belongs to the family Centrarchidae. Sunfish are a popular group of sport fish and have been widely introduced to many areas of North America. The redear sunfish prefers clear quiet pools in warm streams, ponds, lakes and reservoirs with adequate vegetation and cover (Boschung et al., 1983). The fish tend to nest in colonies where the males guard the eggs and the hatchlings. They feed on snails, insect larvae and aquatic crustaceans, using their specialized jaws for crushing hard-shelled prey. Because they are predatory, the redear sunfish have the potential to bioaccumulate contaminants in their bodies. As sport fish, they may also transfer these contaminats to the humans that eat them.

Of the amphibians used in this research, the Northern cricket frog (*Acris crepitans*) is in the treefrog family (Hylidae). However, unlike its arboreal relatives the Northern cricket frog leads a terrestrial existence and is adept at leaping. They prefer slow moving creeks with sunny banks as well as shallow, sunny ponds with plenty of vegetation in the water or on shore (Behler and King, 1995) (similar to both Site-1a and Site-1b respectively). After hatching, the tadpoles feed on detritus and zooplankton. The adults feed on small terrestrial insects and spiders. Due to their biphasic nature, amphibians are vulnerable to both aquatic and terrestrial contamination. They may be exposed to environmental contaminants through ingestion, inhalation and absorption through their permeable skin. Habitat destruction and environmental contamination have been implicated in the decline of amphibian populations across North America.

The Gulf Coast toad (*Bufo valiceps*) is found along the Gulf of Mexico from southern Mississippi, through east Texas and south into Mexico (Behler and King, 1995). It belongs to the toad family Bufonidae. This family is characterized by having large parotoid glands located on each side of the neck that secrete a white viscous poison when the toad is attacked. The species prefers humid habitats ranging from roadside ditches to the barrier beaches of the Gulf of Mexico (Behler and King, 1995). It has even been located in city storm sewers (Behler and King, 1995). Adults are commonly found during twilight under streetlights catching insects. Breeding occurs during the spring and summer in both permanent and temporary ponds (sometimes shallow puddles of water after rain). As with the cricket frog described above, the Gulf Coast toad can be exposed to environmental contaminants through ingestion of contaminated food, inhalation of chemicals in the air, and absorption through their permeable skin.

#### 4.2.2 Site-1 Sample Collection

**Mosquitofish** (*Gambusia affinis*) were collected using hand-held dip nets from the creek (Site-1a) and associated references during May 2004 (N=1 composite sample for both Site-1a and Ref.-2a), August 2004 (Site-1a N=10, Ref.-1 N=22), February 2005 (Site-1a N=18, Ref.-1 N=23, Ref.-2b N=14,), and May 2005 (Site-1a N=26, Ref.-2b N=19, Ref.-2c N=19). Approximately 1-4  $\mu$ L of caudal vein blood was collected from individual fish using a microhematocrit capillary tube (Fisher Scientific, 22-362566) and stored in 25  $\mu$ L of citrate buffer (EcoGen, 1999) in cryogenic vials (Fisher Scientific, 09-761-71) (no blood was collected from fish in May 2004). All blood samples and fish carcasses were frozen on liquid nitrogen until they could be stored at -80°C.

Sunfish (*Lepomis microlophus*) were collected in May 2005 from the Site-1 pond (Site-1b) and associated references. The fish were divided into adults and juveniles (Site-1b adults N=4, Site-1b juveniles N=12, Ref.-2b adults N=4. Ref.-2c juveniles N=12). The juveniles were caught using dip-nets, whereas the adults were caught using baited traps and fishing poles. As with the *G. affinis* samples, caudal vein blood was collected from the sunfish and stored in  $25\mu$ L of citrate buffer. Blood samples and carcasses were frozen on liquid nitrogen and then stored at -80°C prior to analysis.

**Cricket frogs** (*Acris crepitans*) were collected in August 2004 using hand-held dip nets from along the creek bank, on top of the waste cell adjacent to the pond, and from associated references (Site-1 N=18, Ref.-2d N=10, Ref.-3 N=8). Animals were sacrificed, placed in cryogenic vials, frozen whole on liquid nitrogen and then stored at - 80°C before dissection.

**Environmental media** including co-located surface water samples were collected from the Site-1 creek and Ref.-2a in August 2004, and from the creek, pond and Ref.-2b and Ref.-2c in May 2005. Sediment samples from the creek and Ref.-2b and Ref.-2c were collected in May 2005. Surface waters were collected by hand using 1 L amber glass I-chem certified sampling bottles (VWR Scientific). Sediments were also collected by hand using pre-cleaned stainless steel trowels and stored in 16oz. glass I-

chem certified sampling jars (VWR Scientific). After collection, the water and sediments were transported on ice and stored at 4°C prior to extraction.

#### 4.2.3 Site-2 Sample Collection

In May 2004 there was considerable flooding in the wetland at Site-2. During the flooding mosquitofish were collected from a culvert that drains the wetland. It is assumed that these fish came from the northern part of the wetland where there is permanent standing water (see Fig. 27). This northern part of the wetland is not known to be heavily impacted by the contaminants. A composite sample of 10 fish was taken for chemical analysis only.

Gulf Coast toads (*Bufo valiceps*) were collected in August 2004 using hand-held dip nets from the southern tip of the wetland at Site-2 and from a reference wetland (Site-2 N=27, Ref.-4 N=14). Specimens were frozen on liquid nitrogen and then stored at -80°C prior to analysis. Surface water samples were collected in August 2004 using 1 L I-chem certified sampling bottles (VWR Scientific). The U.S. EPA remedial investigation was consulted for both surface water and sediment chemical analysis (CH2M Hill, 2005).

# 4.2.4 Flow Cytometry

Flow cytometry was used to detect chromosome damage and DNA changes in the collected specimens following the methods of Vindelov and Christensen (1994). All samples were randomized before processing to avoid experimental bias. For the amphibians, a small portion of the livers was excised for analysis while the carcasses were still largely frozen. The remainders of the carcasses were stored again at -80°C until contaminant screening. Due to the small amount (1-4 $\mu$ L) of blood collected from the mosquitofish and sunfish, the entire 25  $\mu$ L blood+citrate buffer sample from each fish was used in the analysis. Samples were quickly thawed and added to a trypsin/detergent solution for digestion. Trypsin inhibitor solution and RNase were added after 10 min. to stop the reaction and to degrade the RNA (which can also be stained by the propidium iodide). The solution was then filtered through a 30  $\mu$ m nylon mesh and 375  $\mu$ L of propidium iodide (PI) was added. The samples were kept on ice for 15 min. and then analyzed on a Coulter Epics Elite flow cytometer (Beckman Coulter Inc., Fullerton, CA). Cells were illuminated with a laser (Coherent, Santa Clara, CA, USA) at 514 nm and 500 MW of power to excite the PI, and fluorescent emission was measured. Cells were gated on forward scatter, side scatter and the ratio of peak to integrated fluorescence. From each sample, 10,000 nuclei which satisfied all gating parameters were measured and intercellular variation in DNA content was reported as either half peak coefficient of variation (HPCV) (for fish and frogs) or full peak coefficient of variation (FPCV) (for toads). Samples that did not yield 10,000 nuclei within a 4-min. run were excluded from the statistical analyses.

# 4.2.5 Statistics

All FCM data were compared using SPSS ver. 11.0.1 software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL). Reference and experimental samples were compared by testing the samples for normality (Shapiro Wilk test for normality) and equal variance (Levene's test for equal variances). ANOVA and Bonferroni corrected post hoc comparisons were used to evaluate differences between Site-1 and reference mosquitofish and cricket frogs. A one-way ANOVA was used to compare the sunfish data from Site-1. A student's t-test was performed on the toad data from Site-2. For all tests,  $p \le 0.05$  was considered significant.

# 4.2.6 Chemical Extraction

### 4.2.6.1 Tissues

Cricket frogs from August 2004 were grouped according to high and low HPCV values. Mosquitofish from May 2005 were grouped according to high, medium and low HPCV values. Mosquitofish from May 2004, August 2004 and February 2005 were randomly composited for each sampling location. Toads were grouped according high,

medium and low FPCV values. Composite tissues were ground in a blender and dried with hydromatrix (Varian Inc., Palo Alto, CA, part #198003). The samples were extracted using a Dionex Model 200 Accelerated Solvent Extractor (ASE) (USEPA, 1996b) using pesticide-grade methylene chloride (VWR, BJ300-4). Tissue sample extracts were then run through silica gel columns (Resprep, Bellefonte, PA, part #24038) and eluted with 1:1 methylene chloride:pentane. The extracts were concentrated to 3 mL in a water bath (60°C), re-suspended in methylene chloride, and processed through HPLC to minimize matrix interference. All samples were then analyzed using Gas Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry (GC/MS) for PAHs, PCP, and semi-volatile organics (USEPA, 1996c).

# 4.2.6.2 Surface Waters

In order to enhance extraction of the PCP, all samples were adjusted to pH 3 with hydrochloric acid (HCl). Separatory funnel liquid-liquid extraction using pesticide-grade methylene chloride (VWR, BJ300-4) was performed following the methods outlined in U.S. EPA method 3510C (USEPA, 1996a).

# 4.2.6.3 Sediments

Sediment extractions were performed using a Dionex (Dionex Corp., Sunnyvale, CA) Model 200 Accelerated Solvent Extractor (ASE) using a 1:1 ratio of hexane and acetone (U.S. EPA Method 3545, U.S. EPA 1996). Approximately 30 g of sediment from each sample was oven dried at 60°C for 16 hours. Ten g ( $\pm$ 1 g) of the dried sediment was weighed for extraction. Following extraction, samples were transferred to pre-weighed sterile culture tubes with teflon-lined caps, dried under a stream of nitrogen and stored at 4°C until chemical analysis.

# 4.2.7 Chemical Analysis

Samples were analyzed for PAHs, PCP and other semivolatile organic compounds (SVOCs) using USEPA method 8270C (USEPA 1997). Analysis was

conducted on a Hewlett-Packard 5890 Series II gas chromatograph with a 5972 mass selective detector in selected ion monitoring mode. A 60m x 0.25mm ID x 0.25mm film thickness column (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA) was used. The injection port is maintained at 300°C and the transfer line at 280°C. The temperature program was as follows: 60°C for 6 minutes, increased at 12°C/minute to 180°C and then increased at 6°C/minute to 310° and held for 11 minutes for a total run time of 47 minutes. Table 5 shows a list of the total PAH analytes screened and highlights those carcinogenic PAHs, and priority pollutant PAHs described throughout the results.

# 4.3 Results

# 4.3.1 Mosquitofish (Gambusia affinis)

In May 2004, one composite sample each of mosquitofish from Site-1a, Site-2, and Ref.-2a were analyzed for priority pollutant PAHs. Data from the chemical analysis revealed elevated levels of PAHs in fish collected from Site-1a and from fish collected at the wetland drainage culvert from Site-2 (Fig. 28). There was not a large difference between the contaminated wetland at Site-2 and the reference site in terms of total PAHs (Fig. 28). However, when looking only at the carcinogenic PAHs (cPAHs), there was about 3 times the amount of cPAHs at the contaminated wetland at Site-2 compared to the reference site (21 ng/wet g vs. 8 ng/wet g respectively). Tissue chemical analysis from August 2004, February 2005, and May 2005 samples also revealed elevated levels of total PAHs in mosquitofish from Site-1a compared to the references (Fig. 29).

The maximum tissue concentrations of priority pollutant PAHs were seen in the composite sample collected in May 2004 during a flooding event (See Fig. 30 for relative water levels during mosquitofish sampling events). At this time the fish were evenly distributed throughout the sampled creek area at Site-1a. Looking at the maximum surface water concentrations taken from Site-1a in May 2005 (a year later), eight of the priority pollutant PAHs are above the screening level criteria for fish in surface waters (Table 7). During the time the surface water sample in Table 7 was

taken, the creek water level at Site-1a was low and there were free standing pools of water (Fig. 30). The pool from which this surface water was sampled yielded no organisms, confirming the high toxicity of the water for aquatic life. The data suggest that seasonal variability in water levels at Site-1a considerably affect fish exposure. Exposure may be high for fish during flooding events when the contaminants are more mobile in the water column. During dry periods, fish isolated to the water pools with highest contaminant concentrations would die. Whereas, fish isolated in cleaner pools of water (such as those fish collected in May 2005) would have increased survivability and decreased contaminant body burden. Table 8 shows the variability in the co-located water samples collected from the reference sites and Site-1a in August 2004 and May 2005. In May 2004 there was a definite contamination gradient seen as samples were collected from areas with the highest concentration (Site-1a-1) where there was no life, to pools with lower concentrations (Site-1a-3 & 4) from which fish were taken (Table 8).

In August 2004, the mosquitofish FCM data from Site-1a and Ref.-1 were not normally distributed. Using a non-parametric test there was a significant difference in FPVCs between the sites (Mann-Whitney U, p = 0.021). It was decided to repeat sampling at the same locations, increase the sample numbers and add another reference for comparison. In February 2005, HPCV data from Site-1a, Ref.-1, and Ref.-2b were normally distributed. Using a one-way ANOVA, there was a significant difference between the sampling sites (p = 0.005). A Bonferroni corrected post-hoc comparison was used to compare the 3 different sites. There was a significant difference between HPCV values from Site-1a and Ref.-2b (p = 0.004) (Fig. 31). The contaminated site showed significantly elevated levels of genetic damage compared to Ref.-2b. There was no significant difference between Site-1a and Ref.-1 (p = 0.591) (Fig. 31).



Fig. 28. PAHs detected in extracts of *Gambusia affinis* (mosquitofish) collected from a reference location (Ref.-2a), and 2 contaminated sites in May 2004 (Site-1a and Site-2). <u>One</u> composite sample was created for each site by compositing tissue from 10 fish from each site (ppPAHs = priority pollutant PAHs, tPAHs = total PAHs).



Fig. 29. Total PAH tissue concentrations (ng/wet g) detected in whole body composite samples of mosquitofish collected from Site-1 creek (Site-1a) and corresponding references (for May 2004 and August 2004, N=1 composite sample for each site; for all other sampling dates, N=3 composite samples for each site). Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM.



Fig. 30. Total precipitation associated with each mosquitofish (*Gambusia affinis*) sampling event from Site-1a including the days in which samples were collected plus 7 days (1 week) prior to sample collection.
e	e e	
Ē	Sit	
la.	шc	
Ę	ĥ	
$\mathbf{S}$	HS	
h at	$\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{A}}$	
fisl	ant	
for	llut	
Па	pol	
cite.	ity	
ы С	rioi	
eve	of p	
lg l	on c	
enii	atic	
cre	ntr	
ы С	nce	
din	00	
noc	sue	
res	ti tis	
cor	um	
nd	xim	
er a	ma	
vati	the	
ce J	tts 1	
Irfa	ser	
n s u	spre	
) IT	4 re	
<b>C</b> P	Ô	
μ	ay 2	
s an	Ĩ	
ΥH	l in	
$\mathbf{P}$	cted	
als	llec	
nic	00	
her	ple	
nt c	san	
utaı	sh	
olli	ofi	
ty p	quit	
orii	JOS(	
Pri	e n	
7.	osit	
ble	mp(	
Tal	c01	la.

<sup>a</sup> Chemical Class	Chemical	<sup>b</sup> Maximum Concentration (surf. water) ng/L	'Screening Level Criteria ng/L	Maximum Tissue Concentration ng/wet g
L(mw) PAH	Naphthalene	301	250000	147
L(mw) PAH	Acenaphthylene	4000	5800	7
L(mw) PAH	Acenaphthene	290	2300	675
L(mw) PAH	Anthracene	10300	300	21
L(mw) PAH	Fluorene	2320	11000	543
L(mw) PAH	Dibenzofuran	238	NSL	511
L(mw) PAH	Phenanthrene	32700	30000	954
H(mw) PAH	Fluoranthene	58300	6160	174
H(mw) PAH	Pyrene	45600	7000	72
H(mw) PAH	<b>Benz(a)anthracene</b>	19000	34600	4
H(mw) PAH	Chrysene	31300	7000	9
H(mw) PAH	<b>Benzo(b)fluoranthene</b>	36200	27	4
H(mw) PAH	<b>Benzo(k)fluoranthene</b>	11600	27	1
H(mw) PAH	<b>Benzo(a)pyrene</b>	13300	14	12
H(mw) PAH	Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	4830	27	1
H(mw) PAH	Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	1250	5000	0.3
H(mw) PAH	<b>Benzo(g,h,i)perylene</b>	3330	7640	1
Organochlorine	Pentachlorophenol	201	3133	NA
$^{a}L(mw) PAH = low mo$	olecular weight (< 200 atomic n	ass units) PAH, H(n	ıw) PAH = high mo	lecular weight (> 200

atomic mass units). b**Bold italics** denote tissue concentrations that are above screening level criteria for fish. <sup>c</sup>Screening level criteria for surface waters were derived from sources detailed in the remedial investigation (CH2M Hill, 2005), NSL = no screening level. NA = Not available.

during August 2004 and May 2005 mosquitofish sampling events. Data were averaged for locations with more than 1 sample collected. For averaged samples, data are presented as mean  $ng/L \pm SEM$ . Table 8. Summary chemical analysis of co-located surface water samples collected from Site-1a (creek) and corresponding references

			Ą		11 F 4	
Sample date & location	Ν	tPCP ng/L	tBaP ng/L	cPAHS ng/L	ppPAHs ng/L	tPAHs ng/L
Aug. 2004						
Ref1	2	997 <u>+</u> 794	$11 \pm 0.05$	$191 \pm 35$	$4710 \pm 2720$	$7600 \pm 4070$
Ref2a	1	5800	50	965	8330	15300
Ref2b	1	3800	10	135	4460	7170
Site-1a-1	1	80	86	714	3650	5880
Site-1a-2	1	160	1140	8280	16170	24400
Site-1a-3	1	50	800	6080	15600	22700
<b>May 2005</b>						
Ref2b	1	19	1	44	713	1210
Ref2c	1	24	6	131	2910	4740
Site-1a-1	1	201	13300	117000	275000	555000
Site-1a-2	1	59	2390	38400	121000	187000
Site-1a-3	1	38	303	3940	6530	10600
Site-1a-4	1	71	23	383	1410	2280
tPCP = total penta aromatic hydrocar	chlorophe bons (N=	$rac{1}{2}$ rol, tBaP = tots 7), ppPAHs = to	al benzo(a)pyrer stal priority poll	ne, cPAHs = tota utant PAHs (N=	I carcinogenic pol (17), and tPAHs =	ycyclic total PAHs.



Fig. 31. HPCV flow cytometry data from mosquitofish collected from Site-1a and corresponding references. Data are presented as mean HPCV  $\pm$  SEM. \*Reference HPCV means were significantly different from Site-1a HPCV means (p  $\leq$  0.05).

The final sampling event was conducted in May 2005. Ref.-1 was deleted from the sample design in favor of using Ref.-2b and Ref.-2c located within the same state park. Using HPCV values, the data were not normally distributed (p < 0.05). Following a fractional rank transformation of the data, a non-parametric ANOVA was used to compare the sites. There was a significant difference between the sampling sites (p =0.047). Using a Bonferroni corrected post-hoc comparison, there was a significant difference in HPCV values between the Site-1a and Ref.-2b (p = 0.043). However, contradictory to the second sampling event, Ref.-2b had significantly elevated levels of genetic damage compared to the contaminated site (Fig. 31). There was neither a significant difference between Site-1a and Ref.-2c nor between the two reference sites. Following flow cytometry analysis, the individual fish from May 2005 were equally grouped according to low, medium, and high HPCV values for contaminant screening. This was done to compare levels of genetic damage with whole body burdens of priority pollutants. Although low contaminant levels were seen in the low HPCV group from Site-1a and high contaminant levels seen in the high HPCV group from Site-1a, the medium HPCV group showed higher levels of total PAHs than did the high HPCV group (Fig. 32).



Fig. 32. Total PAH concentrations in mosquitofish tissues grouped according to low, medium and high HPCV values for Site-1a and two corresponding references sampled in May 2005 (N=1 composite tissue for each HPCV group).

# 4.3.2 Redear Sunfish (Lepomis microlophus)

For the juvenile redear sunfish collected from Site-1b, HPCV values from blood samples were normally distributed and equal variances were assumed based on results of the Levene's test for equal variances. There was no significant difference in HPCV values between Site-1b and Ref.-2c (p = 0.158) using a one-way ANOVA (Fig. 33). Adult sunfish were also sampled from Site-1b. The data were normally distributed and equal variances were assumed. However, using a one-way ANOVA there was no significant difference between Site-1b and Ref.-2b (p = 0.051) (data not shown).

Tissue analysis was not performed for this species. However, only benzo(b)fluoranthene was above the surface water screening level criteria for fish (Table 9). Surface water chemical analysis showed that the water chemistry between Site1-b and Ref.-2c was not very different with the reference showing higher levels of contamination than Site-1b (Table 10). Ref.-2c had over three times the amount of PAHs compared to Ref.-2b. Ref.-2b was from a large reservoir whereas Ref.-2c was from a slough area that was beginning to dry up (might have been concentrating the chemicals).



Fig. 33. HPCV flow cytometry data from juvenile sunfish (*Lepomis microlophus*) collected from Site-1b and corresponding reference in May 2005. There was no significant difference between the two locations. Data are presented as mean HPCV  $\pm$  SEM.

Chemical	<sup>a</sup> Maximum Concentration (surf. water) ng/L	<sup>b</sup> Screening Level Criteria ng/L
Naphthalene	1790	250000
Acenaphthylene	33	5800
Acenaphthene	287	2300
Anthracene	248	300
Fluorene	143	11000
Dibenzofuran	173	NSL
Phenanthrene	248	30000
Fluoranthene	228	6160
Pyrene	111	7000
Benz(a)anthracene	17	34600
Chrysene	44	7000
Benzo(b)fluoranthene	48	27
Benzo(k)fluoranthene	17	27
Benzo(a)pyrene	13	14
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	5	27
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	0	5000
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	4	7640
Pentachlorophenol	10	3130

Table 9. Priority pollutant chemicals (PAHs and PCP) in surface water and corresponding screening level criteria for fish at Site-1b.

<sup>a</sup>*Bold italics* denote tissue concentrations that are above screening level criteria for fish.

<sup>b</sup>Screening level criteria for surface waters were derived from sources detailed in the remedial investigation (CH2MHill, 2005). NSL = No screening level.

Table 10. Summary chemical analysis of co-located surface water samples collected from Site-1b (pond) and corresponding references during May 2005 redear sunfish sampling events. Ref.-2b is the location where reference adult sunfish were collected and Ref.-2c is where reference juvenile sunfish were collected. Data were averaged for locations with more than 1 sample collected. For averaged samples, data are presented as mean ng/L  $\pm$  SEM.

Sample date & location	Ν	tPCP ng/L	tBaP ng/L	cPAHs ng/L	ppPAHs ng/L	tPAHs ng/L
May 2005						
Ref2b (adults)	1	19	1.2	44	713	1210
Ref2c (juveniles)	1	24	9	131	2912	4739
Site-1b	3	21 <u>+</u> 6	7 <u>+</u> 3	93 <u>+</u> 28	2160 <u>+</u> 522	3250 <u>+</u> 660

tPCP = total pentachlorophenol, tBaP = total benzo(a)pyrene, cPAHs = total carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (N=7), ppPAHs = total priority pollutant PAHs (N=17), and tPAHs = total PAHs

# 4.3.3 Cricket Frogs (Acris crepitans)

Initially, the specimens collected in August 2004 along the banks of Site-1a and from the top of the waste cell near Site-1b were grouped separately during FCM analysis. However, statistically there was no difference between these groups (student's t-test, p=0.95) and they were combined as one site in the final analysis. HPCV values were normally distributed. Using an ANOVA, there was a significant difference between sites (p=0.036). A Bonferroni corrected post-hoc comparison was used to compare differences among sites. There was a significant difference in HPCV values between Site-1 and Ref.-3 (p = 0.05) with Site-1 showing elevated levels of genetic damage compared to the reference (Fig. 34). However, there was not a significant difference between Site-1 and the Ref.-2d (p = 1.00).



Fig. 34. HPCV flow cytometry data from cricket frogs (*Acris crepitans*) collected from Site-1 and corresponding references. Data are presented as mean HPCV + SEM. \*Ref.-3 HPCV mean was significantly different from Site-1 HPCV mean ( $p \le 0.05$ ).

Following flow cytometry analysis, individual frogs were equally grouped according to low and high HPCVs for chemical analysis. Levels of genetic damage corresponded well with total PAH concentrations in the pooled tissues (Fig. 35).

Co-located surface water samples were taken from Site-1 and associated references. Table 11 shows the maximum priority pollutant PAH concentrations found in surface waters collected from Site-1a and Site-1b and the corresponding lowest observed effect concentrations and hazard quotients for amphibians. At Site-1a, the levels of PAHs found in the surface water exceeded a hazard index of one (HI = 20) (Table 11). A hazard index above one indicates that adverse effects in amphibians from

total PAH exposure is likely. However, Site-1b had a hazard index of less than one (HI =0.23) (Table 11). The tissue sample that yielded the highest level of PAHs did not surpass the toxicity reference value (TRV) for benzo(a)pyrene (10,200 ng/wet g) which was used as a surrogate for PAHs in the remedial investigation (CH2M Hill, 2005) (Table 11). Table 12 shows PAH chemistry from the co-located surface water samples collected in August 2004 during the time of cricket frog sampling. Two samples from Site-1a had roughly double the amount of total PAHs compared to Ref.-3. Samples from Site-1a also had approximately fifty times the amount of BaP compared to Ref.-3 (Table 12).



Fig. 35. Total PAH concentrations in cricket frog (*Acris crepitans*) tissues grouped according to low and high HPCV values for Site-1 and two corresponding references sampled in August 2004 (N=1 composite tissue for each HPCV group).

Table 11.	Priority pollutant chemicals (PAHs and PCP) in surface water and corresponding LOEC HQ values for amphibians at Site-1a
& Site-1b.	. The composite cricket frog sample with the maximum tissue concentrations of priority pollutant PAHs from Site-1 is also
shown.	

Chemical	Maximum Conc. Site-1a (surf. water) ng/L	Maximum Conc. Site-1b (surf. water) ng/L	Species (used to derive LOEC) (CH2M Hill, 2005)	Receptor Life Stage	Normalized LOEC ng/L (CH2M Hill, 2005)	<sup>a</sup> LOEC HQ Site-1a	<sup>a</sup> LOEC HQ Site-Ib	Maximum Tissue Conc. ng/wet g
Naphthalene	301	1790	Xenopus laevis	Tadpole	210000	0.0014	0.0085	10
Acenaphthylene	4000	33	Xenopus laevis	Tadpole	210000	0.0190	0.0002	1
Acenaphthene	290	287	Xenopus laevis	Tadpole	210000	0.0014	0.0014	49
Anthracene	10300	248	Rana pipiens	Embryo	2500	4.1200	.09920	2
Fluorene	2320	143	Xenopus laevis	Tadpole	210000	0.0111	0.0007	29
Phenanthrene	32700	248	Xenopus laevis	Tadpole	210000	0.1557	0.0012	144
Dibenzofuran	238	173	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	25
Fluoranthene	58300	228	Rana pipiens	Tadpole	0006	6.4778	0.0253	74
Pyrene	45600	111	Rana pipiens	Tadpole	14000	3.2571	0.0079	50
Benz(a)anthracene	19000	17	Pleurodeles waltl	Embryo	50000	0.3800	0.0003	7
Chrysene	31300	44	Pleurodeles waltl	Embryo	50000	0.6260	0.0009	33
Benzo(b)fluoranthene	36200	48	Pleurodeles waltl	Embryo	50000	0.7240	0.0010	S
<b>Benzo(k)fluoranthene</b>	11600	17	Pleurodeles waltl	Embryo	50000	0.2320	0.0003	7
<b>Benzo(a)pyrene</b>	13300	13	Pleurodeles waltl	Embryo	50000	2.6600	0.0003	0.4
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	4830	5	Pleurodeles waltl	Embryo	50000	0.0966	0.0001	1
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	1250	ND	Pleurodeles waltl	Embryo	50000	0.0250	ŊŊ	0.2
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	3330	4	Pleurodeles waltl	Embryo	50000	0.0666	0.0001	0.5
Pentachlorophenol	201	10	Bufo bufo japonicus	Tadpole	125	1.608	0.0824	NA
					= IHq	20	0.23	

<sup>a</sup>LOEC HQ = lowest observed effect concentration hazard quotient; formula = maximum surface water concentration ng/L / normalized LOEC ng/L. <sup>b</sup>HI = Hazard Index (HI = HQ<sub>1</sub> + HQ<sub>2</sub>....HQ<sub>16</sub> for each priority pollutant listed). NA = Not available, ND = Not Detected

Table 12. Summary chemical analysis of co-located surface water samples collected from Site-1a (creek) and corresponding references during August 2004 cricket frog sampling events. Data were averaged for locations with more than 1 sample collected. For averaged samples, data are presented as mean  $ng/L \pm SEM$ .

Sample date & location	N	tPCP ng/L	tBaP ng/L	cPAHs ng/L	ppPAHs ng/L	tPAHs ng/L
Aug. 2004						
Ref2d	-	1440	7	84	2590	4540
Ref3	3	$776 \pm 337$	$21 \pm 7$	528 ± 114	$6740 \pm 1580$	$10400 \pm 1970$
Site-1a-1	1	80	86	714	3650	5880
Site-1a-2	1	160	1140	8280	16170	24380
Site-1a-3	1	53	828	6080	15570	22720
tPCP = total pentachlc ppPAHs = total priori	prophenol, tBal ty pollutant PA	P = total benzo(s) Hs (N=17), and	a)pyrene, cPAHs =   tPAHs = total PA	= total carcinogenic Hs.	polycyclic aromatic	: hydrocarbons (N=7

139

# 4.3.4 Gulf Coast Toads (Bufo valiceps) and Site-2 Media

Juvenile Gulf Coast toads were collected from Site-2 in August 2004. Full Peak Coefficients of Variation (FPCV) were calculated as an estimate of intra-individual genome size variability, a biomarker of chromosomal damage. FPCV values were normally distributed. Using a t-test the FPCV values from Site-2 specimens were significantly elevated compared to FPCV values from Ref.-4 specimens (p < 0.001) (Fig. 36).



Fig. 36. FPCV flow cytometry data from juvenile Gulf Coast toads (*Bufo valiceps*) and Ref.-4. Data are presented as mean HPCV  $\pm$  SEM. \*Reference HPCV means were significantly lower than Site-2 HPCV means (p < 0.001).

Tissue contaminant analysis was variable for the contaminated site samples and the reference and did not correspond well with FPCV groupings. The medium FPCV sample had the highest levels of PAHs (236 ng/wet g) and the high FPCV sample had the lowest levels of PAHs (124 ng/wet g) (Fig. 37).



Fig. 37. Total PAH concentrations in juvenile Gulf Coast toad (*Bufo valiceps*) tissues grouped according to low, medium and high FPCV values for Site-2 and Ref.-4 sampled in August 2004 (N=1 composite tissue for each FPCV group).

Table 13. Summary chemical analysis of co-located surface water samples collected from Site-2 and corresponding reference during August 2004 Gulf coast toad sampling events. Data were averaged for locations with more than 1 sample collected. For averaged samples, data are presented as mean  $ng/L \pm SEM$ .

Sample date & location	Ν	tPCP ng/L	tBaP ng/L	cPAHs ng/L	ppPAHs ng/L	tPAHs ng/L
Aug. 2004						
Ref4	3	962 <u>+</u> 693	$180 \pm 157$	$2920 \pm 2420$	$11300 \pm 6550$	$17900 \pm 10200$
Site-2	2	$250 \pm 129$	$64 \pm 47$	$531 \pm 360$	$3120 \pm 154$	$4660 \pm 841$
	Ę.		) The second	·   ·	:	í

tPCP = total pentachlorophenol, tBaP = total benzo(a)pyrene, cPAHs = total carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (N=7), ppPAHs = total priority pollutant PAHs (N=17), and tPAHs = total PAHs.

Co-located water samples at Site-2 were collected in August 2004 from puddles about 300 ft. north of where toads were collected and away from the contaminant zone. This was the first surface water encountered. The toad's natal pools had presumably evaporated by the time of specimen collection. Water from the reference was collected from a creek in the wetland area and as with Site-2, may not be indicative of toad surface water exposure from their natal puddles. As shown in Table 13, surface water from the reference was more contaminated with PAHs and PCP than the surface water from Site-2. However, surface water samples collected from the forested wetland during the remedial investigation contained levels of PAHs above the screening values (CH2M Hill, 2005). Of the 17 priority pollutant PAHs found in the surface water, the low molecular weight PAHs (L(mw)PAHs) were below the screening levels. Fluoranthene, benzo(b)fluoranthene, benzo(k)fluoranthene, indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene and BaP were the high molecular weight PAHs (L(mw)PAHs) above screening levels in the surface water (CH2M Hill, 2005). Surface waters also contained PCP and dioxins above screening levels (CH2M Hill, 2005). Sediment chemistry from the remedial investigation indicated that all surface sediment samples (0-1 ft. deep) within the toad sampling area were above screening values for BaP, total PAHs and PCP (CH2M Hill, 2005). In addition to PCP and the H(mw)PAHs, dioxins and zinc were also among the contaminants of concern for vertebrates (deer mice, mink, armadillo and American woodcock) in the wetland (CH2M Hill, 2005). Since the sediments in the wetland are often exposed during dry spells, adult amphibians are likely to be in close contact with the contaminated sediments and surface waters.

# 4.3.5 Sediment Site-1

Sediments were collected from Site-1a, Site-1b, Ref.-2b and Ref.-2c in May 2005. Table 14 shows the priority pollutant chemicals detected in the sediments and their corresponding screening level criteria for the benthic communities at both Site-1a and Site-1b. In general, sediments collected from both Site-1a and 1b had elevated levels of PAHs compared to the reference samples (Table 15). Comparing those

samples with the highest concentrations of PAHs to screening level criteria for benthic organisms, it is apparent that PAHs in the sediments exceed the screening level criteria at both Site-1a and Site-1b. Site-specific toxicity reference values were derived for benthic invertebrates using *ex-situ* toxicity tests. All sediment samples exceeded a hazard index of 1 for the PAHs tested (CH2M Hill, 2005).

# 4.4 Discussion

Over the course of one year, two hazardous waste sites contaminated with wood preserving waste were sampled for biota and environmental media. Of the biota samples, mosquitofish (Gambusia affinis), redear sunfish (Lepomis microlophus), and cricket frogs (Acris crepitans) were obtained from Site-1 and Gulf Coast toads (Bufo *valiceps*) were collected from Site-2. Although the results varied among species, mosquitofish and frogs collected from Site-1 and toads collected from Site-2 exhibited increased markers of genotoxic damage as measured by FCM. Markers of genetic damage were consistent with increased concentrations of PAHs in tissues compared to reference animals, despite the fact that tissue levels were far below the lowest observed effect concentrations reported in the remedial investigation (CH2M Hill, 2005). Surface water and sediment sample PAH concentrations exceeded screening level criteria for fish, amphibians, and benthic organisms at Site-1a. Sediment samples from Site-1b exceeded screening level criteria for the benthic community. Surface water and sediment samples exceeded PAH screening level criteria for vertebrates at Site-2. Genetic damage in the mosquitofish from Site-1a was variable and could have been due to several factors including (but not limited to): contamination at the reference site, fluctuating water levels in Site-1a altering fish exposure, changes in water temperatures between February and May, and adaptation by the fish to the contaminants. Although mosquitofish collected in May 2005 showed elevated levels of PAHs in their tissues compared to the reference fish, levels of genetic damage at the contaminated site were actually lower in May than the references. One of the challenges in performing ecological risk assessments is finding appropriate references. Due to the high variability Table 14. Priority pollutant chemicals (PAHs and PCP) in sediments collected in May 2005 and corresponding screening level criteria for benthic communities at Site-1a and Site-1b.

	<sup>a</sup> Maximum	<sup>a</sup> Maximum	<sup>b</sup> Screening Level
	Concentration	Concentration	Criteria
Chemical	Site-1a	Site-1b	ng/drv g
	ng/dry g sed.	ng/dry g sed.	sediment
Acenaphthylene	1490	87	9
Acenaphthene	39000	102	L
Anthracene	47500	738	57
Fluorene	143000	508	<i>LL</i>
Dibenzofuran	110000	203	NSL
Phenanthrene	214000	2550	204
Fluoranthene	169000	2100	423
Pyrene	114000	1720	195
<b>Benz(a)anthracene</b>	83100	975	108
Chrysene	62500	1350	166
Benzo(b)fluoranthene	51100	1730	9
Benzo(k)fluoranthene	20700	562	240
<b>Benzo(a)pyrene</b>	7410	644	150
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	0069	465	200
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	2000	108	33
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	3190	290	170
Total PAH	1550000	2 <i>0</i> 3 <i>00</i>	12200
Pentachlorophenol	0	71	-
<sup>a</sup> Bold italics denote sediment co	oncentrations that are a	above screening level	criteria for the benthic

community. <sup>b</sup>Screening level criteria for sediments were derived from sources detailed in the remedial investigation (CH2M Hill, 2005). NSL = No Screening Level

corresponding references during May 2005 sampling events. Data were averaged for locations with more than 1 sample collected. For averaged samples, data are presented as mean ng/dry g sediment <u>+</u> SEM. Table 15. Summary chemical analysis of co-located sediment samples collected from Site-1a (creek), Site-1b (pond) and

& location	N	tPCP ng/dry g sediment	tBaP ng/dry g sediment	cPAHs ng/dry g sediment	ppPAHs ng/dry g sediment	tPAHs ng/dry g sediment
<b>May 2005</b>						
Ref2b	1	34	L	70	1090	1630
Ref2c	1	7	16	1090	2880	4160
Ref3	3	$24 \pm 10$	$5 \pm 0.4$	47 <u>+</u> 7	$548 \pm 261$	828 <u>+</u> 315
Site-1a-1	1	3	521	6320	10500	17200
Site-1a-2	1	0	12500	110000	330005	519000
Site-1a-3	1	0	7410	234000	1080000	1550000
Site-1a-4	1	61	84	648	4750	6440
Site-1b	3	$46 \pm 21$	$342 \pm 173$	$3890 \pm 1660$	$9400 \pm 4230$	$13500 \pm 6040$

ppPAHs = total priority pollutant PAHs (N=17), and tPAHs = total PAHs. ť

inherent in ecosystems, references close to the study sites could be considerably different and may also be contaminated. Reference 2 (a-d) in this study has several mercury advisory signs posted throughout the park. It is known that mercury has the ability to cause chromosome damage (De Flora et al., 1994; Zucker et al., 1990) and may have contributed to elevated genetic damage in the fish and amphibians collected from areas within Ref.-2. In addition to the mercury problem at the reference location, there was also considerable boat traffic during the May 2005 sampling event. This lead to the consideration that elevated levels of genetic damage seen in the reference fish from Ref.-2b could be attributed to gasoline pollution from boat traffic. However, the surface water and sediment analysis did not confirm greater levels of PAHs at Ref.-2 compared to Site-1.

Moreover, with Site-1a in particular, the water levels in the creek appear to correspond to increased levels of genetic damage. When water levels were at their highest in May 2004, tissue body burden in mosquitofish was also at its highest. In February 2005, water levels were higher than during May 2005 which might help to explain the increased levels of genetic damage seen in the fish in February compared to May. Although total PAH tissue body burden in the May 2005 mosquitofish was greater than the February 2005 fish, it is possible that the fish collected in May 2005 had had longer to adjust to the contaminants in their isolated pool. Studies have shown that exposed animals may exhibit increased genetic damage immediately after exposure to a mutagen followed by recovery and sometimes lower genetic damage compared to controls (Bickham et al., 1994). It has also been demonstrated that fish collected from PAH contaminated environments have developed a tolerance for the contaminants as measured by refractory response to CYP1A induction (Meyer et al., 2002), and upregulated antioxidant defenses (Bacanskas et al., 2004).

Bacanskas et al. studied oxidative stress in killifish from a creosote polluted environment and showed that not only were antioxidant defenses upregulated in the fish from the contaminated environment compared to controls, but also that there were sex specific and temperature specific differences in the parameters measured. Females

147

showed greater glutathione peroxidase (a protective enzyme) activity in May which could have been indicative of increased uptake of contaminants during spawning. The researchers also hypothesized that certain antioxidant parameters could increase with increasing water temperatures. In other words, as the water temperature increases, biological functions in fish including metabolic rate and enzyme activities may also rise (Bacanskas et al., 2004). The mosquitofish collected for this research were primarily females. When specimens were collected in February 2005 water temperatures would have been colder, and females would not have been spawning. Therefore, not only would their metabolisms be slower, their uptake of contaminants might also be low. In May the water temperatures would have been warmer increasing enzyme function; and females would have been spawning which might have increased their body burden of contaminants. However, the genotoxicity of increased PAH body burden in May could have been offset by an increase in protective enzymes. Warmer temperatures, reproductive status and increased exposure from flooding would all help to explain the high body burden in fish collected in May 2004 as well as the differences in genetic damage in fish from February 2005 and May 2005. It is important to consider both environmental conditions during the time of collection as well as reproductive status of the target species when investigating potential causes of genotoxicity.

With regard to the amphibians, frogs and toads are unique in the sense of being biphasic. As tadpoles they live in the water and feed on detritus. As adults both frogs and toads feed on insects and other organisms. They can be highly susceptible to contaminants and are exposed via dietary routes and from dermal absorption through their permeable skin. Frogs and toads are an essential link in the food chain in terms of being predators themselves and also being preyed upon by larger aquatic and terrestrial predators such as fish, snakes, foxes, raccoons and hawks found at the sites investigated. Changes in their individual fitness due to contaminant exposure could have effects at the population levels and disrupt ecosystem balance at these sites.

The results of genotoxicity testing, *ex-situ* toxicity tests and chemical analysis indicate that ecological receptors are impacted by residual contaminants at both Site-1

and Site-2 former wood preserving facilities. Although genotoxicity data were not used to generate remediation goals, the FCM method coupled with chemical analysis demonstrates that genotoxicity tests can be used as lines of evidence in ecological risk assessment provided they are considered early in the process and specifically designed to be part of the remedial investigation. This collaborative effort may help improve the risk assessment process and enhance our understanding of the impact that certain xenobiotics have on genetic stability in contaminated ecosystems.

# CHAPTER V SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

# 5.1 Summary

Hazardous chemicals are released into the environment from a broad range of sources including industrial activities, combustion of fossil fuels, and uncontrolled hazardous waste sites. This research was conducted to provide information that could be used to improve our understanding of the potential adverse human or ecological health impact associated with exposure to complex chemical mixtures. Although the research focused on the toxicity of mixtures isolated from Superfund sites, the data are applicable to any population exposure to mixtures. Mixture toxicity was measured using a battery of *in vitro*, *in vivo*, and *in situ* bioassays. Data were collected from four Superfund sites including: (1) environmental media from an active bioremediation facility treating wood-preserving waste contaminated soil and water; (2) contaminated sediments from an industrial waterway; and (3) wildlife tissues and environmental media from two former wood-preserving sites for an ecological risk characterization. The projects show a progression from the use of *in vitro* to *in vivo* to *in situ* work with complex mixtures, and demonstrate the utility of each approach in measuring genotoxicity.

#### 5.1.1 Genotoxicity of Complex Chemical Mixtures in Soil After Bioremediation

The genotoxicity of soil and water samples were compared with the results of chemical analysis from a site using bioremediation to treat contaminated environmental media. Bioremediation is one of the most cost-effective technologies for treatment of contaminated soils and groundwater. While limited information exists to define the genotoxicity of complex environmental mixtures, even less is known regarding the potential of the products of biodegradation to produce adverse health effects. Samples were collected to monitor the genotoxicity of complex mixtures extracted from soil and groundwater samples from a site where creosote and pentachlorophenol were used for wood treatment. Twelve surface soil samples were collected annually for three years

from a land treatment unit. Ground water samples were collected using resin-packed columns from an oil-water separator and as effluent from a bioreactor tank. PAHs and pentachlorophenol in the soil and groundwater extracts were quantified using gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS). Genotoxicity was measured using both the *Salmonella*/microsome assay and the *E. coli* prophage induction assay.

Chemical concentrations were highly variable in both the surface soil and ground water extractions as was the mutagenic response in these samples. The concentration of carcinogenic PAHs or BaP did not correlate with genotoxicity in either bioassay. These data suggest that mixture interactions have altered the microbial mutagenicity of the PAHs. In addition, genotoxicity as measured using the *E.coli* prophage induction assay did not coincide with PCP concentrations in the surface soils or groundwater.

Results from the five year review of this site have indicated that surface soil and groundwater concentrations of contaminants have successfully reached remediation goals for PAHs and PCP in older treatment units (USEPA, 2005c). The results of the current study indicate that overall total PAH and carcinogenic PAH concentrations in surface soils were reduced during the years samples have been collected. However, genotoxicity, as measured in microbial bioassays did not exhibit a corresponding reduction over time. A range of contaminant interactions could account for the lack of change in soil genotoxicity. Microbial bioassays may not accurately reflect the concentration of genotoxic compounds in soil extracts if high concentrations of cytotoxic compounds reduce survival of microbes. In addition, competition for metabolizing enzymes in a mixture may reduce activation of genotoxic compounds. Finally, diffusion of the genotoxic compounds into the cell may be inhibited by insoluble compounds in a complex mixture. In most cases, biodegradation initially results in a reduction of the low molecular weight, and non-genotoxic, components of a complex mixture. During the time which samples were collected for the present study, chemical interactions may have enhanced or inhibited expression of genotoxic compounds in soil extracts. Because wood preserving wastes may potentially contain thousands to tens of thousands of compounds it is not yet possible (or economical) to screen for all of the mixture

components. However, biological analysis of mixture extracts provides information regarding potential component interactions. The current study found that a combined testing protocol using both biological and chemical analysis provides a more comprehensive view of the fate of contaminants in bioremediation systems than either method alone.

# 5.1.2 Genotoxicity of Sediments Containing Mixtures of PCBs and PAHs

The potential interactions of mixtures of PAHs and PCBs were investigated in a whole animal study using the extracts of sediments collected from an industrialized river. Contaminants in sediments may be transferred to benthic and other aquatic species as well as to terrestrial species (including humans) in the food web. Complex chemical mixtures in sediment represent a significant challenge in terms of both chemical composition and toxicological effects.

Sediment samples were collected from a reference station and five locations along a contaminated tidal, estuarine river segment. Chemical analysis identified high molecular weight PCBs as the major contaminant. Total PCB concentrations were generally at least 4-5 times greater than total PAH concentrations. Sediment extracts were also analyzed *in vitro* using microbial genotoxicity bioassays and *in vivo* using the <sup>32</sup>P- postlabeling assay to detect levels of DNA adducts in female ICR mice. The extracts were either negative or weakly positive (for one sample) in the microbial bioassays. Bioassay results did not correspond with concentrations of either PAHs or PCBs. Extracts from contaminated sediments applied to the skin of mice were found to induce a significant increase in DNA adducts when compared to the results obtained with background sediments. DNA adduct levels in tissue corresponded with PAH and not with PCB concentrations. When the sediment extract with the highest level of PCBs was topically co-administered with benzo[a]pyrene (BaP) to female ICR mice, the complex mixtures extracted from the sediment inhibited the formation of adducts including spot 4 adducts (previously identified as the BPDE adduct). At a concentration of 3.0mg/mouse, the sediment extract produced a 3-fold reduction in BaP adducts.

These data suggest that chemical interactions may have reduced the potential genotoxicity of the complex mixtures extracted from sediments. The overall genotoxic effect seen with these sediment mixtures was inhibition.

# 5.1.3 Genotoxicity Studies on Ecological Receptors at Hazardous Waste Sites

Data were also obtained to measure the genotoxic potential of contaminants in ecological receptors. Flow cytometry studies conducted on four species were used in a weight-of-evidence approach to assess ecological risk at two former wood treatment facilities contaminated with wood preserving waste. Mosquitofish (*Gambusia affinis*), cricket frogs (*Acris crepitans*), redear sunfish (*Lepomis microlophus*), and Gulf Coast toads (*Bufo valiceps*) were collected from contaminated areas in former wood preserving facilities as well as from several reference stations. Whole body chemical analysis of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) was performed on pooled tissue samples grouped according to high and low CVs recorded in flow cytometry analysis. Colocated surface water and sediment samples were also analyzed for PAHs and pentachlorophenol (PCP). Media chemistry results were compared to literature based screening values.

Using non-parametric ANOVA and Bonferroni corrected *post hoc* comparisons, there was a significant difference in half-peak coefficients of variation (HPCVs) between *Gambusia* (p = 0.004) and *Acris* (p = 0.05) from select references and Site-1. There was also a significant difference in full-peak coefficients of variation (FPCV) values between *Bufo* (p<0.001) from the reference and Site-2 (student's t-test). Surface waters and sediments exceeded PAH screening values at both Site-1 and Site-2. All lines of evidence indicate that PAHs at the sites are genotoxic to mosquitofish and amphibians. The results from the analysis of ecological receptors at wood-preserving sites indicate that fish and amphibians collected from a contaminated area will have increased levels of genetic damage compared to reference fish and amphibians (as measured by flow cytometry); and, genetic damage in fish and amphibians will correspond with contaminant concentrations detected in environmental media (sediments, surface water).

However, tissue concentrations were below screening level criteria for fish and amphibians and contaminant body burden did not correspond well with CV grouping for the mosquitofish from Site-1 or for the toads collected from Site-2. HPCV groupings did coincide with PAH body burden in cricket frogs from Site-1. The overall results are similar to results determined for the benthic community in the same water bodies based upon a weight-of-evidence approach that included media chemistry analysis, *ex-situ* toxicity tests, species surveys, and analysis of crayfish tissue relative to literature screening values (CH2MHill, 2005). The genotoxicity data were integrated into a weight-of-evidence ecological risk assessment performed by the U.S. EPA for both sites.

#### 5.2 Conclusions

To investigate the potential risk associated with exposure to complex environmental mixtures, the current study has coupled chemical analysis with a battery of *in vitro*, *in vivo*, and *in situ* techniques. While the *in vitro* techniques (Salmonella/microsome assay and *E. coli* prophage induction assay) are useful for screening for mutagenic potential, additional bioassays such as mammalian cell culture might offer more target-specific information to discern mixture toxicity. The <sup>32</sup>Ppostabeling assay used *in vivo* and the flow cytometry method used *in situ* were sensitive to the mixtures of concern and effective biomarkers of PAH exposures. For the PAH and PCB mixtures studied in this research, additional biomarkers that may have provided valuable data include the ethoxyresorufin-O-deethylase (EROD) assay, lysosome stability, or disruptions in endocrine function. These biomarkers might help to detect the epigenetic effects that PCBs have within complex environmental mixtures.

Although the focus of risk assessment is on hazardous waste sites that directly threaten human health, those sites that threaten ecological health are also of concern. While aquatic toxicity bioassays and chemical analysis provide valuable information to describe existing site characteristics, data are also needed to define the potential genotoxic risk of site contaminants on wildlife. In order to establish primary remediation goals (PRGs), the risk assessment process requires more quantitative information. This research has used a battery of *in vitro* genotoxicity bioassays to provide qualitative data regarding complex mixture toxicity. More quantitative data regarding mixture genotoxicity was obtained from the *in vivo* and *in situ* bioassays. While genetic damage is considered a sublethal effect, exposure to chemicals which damage DNA may lead to reduced reproductive capabilities, birth defects, and modifications to the genetic integrity of a population. An integrated approach, combining *in situ* and *ex-situ* methods to characterize genotoxicity should be considered in both the human and ecological risk assessment process.

#### REFERENCES

- Abraham MH, Autenrieth R, Dimitriou-Christidis P. 2005. The estimation of physicochemical properties of methyl and other alkyl naphthalenes. J Environ Monit 7(5):445-9.
- American Cancer Society (ACS). 2005. Cancer Facts and Figures 2005. Atlanta: American Cancer Society.
- Akcha F, Vincent Hubert F, Pfhol-Leszkowicz A. 2003. Potential value of the comet assay and DNA adduct measurement in dab (*Limanda limanda*) for assessment of in situ exposure to genotoxic compounds. Mutat Res 534(1-2):21-32.
- Altenburger R, Nendza M, Schuurmann G. 2003. Mixture toxicity and its modeling by quantitative structure-activity relationships. Environ Toxicol Chem 22(8):1900-15.
- Alvares AP, Kappas A. 1977. The inducing properties of polychlorinated biphenyls on hepatic monooxygenases. Clin Pharmacol Ther 22(5 Pt 2):809-16.
- Ames BN, Durston WE, Yamasaki E, Lee FD. 1973a. Carcinogens are mutagens: a simple test system combining liver homogenates for activation and bacteria for detection. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 70:2281-5.
- Ames BN, Lee FD, Durston WE. 1973b. An improved bacterial test system for the detection and classification of mutagens and carcinogens. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 70:782-6.
- Ames BN, McCann J, Yamasaki E. 1975. Methods for detecting carcinogens and mutagens with the Salmonella/mammalian-microsome mutagenicity test. Mutat Res 31(6):347-64.
- Asante-Duah K. 2002. Public Health Risk Assessment for Human Exposure to Chemicals. Alloway BJ, Trevors, J.T., editor. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Ashby J, Tennant RW. 1988. Chemical structure, Salmonella mutagenicity and extent of carcinogenicity as indicators of genotoxic carcinogenesis among 222 chemicals tested in rodents by the U.S. NCI/NTP. Mutat Res 204(1):17-115.
- Ashby J, Tennant RW, Zeiger E, Stasiewicz S. 1989. Classification according to chemical structure, mutagenicity to Salmonella and level of carcinogenicity of a

further 42 chemicals tested for carcinogenicity by the U.S. National Toxicology Program. Mutat Res 223(2):73-103.

- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR). 1996. ToxFAQs<sup>TM</sup> for Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/tfacts69.html.
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR). 2004. ToxFaQs<sup>TM</sup> for Wood Creosote, Coal Tar Creosote, Coal Tar, Coal Tar Pitch, and Coal Tar Pitch Volatiles. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/tfacts85.html.
- Bacanskas LR, Whitaker J, Di Giulio RT. 2004. Oxidative stress in two populations of killifish (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) with differing contaminant exposure histories. Mar Environ Res 58(2-5):597-601.
- Baker VA, Hepburn PA, Kennedy SJ, Jones PA, Lea LJ, Sumpter JP, Ashby J. 1999. Safety evaluation of phytosterol esters. Part 1. Assessment of oestrogenicity using a combination of *in vivo* and *in vitro* assays. Food Chem Toxicol 37(1):13-22.
- Barbee GC, Brown KW, Thomas JC, Donnelly KC, Murray HE. 1996. Mutagenic activity (Ames test) of wood-preserving waste sludge applied to soil. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 57(1):54-62.
- Bedient P, Rodgers A, Bouvette T. 1984. Groundwater quality at a creosote waste site. Ground Water 22:318-29.
- Behler JL, King FW. 1995. National Audubon Society: Field Guide to North American Reptiles and Amphibians. New York, New York: Alfred A. Knopf.
- Bickham JW. 1998. Unnatural Selection. 1998 Yearbook of Science and the Future. Chicago: Encyclopaedia Britannica, Inc. p 108-121.
- Bickham JW, Hanks BG, Smolen MJ, Lamb T, Gibbons JW. 1988. Flow cytometric analysis of the effects of low-level radiation exposure on natural populations of slider turtles (*Pseudemys scripta*). Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 17(6):837-41.
- Bickham JW, Mazet JA, Blake J, Smolen MJ, Lou Y, Ballachey BE. 1998a. Flowcytometric determination of genotoxic effects of exposure to petroleum in mink and sea otters. Ecotoxicology 7:191-9.
- Bickham JW, Rowe GT, Palatnikov G, Mekhtiev A, Mekhtiev M, Kasimov RY, Hauschultz DW, Wickliffe JK, Rogers WJ. 1998b. Acute and genotoxic effects

of Baku Harbor sediment on Russian sturgeon, *Acipenser guildensteidti*. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 61(4):512-8.

- Bickham JW, Sandhu S, Hebert PD, Chikhi L, Athwal R. 2000. Effects of chemical contaminants on genetic diversity in natural populations: Implications for biomonitoring and ecotoxicology. Mutat Res 463(1):33-51.
- Bickham JW, Sawin VL, Burton DW, McBee K. 1992. Flow-cytometric analysis of the effects of triethylenemelamine on somatic and testicular tissues of the rat. Cytometry 13(4):368-73.
- Bickham JW, Sawin VL, McBee K, Smolen MJ, Derr JN. 1994. Further flow cytometric studies of the effects of triethylenemelamine on somatic and testicular tissues of the rat. Cytometry 15(3):222-9.
- Bihari N, Fafandel M. 2004. Interspecies differences in DNA single strand breaks caused by benzo(a)pyrene and marine environment. Mutat Res 552(1-2):209-17.
- Bleeker EA, Wiegman S, de Voogt P, Kraak M, Leslie HA, de Haas E, Admiraal W. 2002. Toxicity of azaarenes. Rev Environ Contam Toxicol 173:39-83.
- Boschung HT, Jr., Williams JD, Gotshall GW, Caldwell DK, Caldwell MC. 1983. National Audubon Society: Field Guide to North American Fishes, Whales and Dolphins. New York, New York: Alfred A. Knopf.
- Breinholt V, Schimerlik M, Dashwood R, Bailey G. 1995. Mechanisms of chlorophyllin anticarcinogenesis against aflatoxin B1: Complex formation with the carcinogen. Chem Res Toxicol 8(4):506-14.
- Broeg K, Westernhagen Hv, Zander S, Korting W, Koehler A. 2005. The "bioeffect assessment index" (BAI): A concept for the quantification of effects of marine pollution by an integrated biomarker approach. Mar Pollut Bull 50(5):495-503.
- Brooks LR, Hughes TJ, Claxton LD, Austern B, Brenner R, Kremer F. 1998. Bioassaydirected fractionation and chemical identification of mutagens in bioremediated soils. Environ Health Perspect 106 Suppl 6:1435-40.
- Brown KW, Donnelly KC, Thomas JC, Davol P, Scott BR. 1985. Mutagenicity of three agricultural soils. Sci Total Environ 41(2):173-86.
- Brucker-Davis F, Thayer K, Colborn T. 2001. Significant effects of mild endogenous hormonal changes in humans: considerations for low-dose testing. Environ Health Perspect 109 Suppl 1:21-6.

- Carlsten C, Hunt SC, Kaufman JD. 2005. Squamous cell carcinoma of the skin and coal tar creosote exposure in a railroad worker. Environ Health Perspect 113(1):96-7.
- Centers for Disease Control (CDC). 2005. Improper disposal of hazardous substances and resulting injuries--selected States, January 2001-March 2005. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 54(36):897-9.
- CH2M Hill. 2005. Remedial Investigation and Feasibility Study Report--Jasper Creosoting Company, Jasper, Texas.
- Cheung VG, Morley M, Aguilar F, Massimi A, Kucherlapati R, Childs G. 1999. Making and reading microarrays. Nat Genet 21(1 Suppl):15-9.
- Chu KC, Patel KM, Lin AH, Tarone RE, Linhart MS, Dunkel VC. 1981. Evaluating statistical analyses and reproducibility of microbial mutagenicity assays. Mutat Res 85(3):119-32.
- Cizmas L, Barhoumi R, Burghardt RC, Reeves WR, He L, McDonald TJ, Donnelly KC. 2003. A comparison of two methods for fractionating complex mixtures in preparation for toxicity analysis. J Toxicol Environ Health A 66(14):1351-70.
- Cizmas L, McDonald TJ, Phillips TD, Gillespie AM, Lingenfelter RA, Kubena LF, Phillips TD, Donnelly KC. 2004a. Toxicity characterization of complex mixtures using biological and chemical analysis in preparation for assessment of mixture similarity. Environ Sci Technol 38(19):5127-33.
- Cizmas L, Zhou GD, Safe SH, McDonald TJ, Zhu L, Donnelly KC. 2004b. Comparative *in vitro* and *in vivo* genotoxicities of 7H-benzo[c]fluorene, manufactured gas plant residue (MGP), and MGP fractions. Environ Mol Mutagen 43(3):159-68.
- Clements WH, Newman MC. 2002. Community Ecotoxicology. Newmann MC, editor. West Sussex: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. 1-336 p.
- Clemons E, Arkoosh MR, Casillas E. 1999. Enhanced superoxide anion production in activated peritoneal macrophages from English sole (*Pleuronectes vetulus*) exposed to polycyclic aromatic compounds Mar Environ Rese 47:71-87.
- Colborn T, Dumanoski, D., Myers, J.P. 1997. Our Stolen Future. New York, New York: Plume.
- Courcelle J, Khodursky A, Peter B, Brown PO, Hanawalt PC. 2001. Comparative gene expression profiles following UV exposure in wild-type and SOS-deficient *Escherichia coli*. Genetics 158(1):41-64.

- Custer TW, Custer CM, Hines RK, Sparks DW, Melancon MJ, Hoffman DJ, Bickham JW, Wickliffe JK. 2000. Mixed-function oxygenases, oxidative stress, and chromosomal damage measured in lesser scaup wintering on the Indiana Harbor Canal. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 38(4):522-9.
- Daly H, Darvill T, Lonky E, Reihman J, Sargent D. 1996. Behavioral effects of prenatal and adult exposure to toxic chemicals found in Lake Ontario fish: two methodological approaches. Toxicol Ind Health 12(3-4):419-26.
- Dashwood R, Negishi T, Hayatsu H, Breinholt V, Hendricks J, Bailey G. 1998. Chemopreventive properties of chlorophylls towards aflatoxin B1: a review of the antimutagenicity and anticarcinogenicity data in rainbow trout. Mutat Res 399(2):245-53.
- De Coen WM, Janssen CR. 2003. A multivariate biomarker-based model predicting population-level responses of *Daphnia magna*. Environ Toxicol Chem 22(9):2195-201.
- De Flora S, Bennicelli C, Bagnasco M. 1994. Genotoxicity of mercury compounds. A review. Mutat Res 317:57-79.
- Degen GH, Bolt HM. 2000. Endocrine disruptors: Update on xenoestrogens. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 73(7):433-41.
- DeMarini DM. 1998. Mutation spectra of complex mixtures. Mutat Res 411(1):11-8.
- DeMarini DM, Brooks HG. 1992. Induction of prophage lambda by chlorinated organics: detection of some single-species/single-site carcinogens. Environ Mol Mutagen 19(2):98-111.
- DeMarini DM, Brooks HG, Parkes DG, Jr. 1990. Induction of prophage lambda by chlorophenols. Environ Mol Mutagen 15(1):1-9.
- DeMarini DM, Gallagher JE, Houk VS, Simmons JE. 1989. Toxicological evaluation of complex industrial wastes: Implications for exposure assessment. Toxicol Lett 49(2-3):199-214.
- DeMarini DM, Lawrence BK. 1992. Prophage induction by DNA topoisomerase II poisons and reactive-oxygen species: Role of DNA breaks. Mutat Res 267:1-17.
- Deml E, Oesterle D, Wiebel FJ. 1983. Benzo[a]pyrene initiates enzyme-altered islands in the liver of adult rats following single pretreatment and promotion with polychlorinated biphenyls. Cancer Lett 19(3):301-4.

- Denissenko MF, Pao A, Tang M, Pfeifer GP. 1996. Preferential formation of benzo[a]pyrene adducts at lung cancer mutational hotspots in P53. Science 274(5286):430-2.
- Depledge MH. 1994. Genotypic toxicity: implications for individuals and populations. Environ Health Perspect 102 Suppl 12:101-4.
- Dimitriou-Christidis P, Harris BC, McDonald TJ, Reese E, Autenrieth RL. 2003. Estimation of selected physicochemical properties for methylated naphthalene compounds. Chemosphere 52(5):869-81.
- Donnelly KC, Brown KW, Anderson CS, Barbee GC, Safe SH. 1990a. Metabolism and bacterial mutagenicity of binary mixtures of benzo(a)pyrene and polychlorinated aromatic hydrocarbons. Environ Mol Mutagen 16(4):238-45.
- Donnelly KC, Brown KW, Estiri M, Jones DH, Safe S. 1988. Mutagenic potential of binary mixtures of nitro-polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and related compounds. J Toxicol Environ Health 24(3):345-56.
- Donnelly KC, Brown KW, Kampbell D. 1987. Chemical and biological characterization of hazardous industrial waste. I. Prokaryotic bioassays and chemical analysis of a wood-preserving bottom-sediment waste. Mutat Res 180(1):31-42.
- Donnelly KC, Safe SH, Randerath K, Randerath E. 1995. Bioassay-based risk assessment of complex mixtures. J Hazard Mater 41:341-50.
- Donnelly KC, Thomas JC, Anderson CS, Brown KW. 1990b. The influence of application rate on the bacterial mutagenicity of soil amended with municipal sewage sludge. Environ Pollut 68(1-2):147-59.
- EcoGen. 1999. International EcoGen Incorporated: Citrate Buffer -- Freezing Media Recipe. http://www.intl-ecogen.com/citrateb.html.
- Egner PA, Munoz A, Kensler TW. 2003. Chemoprevention with chlorophyllin in individuals exposed to dietary aflatoxin. Mutat Res 523-524:209-16.
- Eisler R. 1987. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon hazards to fish, wildlife, and invertebrates: a synoptic review. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Report # 1.11. 82 p.
- Ellegren H, Lindgren G, Primmer CR, Moller AP. 1997. Fitness loss and germline mutations in barn swallows breeding in Chernobyl. Nature 389(6651):593-6.

- Ema M, Ohe N, Suzuki M, Mimura J, Sogawa K, Ikawa S, Fujii-Kuriyama Y. 1994. Dioxin binding activities of polymorphic forms of mouse and human arylhydrocarbon receptors. J Biol Chem 269(44):27337-43.
- Erickson MD. 1997. The Analytical Chemistry of PCBs. New York, New York: Lewis Publishers. 667 p.
- Fairbairn DW, Olive PL, O'Neill KL. 1995. The comet assay: a comprehensive review. Mutat Res 339(1):37-59.
- Farah MA, Ateeq B, Ali MN, Ahmad W. 2003. Evaluation of genotoxicity of PCP and 2,4-D by micronucleus test in freshwater fish *Channa punctatus*. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 54(1):25-9.
- Fernandez De Henestrosa AR, Ogi T, Aoyagi S, Chafin D, Hayes JJ, Ohmori H, Woodgate R. 2000. Identification of additional genes belonging to the LexA regulon in *Escherichia coli*. Mol Microbiol 35(6):1560-72.
- Folt CL, Chen CY, Moore MV, Burnaford J. 1999. Synergism and antagonism among multiple stressors. Limnol Oceanogr 44(3):864-77.
- Friedman N, Vardi S, Ronen M, Alon U, Stavans J. 2005. Precise temporal modulation in the response of the SOS DNA repair network in individual bacteria. PLoS Biol 3(7):e238.
- Gagne F, Trottier S, Blaise C, Sproull J, Ernst B. 1995. Genotoxicity of sediment extracts obtained in the vicinity of a creosote-treated wharf to rainbow trout hepatocytes. Toxicol Lett 78(3):175-82.
- Gallo MA. 2001. History and scope of toxicology. In: Klaassen CD, editor. Casarett & Doull's Toxicology: The Basic Science of Poisons. 6th ed. New York: McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. pp. 3-10
- Gant TW, Zhang SD. 2005. In pursuit of effective toxicogenomics. Mutat Res 575(1-2):4-16.
- Garcia SS. 2001. Genotoxicity assessment of wood-preserving waste contaminated soil and groundwater undergoing bioremediation. Ph.D. dissertation. College Station: Texas A&M University. 140 p.
- Gauthier L, Tardy E, Mouchet F, Marty J. 2004. Biomonitoring of the genotoxic potential (micronucleus assay) and detoxifying activity (EROD induction) in the River Dadou (France), using the amphibian *Xenopus laevis*. Sci Total Environ 323(1-3):47-61.

- George LS, Dallas CE, Brisbin IL, Jr., Evans DL. 1991. Flow cytometric DNA analysis of ducks accumulating 137Cs on a reactor reservoir. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 21(3):337-47.
- Giger W, Blumer M. 1974. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the environment: isolation and characterization by chromatography, visible, ultraviolet, and mass spectrometry. Anal Chem 46(12):1663-71.
- Gomez C. 2002. Bioremediation: A study of genotoxicity of soil and groundwater from a former wood treatment facility. M.S. Thesis. College Station: Texas A&M University. 81 p.
- Green CR, Rodgman A. 1996. The Tobacco Chemists' Research Conference: a half century forum for advances in analytical methodology of tobacco and its products. Recent Advances in Tobacco Science 22:131-304.
- Gyorffy E, Anna L, Gyori Z, Segesdi J, Minarovits J, Soltesz I, Kostic S, Csekeo A, Poirier MC, Schoket B. 2004. DNA adducts in tumour, normal peripheral lung and bronchus, and peripheral blood lymphocytes from smoking and non-smoking lung cancer patients: correlations between tissues and detection by 32Ppostlabelling and immunoassay. Carcinogenesis 25(7):1201-9.
- Harvey JS, Lyons BP, Waldock M, Parry JM. 1997. The application of the 32Ppostlabelling assay to aquatic biomonitoring. Mutat Res 378(1-2):77-88.
- Hessburg PF, Agee JK. 2003. An environmental narrative of inland northwest United States forests, 1800-2000. Forest Ecology and Management 178:23-59.
- Hofer T, Gerner I, Gundert-Remy U, Liebsch M, Schulte A, Spielmann H, Vogel R, Wettig K. 2004. Animal testing and alternative approaches for the human health risk assessment under the proposed new European chemicals regulation. Arch Toxicol 78(10):549-64.
- Hombach-Klonisch S, Pocar P, Kietz S, Klonisch T. 2005. Molecular actions of polyhalogenated arylhydrocarbons (PAHs) in female reproduction. Curr Med Chem 12(5):599-616.
- Houk VS, DeMarini DM. 1987. Induction of prophage lambda by chlorinated pesticides. Mutat Res 182(4):193-201.
- Houk VS, DeMarini DM. 1988. Use of the microscreen phage-induction assay to assess the genotoxicity of 14 hazardous industrial wastes. Environ Mol Mutagen 11(1):13-29.
- Hughes TJ, Claxton LD, Brooks L, Warren S, Brenner R, Kremer F. 1998. Genotoxicity of bioremediated soils from the Reilly Tar site, St. Louis Park, Minnesota. Environ Health Perspect 106 Suppl 6:1427-33.
- Humayun MZ. 1998. SOS and Mayday: Multiple inducible mutagenic pathways in *Escherichia coli*. Mol Microbiol 30(5):905-10.
- Hutchinson TH, Field MD, Manning MJ. 2003. Evaluation of non-specific immune functions in dab, *Limanda limanda* L., following short-term exposure to sediments contaminated with polyaromatic hydrocarbons and/or polychlorinated biphenyls. Mar Environ Res 55(3):193-202.
- Hutchinson TH, Field MDR, Manning MJ. 1999. Evaluation of immune function in juvenile turbot *Scophthalmus maximus* (L.) exposed to sediments contaminated with polychlorinated biphenyls. Fish and Shellfish Immunology 9:457-72.
- Incardona JP, Collier TK, Scholz NL. 2004. Defects in cardiac function precede morphological abnormalities in fish embryos exposed to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 196(2):191-205.
- Isono K, Yourno J. 1974. Chemical carcinogens as frameshift mutagens: Salmonella DNA sequence sensitive to mutagenesis by polycyclic carcinogens. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 71(5):1612-7.
- Jacobson JL, Jacobson SW. 2003. Prenatal exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls and attention at school age. J Pediatr 143(6):780-8.
- Jacobson JL, Jacobson SW, Humphrey HE. 1990. Effects of in utero exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls and related contaminants on cognitive functioning in young children. J Pediatr 116(1):38-45.
- Kannan K, Yamashita N, Imagawa T, Decoen W, Khim JS, Day RM, Summer CL, Giesy JP. 2000. Polychlorinated naphthalenes and polychlorinated biphenyls in fishes from Michigan waters including the Great Lakes. Environ Sci & Technol 34(4):566-72.
- Kirsch-Volders M, Elhajouji A, Cundari E, Van Hummelen P. 1997. The *in vitro* micronucleus test: a multi-endpoint assay to detect simultaneously mitotic delay, apoptosis, chromosome breakage, chromosome loss and non-disjunction. Mutat Res 392(1-2):19-30.
- Klotz AV, Stegeman JJ, Walsh C. 1984. An alternative 7-ethoxyresorufin O-deethylase activity assay: A continuous visible spectrophotometric method for measurement of cytochrome P-450 monooxygenase activity. Anal Biochem 140(1):138-45.

- Koehler A, Wahl E, Soffker K. 2002. Functional and morphological changes of lysosomes as prognostic biomarkers of toxic liver injury in marine flatfish (*Platichthys flesus* L.). Environ Toxicol Chem 21(11):2434-44.
- Kuriyama S, Fidalgo-Neto A, Mathar W, Palavinskas R, Friedrich K, Chahoud I. 2003. Effect of low dose mono-ortho 2,3',4,4',5 pentachlorobiphenyl on thyroid hormone status and EROD activity in rat offspring: consequences for risk assessment. Toxicology 186(1-2):11-20.
- Kuriyama SN, Chahoud I. 2004. *In utero* exposure to low-dose 2,3',4,4',5pentachlorobiphenyl (PCB 118) impairs male fertility and alters neurobehavior in rat offspring. Toxicology 202(3):185-97.
- La Point TW, Waller WT. 2000. Field assessments in conjunction with whole effluent toxicity testing. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 19(1):14-24.
- Lamb T, Bickham JW, Gibbons JW, Smolen MJ, McDowell S. 1991. Genetic damage in a population of slider turtles (*Trachemys scripta*) inhabiting a radioactive reservoir. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 20(1):138-42.
- Landis WG, Yu M-H. 1995. Introduction to environmental toxicology: impacts of chemicals upon ecological systems. Boca Raton, Florida: Lewis Publishers.
- Luthy RG, Aiken GR, Brusseau ML, Cunningham SD, Gschwend PM, Pignatello JJ, Reinhard M, Traina SJ, Weber WJ, Jr., Westall JC. 1997. Sequestration of hydrophobic organic contaminants by geosorbents. Environ Sci Technol 31(12):3341-7.
- Maenpaa KA, Penttinen OP, Kukkonen JV. 2004. Pentachlorophenol (PCP) bioaccumulation and effect on heat production on salmon eggs at different stages of development. Aquat Toxicol 68(1):75-85.
- Malins DC, McCain BB, Landahl JT, Myers MS, Krahn MM, Brown DW, Chan S-L, Roubal WT. 1988. Neoplastic and other diseases in fish in relation to toxic chemicals: an overview. Aquat Toxicol 11:43-67.
- Maria VL, Correia AC, Santos MA. 2003. Genotoxic and hepatic biotransformation responses induced by the overflow of pulp mill and secondary-treated effluents on *Anguilla anguilla* L. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 55(1):126-37.
- Maria VL, Correia AC, Santos MA. 2004. Genotoxic and biochemical responses in caged eel (*Anguilla anguilla* L.) after short-term exposure to harbour waters. Environ Int 29(7):923-9.

- Markiewicz KV, Howie LE, Safe SH, Donnelly KC. 1996. Mutagenic potential of binary and complex mixtures using different enzyme induction systems. J Toxicol Environ Health 47(5):443-51.
- Maron DM, Ames BN. 1983. Revised methods for the Salmonella mutagenicity test. Mutat Res 113(3-4):173-215.
- Marston CP, Pereira C, Ferguson J, Fischer K, Hedstrom O, Dashwood WM, Baird WM. 2001. Effect of a complex environmental mixture from coal tar containing polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) on the tumor initiation, PAH-DNA binding and metabolic activation of carcinogenic PAH in mouse epidermis. Carcinogenesis 22(7):1077-86.
- Martineau D, De Guise S, Fournier M, Shugart L, Girard C, Lagace A, Beland P. 1994. Pathology and toxicology of beluga whales from the St. Lawrence Estuary, Quebec, Canada. Past, present and future. Sci Total Environ 154(2-3):201-15.
- Matson CW, Franson JC, Hollmen T, Kilpi M, Hario M, Flint PL, Bickham JW. 2004. Evidence of chromosomal damage in common eiders (*Somateria mollissima*) from the Baltic Sea. Mar Pollut Bull 49(11-12):1066-71.
- Matson CW, Palatnikov G, Islamzadeh A, McDonald TJ, Autenrieth RL, Donnelly KC, Bickham JW. 2005a. Chromosomal damage in two species of aquatic turtles (*Emys orbicularis* and *Mauremys caspica*) inhabiting contaminated sites in Azerbaijan. Ecotoxicology 14(5):513-25.
- Matson CW, Palatnikov GM, McDonald TJ, Autenrieth RL, Donnelly KC, Anderson TA, Canas JE, Islamzadeh A, Bickham JW. 2005b. Patterns of genotoxicity and contaminant exposure: evidence of genomic instability in the marsh frogs (*Rana ridibunda*) of Sumgayit, Azerbaijan. Environ Toxicol Chem 24(8):2055-64.
- McBee K, Bickham JW. 1988. Petrochemical-related DNA damage in wild rodents detected by flow cytometry. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 40(3):343-9.
- McCann J, Choi E, Yamasaki E, Ames BN. 1975a. Detection of carcinogens as mutagens in the Salmonella/microsome test: assay of 300 chemicals. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 72(12):5135-9.
- McCann J, Choi E, Yamasaki E, Ames BN. 1975b. Detection of carcinogens as mutagens in the Salmonella/microsome test: Assay of 300 chemicals. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 72:5135-5139.
- McMahon G. 1994. The genetics of human cancer: implications for ecotoxicology. Environ Health Perspect 102 Suppl 12:75-80.

- Meador JP, Sommers FC, Kubin L, Wolotira RJ. 2005. Conducting dose-response feeding studies with salmonids: growth as an endpoint. In: Ostrander GK, editor. Techniques in Aquatic Toxicology. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press. pp. 93-115.
- Melber C, Kielhorn J, Mangelsdorf I. 2004. Concise International Chemical Assessment Document 62: Coal Tar Creosote. World Health Organization. http://www.inchem.org/documents/cicads/cicads/cicad62.htm.
- Melendez-Colon VJ, Luch A, Seidel A, Baird WM. 1999. Cancer initiation by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons results from formation of stable DNA adducts rather than apurinic sites. Carcinogenesis 20(10):1885-91.
- Meyer JN, Nacci DE, Di Giulio RT. 2002. Cytochrome P4501A (CYP1A) in killifish (*Fundulus heteroclitus*): heritability of altered expression and relationship to survival in contaminated sediments. Toxicol Sci 68(1):69-81.
- Missildine BR, Peters RJ, Chin-Leo G, Houck D. 2005. Polychlorinated biphenyl concentrations in adult chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) returning to coastal and Puget Sound hatcheries of Washington State. Environ Sci Technol 39(18):6944-51.
- Monson PD, Call DJ, Cox DA, Liber K, Ankley GT. 1999. Photoinduced toxicity of fluoranthene to northern leopard frogs (*Rana pipiens*). Environmental Toxcicology and Chemistry 18(2):308-12.
- Moore MN, Widdows J, Cleary JJ, Pipe RK, Salkeld PN, Donkin P, Farrar SV, Evans SV, Thomas PE. 1984. Responses of the mussel *Mytilus edulis* to copper and phenanthrene: interactive effects. Mar Environ Res 14(1-4):167-83.
- Mortelmans K, Zeiger E. 2000. The Ames Salmonella/microsome mutagenicity assay. Mutat Res 455(1-2):29-60.
- Mueller JG, Middaugh DP, Lantz SE, Chapman PJ. 1991. Biodegradation of creosote and pentachlorophenol in contaminated groundwater: chemical and biological assessment. Appl Environ Microbiol 57(6):1277-85.
- Neff JM. 1979. Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in the Aquatic Environment, Sources, Fates, and Biological Effects. London, UK: Applied Science.
- Nestler FHM. 1974. Characterization of wood preserving coal-tar creosote by gas-liquid chromatography. Anal Chem 46:46-53.
- Oakley GG, Robertson LW, Gupta RC. 1996. Analysis of polychlorinated biphenyl-DNA adducts by 32P-postlabeling. Carcinogenesis 17(1):109-14.

- Paerl HW, Fulton RS, 3rd, Moisander PH, Dyble J. 2001. Harmful freshwater algal blooms, with an emphasis on cyanobacteria. Scientific World Journal 1:76-113.
- Pereg D, Robertson LW, Gupta RC. 2002. DNA adduction by polychlorinated biphenyls: adducts derived from hepatic microsomal activation and from synthetic metabolites. Chem Biol Interact 139(2):129-44.
- Peterson JS, Bain LJ. 2004. Differential gene expression in anthracene-exposed mummichogs (*Fundulus heteroclitus*). Aquat Toxicol 66(4):345-55.
- Pinkney AE, Harshbarger JC, May EB, Melancon MJ. 2001. Tumor prevalence and biomarkers of exposure in brown bullheads (*Ameiurus nebulosus*) from the tidal Potomac River, USA, watershed. Environ Toxicol Chem 20(6):1196-205.
- Poirier MC, Beland FA. 1994. DNA adduct measurements and tumor incidence during chronic carcinogen exposure in rodents. Environ Health Perspect 102 Suppl 6:161-5.
- Poirier MC, Fullerton NF, Smith BA, Beland FA. 1995. DNA adduct formation and tumorigenesis in mice during the chronic administration of 4-aminobiphenyl at multiple dose levels. Carcinogenesis 16(12):2917-21.
- Poland A, Glover E. 1990. Characterization and strain distribution pattern of the murine Ah receptor specified by the Ahd and Ahb-3 alleles. Mol Pharmacol 38(3):306-12.
- Poland A, Palen D, Glover E. 1994. Analysis of the four alleles of the murine aryl hydrocarbon receptor. Mol Pharmacol 46(5):915-21.
- Preston BL, Shackelford J. 2002. Multiple stressor effects on benthic biodiversity of Chesapeake Bay: implications for ecological risk assessment. Ecotoxicology 11(2):85-99.
- Preston BL, Snell TW, Fields DM, Weissburg MJ. 2001. The effects of fluid motion on toxicant sensitivity of the rotifer *Brachionus calyciflorus*. Aquat Toxicol 52:117-31.
- Randerath K, Randerath E, Zhou GD, Supunpong N, He LY, McDonald TJ, Donnelly KC. 1999. Genotoxicity of complex PAH mixtures recovered from contaminated lake sediments as assessed by three different methods. Environ Mol Mutagen 33(4):303-12.

- Reddy MV, Randerath K. 1986. Nuclease P1-mediated enhancement of sensitivity of 32P-postlabeling test for structurally diverse DNA adducts. Carcinogenesis 7(9):1543-51.
- Rodgman A, Smith CJ, Perfetti TA. 2000. The composition of cigarette smoke: a retrospective, with emphasis on polycyclic components. Hum Exp Toxicol 19(10):573-95.
- Rossman TG, Molina M, Meyer LW. 1984. The genetic toxicology of metal compounds: I. Induction of lambda prophage in *E coli* WP2s(lambda). Environ Mutagen 6(1):59-69.
- Safe S. 1989. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs): mutagenicity and carcinogenicity. Mutat Res 220(1):31-47.
- Safe S. 1990. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), dibenzo-p-dioxins (PCDDs), dibenzofurans (PCDFs), and related compounds: environmental and mechanistic considerations which support the development of toxic equivalency factors (TEFs). Crit Rev Toxicol 21(1):51-88.
- Safe SH. 1995. Environmental and dietary estrogens and human health: is there a problem? Environ Health Perspect 103(4):346-51.
- Safe SH. 2000. Endocrine disruptors and human health--is there a problem? An update. Environ Health Perspect 108(6):487-93.
- Salameh A, Dhein S. 2005. Pharmacology of gap junctions. New pharmacological targets for treatment of arrhythmia, seizure and cancer? Biochim Biophys Acta 1719(1-2):36-58.
- Sanchez-Alonso JA, Lopez-Aparicio P, Recio MN, Perez-Albarsanz MA. 2004. Polychlorinated biphenyl mixtures (Aroclors) induce apoptosis via Bcl-2, Bax and caspase-3 proteins in neuronal cell cultures. Toxicol Lett 153(3):311-26.
- Sasco AJ, Secretan MB, Straif K. 2004. Tobacco smoking and cancer: a brief review of recent epidemiological evidence. Lung Cancer 45 Suppl 2:S3-9.
- Sassanfar M, Roberts JW. 1990. Nature of the SOS-inducing signal in *Escherichia coli*. The involvement of DNA replication. J Mol Biol 212(1):79-96.
- Schantz SL, Levin ED, Bowman RE, Heironimus MP, Laughlin NK. 1989. Effects of perinatal PCB exposure on discrimination-reversal learning in monkeys. Neurotoxicol Teratol 11(3):243-50.

- Schenke A, Boon JP, Aardoom Y, Leest A, Schooten FJ, Maas L, Berg M, Everaarts JM. 2000. Effect of a dioxin-like PCB (CB 126) on the biotransformation and genotoxicity of benzo[a]pyrene in the marine flatfish dab (*Limanda limanda*). Aquatic Toxicology 50(4):402-15.
- Schilderman PA, Maas LM, Pachen DM, de Kok TM, Kleinjans JC, van Schooten FJ. 2000. Induction of DNA adducts by several polychlorinated biphenyls. Environ Mol Mutagen 36(2):79-86.
- Schmid W. 1976. The micronucleus test for cytogenetic analysis. In: Hollander A, editor. Chemical Mutagens, Principles and Methods for Their Detection. New York, New York: Plenum Press. p 31-53.
- Schrab GE, Brown, K.W., Donnelly, K.C. 1993. Acute and genetic toxicity of municipal landfill leachate. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 69:99-112.
- Schuytema GS, Nebeker AV, Peterson JA, Griffis WL. 1993. Effects of pentachlorophenol-contaminated food organisms on toxicity and bioaccumulation in the frog *Xenopus laevis*. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 24(3):359-64.
- Schwarz M, Appel KE. 2005. Carcinogenic risks of dioxin: mechanistic considerations. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 43(1):19-34.
- Sharak Genthner BR, Townsend GT, Lantz SE, Mueller JG. 1997. Persistence of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon components of creosote under anaerobic enrichment conditions. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 32(1):99-105.
- Shugart L, Theodorakis C. 1998. New trends in biological monitoring: application of biomarkers to genetic ecotoxicology. Biotherapy 11(2-3):119-27.
- Shugart LR. 2000. DNA damage as a biomarker of exposure. Ecotoxicology 9:329-40.
- Shugart LR, Theodorakis, C.W., Bickham, A.M., Bickham, J.W. 2003. Genetic effects of contaminant exposure and potential impacts on animal populations. In: Hoffman DJ, Rattner, B.A., Burton, G.A. Jr., Cairns, J. Jr., editors. Handbook of Ecotoxicology. 2nd ed. Boca Raton, Florida: Lewis Publishers. pp. 1129-1147.
- Shuttleworth KL, Cerniglia CE. 1995. Environmental aspects of PAH biodegradation. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 54(1-3):291-302.
- Sibly R, Calow P. 1986. Physiological Ecology of Animals--An Evolutionary Approach. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Scientific Publications.

- Singh NP, McCoy MT, Tice RR, Schneider EL. 1988. A simple technique for quantitation of low levels of DNA damage in individual cells. Exp Cell Res 175(1):184-91.
- Siraki AG, Chan TS, O'Brien PJ. 2004. Application of quantitative structure-toxicity relationships for the comparison of the cytotoxicity of 14 p-benzoquinone congeners in primary cultured rat hepatocytes versus PC12 cells. Toxicol Sci 81(1):148-59.
- Smith CJ, Perfetti TA, Garg R, Martin P, Hansch C. 2004. Percutaneous penetration enhancers in cigarette mainstream smoke. Food Chem Toxicol 42(1):9-15.
- Solomon E, Borrow J, Goddard AD. 1991. Chromosome aberrations and cancer. Science 254(5035):1153-60.
- Stevens AA, Bellar TA, Eichelberger JW, Budde WL. 1985. Determination of pesticides and PCBs in water and soil sediment by GC/MS. In: Method 680. Cincinnati, Ohio: United States Environmental Protection Agency Office of Research and Development.
- Sverdrup LE, Jensen J, Kelley AE, Krogh PH, Stenersen J. 2002a. Effects of eight polycyclic aromatic compounds on the survival and reproduction of *Enchytraeus crypticus* (Oligochaeta, Clitellata). Environ Toxicol Chem 21(1):109-14.
- Sverdrup LE, Jensen J, Krogh PH, Stenersen J. 2002b. Studies on the effect of soil aging on the toxicity of pyrene and phenanthrene to a soil-dwelling springtail. Environ Toxicol Chem 21(3):489-92.
- Sverdrup LE, Kelley AE, Krogh PH, Nielsen T, Jensen J, Scott-Fordsmand JJ, Stenersen J. 2001. Effects of eight polycyclic aromatic compounds on the survival and reproduction of the springtail *Folsomia fimetaria* L. (Collembola, isotomidae). Environ Toxicol Chem 20(6):1332-8.
- Tennant RW, Ashby J. 1991. Classification according to chemical structure, mutagenicity to Salmonella and level of carcinogenicity of a further 39 chemicals tested for carcinogenicity by the U.S. National Toxicology Program. Mutat Res 257(3):209-27.
- Theodorakis CW, Bickham JW, Lamb T, Medica PA, Lyne TB. 2001. Integration of genotoxicity and population genetic analyses in kangaroo rats (Dipodomys merriami) exposed to radionuclide contamination at the Nevada Test Site, USA. Environ Toxicol Chem 20(2):317-26.

- Theodorakis CW, Shugart LR. 1997. Genetic ecotoxicology II: population genetic structure in mosquitofish exposed *in situ* to radionuclides. Ecotoxicology 6(6):335-354.
- Tunkel J, Mayo K, Austin C, Hickerson A, Howard P. 2005. Practical considerations on the use of predictive models for regulatory purposes. Environ Sci Technol 39(7):2188-99.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 1980. Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Polynuclear Aromatic Hydrocarbons. United States Environmental Protection Agency. Report nr 440/5-80-069. 193 p.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 1986. EPA Superfund Record of Decision: Libby Groundwater Contamination. United States Environmental Protection Agency, ID: MTD980502736. p 1-37.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 1989. Risk Assessment Guidance for Superfund: Human Health Evaluation Manual. Office of Emergency and Remedial Response, United States Environmental Protection Agency. http://www.epa.gov/oswer/riskassessment/ragsa/index.htm.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 1996a. Method 3510C: Separatory Funnel Liquid-Liquid Extraction. United States Environmental Protection Agency. http://www.epa.gov/epaoswer/hazwaste/test/3\_series.htm.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 1996b. Method 3545: Pressurized Fluid Extraction (PFE). United States Environmental Protection Agency. http://www.epa.gov/epaoswer/hazwaste/test/3 series.htm.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 1996c. Method 8270C: Semivolatile Organic Compounds by Gas Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry (GC/MS). United States Environmental Protection Agency. http://www.epa.gov/epaoswer/hazwaste/test/8 series.htm.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 1997. SW-846, Test Methods For Evaluating Solid Waste, Physical/Chemical Methods. United States Environmental Protection Agency. http://www.epa.gov/sw-846/main.htm.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 1998. Guidelines for Ecological Risk Assessment. United States Environmental Protection Agency. p 1-124.

- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2002. U.S. EPA Toxics Release Inventory--2002 Data Release Summary of Key Findings. Toxics Release Inventory Program. p 1-10.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2004a. Hart Creosoting Company Fact Sheet. United States Environmental Protection Agency. http://www.epa.gov/superfund/sites/query/basic.htm.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2004b. Jasper Creosoting Company Fact Sheet. United States Environmental Protection Agency. http://www.epa.gov/superfund/sites/query/basic.htm.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2004c. Libby Groundwater Fact Sheet. United States Environmental Protection Agency. http://www.epa.gov/region8/superfund/sites/mt/libby\_.html.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2005a. 2003 TRI Public Data Release eReport. United States Environmental Protection Agency. http://www.epa.gov/tri/tridata/tri03/index.htm#what.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2005b. Environmental Health Needs and Habitability Assessment, Joint Taskforce: Hurricane Katrina Response, Initial Assessment. Centers for Disease Control and United States Environmental Protection Agency. http://oaspub.epa.gov/webi/meta first new2.try these first
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2005c. Five-Year Review Report for Libby Ground Water Site. United States Environemental Protection Agency, Region 8. p 1-71.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2005d. National Priorities List: New Final NPL Sites. United States Environmental Protection Agency. http://www.epa.gov/superfund/sites/npl/newfin.htm.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2005e. Pentachlorophenol and Its Use as a Wood Preservative. United States Environmental Protection Agency. http://www.epa.gov/opp00001/factsheets/chemicals/pentachlorophenol main.ht

m.

United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2005f. Pesticides: Creosote and Its Use as a Wood Preservative. United States Environmental Protection Agency. http://www.epa.gov/pesticides/factsheets/chemicals/creosote\_main.htm.

- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2005g. Superfund: CERCLA Overview. United States Environmental Protection Agency. http://www.epa.gov/superfund/action/law/cercla.htm.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2005h. Superfund: New Report Projects Number, Cost and Nature of Contaminated Site Cleanups in the U.S. Over the Next 30 Years. United States Environmental Protection Agency. http://www.epa.gov/superfund/news/30years.htm.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2005i. U.S. EPA Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS). Washington, DC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. http://www.epa.gov/iris/.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2005j. Waste Minimization: Priority Chemicals and Fact Sheets. United States Environmental Protection Agency. http://www.epa.gov/epaoswer/hazwaste/minimize/chemlist.htm.
- Vaal M, van der Wal JT, Hermens J, Hoekstra J. 1997. Pattern analysis of the variation in the sensitivity of aquatic species to toxicants. Chemosphere 35(6):1291-309.
- van den Hurk P, Kubiczak GA, Lehmler HJ, James MO. 2002. Hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls as inhibitors of the sulfation and glucuronidation of 3hydroxy-benzo[a]pyrene. Environ Health Perspect 110(4):343-8.
- van Schanke A, Boon JP, Aardoom Y, van Leest A, van Schooten FJ, Maas L, van den Berg M, Everaarts JM. 2000. Effect of a dioxin-like PCB (CB 126) on the biotransformation and genotoxicity of benzo. Aquatic Toxicol 50(4):403-15.
- Viarengo A, Moore MN, Mancinelli G, Mazzucotelli A, Pipe RK. 1985. Significance of metallothioneins and lysosomes in cadmium toxicity and homeostasis in the digestive gland cells of mussels exposed to the metal in presence or absence of phenanthrene. Mar Environ Res 17(2-4):184-7.
- Villeneuve DL, DeVita, W.M., Crunkilton, R.L. 1998. Identification of cytochrome p4501A inducers in complex mixtures of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs). In: Little EE, DeLonay, A.J., Greenberg, B.M., editor. Environmental Toxicology and Risk Assessment. ASTM STP 1333 ed: American Society for Testing and Materials.
- Villeneuve DL, Khim JS, Kannan K, Giesy JP. 2001. *In vitro* response of fish and mammalian cells to complex mixtures of polychlorinated naphthalenes, polychlorinated biphenyls, and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Aquat Toxicol 54(1-2):125-41.

- Vindelov LL, Christensen IJ. 1994. Detergent and proteolytic enzyme-based techniques for nuclear isolation and DNA content analysis. In: Darzynkiewicz Z, Robinson JP, Crissman HA, editors. Flow Cytometry: Methods in Cell Biology. 2nd, Part A ed. New York, New York: Academic. p 219-229.
- Walker CH, Hopkin SP, Sibly RM, Peakall DB. 1997. Principles of Ecotoxicology. Bristol, UK: Taylor & Francis, Inc. 321 p.
- Walker JD. 2003. QSARs promote more efficient use of chemical testing resources*carpe diem*. Environ Toxicol Chem 22(8):1651-2.
- Walker JD, Jaworska J, Comber MH, Schultz TW, Dearden JC. 2003. Guidelines for developing and using quantitative structure-activity relationships. Environ Toxicol Chem 22(8):1653-65.
- Weisburger JH, Williams GM. 1981. The decision-point approach for systematic carcinogen testing. Food Cosmet Toxicol 19(5):561-6.
- White PA, Claxton LD. 2004. Mutagens in contaminated soil: a review. Mutat Res 567(2-3):227-345.
- Whysner J, Montandon F, McClain RM, Downing J, Verna LK, Steward RE, III, Williams GM. 1998. Absence of DNA adduct formation by phenobarbital, polychlorinated biphenyls, and chlordane in mouse liver using the 32Ppostlabeling assay. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 148(1):14-23.
- Wilson SC, Jones KC. 1993. Bioremediation of soil contaminated with polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs): a review. Environ Pollut 81(3):229-49.
- Windward. 2003. Phase I Remedial Investigation Report; Lower Duwamish Waterway Group. Windward Environmental; Prepared for U.S. EPA, Region 10 and Washington Department of Ecology.
- Winter MJ, Day N, Hayes RA, Taylor EW, Butler PJ, Chipman JK. 2004. DNA strand breaks and adducts determined in feral and caged chub (*Leuciscus cephalus*) exposed to rivers exhibiting variable water quality around Birmingham, UK. Mutat Res 552(1-2):163-75.
- Wirgin I, Waldman JR. 1998. Altered gene expression and genetic damage in North American fish populations. Mutat Res 399(2):193-219.
- Wright GF. June 1956. Studies with tobacco smoke condensate. Proc 3rd Natl Cancer Conf 1957:479-84.

- Zeiger E, Tennant RW. 1986. Mutagenesis, clastogenesis, carcinogenesis: expectations, correlations and relations. Prog Clin Biol Res 209B:75-84.
- Zhou GD, Randerath K, Donnelly KC, Jaiswal AK. 2004. Effects of NQO1 deficiency on levels of cyclopurines and other oxidative DNA lesions in liver and kidney of young mice. Int J Cancer 112(5):877-83.
- Zieger E. 1998. Identification of rodent carcinogens and noncarcinogens using genetic toxicity tests: premises, promises, and performance. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 28:85-95.
- Zucker RM, Elstein KH, Easterling RE, Massaro EJ. 1990. Flow cytometric analysis of the mechanism of methylmercury cytotoxicity. Am J Pathol 137(5):1187-98.

## VITA

Name:	Annika Margaret Gillespie
Email Address:	annika_parr@hotmail.com
Education:	Texas A&M University: Doctor of Philosophy May 2006 Major: Toxicology Dissertation: "Environmental toxicity of complex chemical mixtures"
	<ul> <li>University of Delaware: Master of Science August 2001 Major: Entomology &amp; Applied Ecology Thesis: "Proximate factors regulating maternal care in the lace bug, <i>Gargaphia solani</i> Heidemann (Heteroptera: Tingidae)"</li> <li>Salisbury University: Bachelor of Science <i>cum laude</i> May 1997 Major: Biology (Zoology concentration) Minor: French</li> </ul>
Honors and Awards:	Toxicology Graduate Student Symposium, 3 <sup>rd</sup> Place Poster Presentation (2004) Sigma Xi Grant for Student Research (2000) Certificate of National Service: Americorps (1998)

Select Publications (maiden name Parr):

- Cizmas, L., McDonald, T.J., Phillips, T.D., Gillespie, A.M., Lingenfelter, R.A., Kubena, L.F., Phillips, T.D., Donnelly, K.C. 2004. Toxicity characterization of complex mixtures using biological and chemical analysis in preparation for assessment of mixture similarity. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 38: 5127-5133.
- Parr, A.M., Tallamy, D.W., Monaco, E.L., Pesek, J.D. 2002. Proximate factors regulating maternal options in the eggplant lace bug, *Gargaphia solani* (Heteroptera: Tingidae). *Journal of Insect Behavior*. 15(4): 495-511.